University of Alberta

When Aspirations Aren't Enough: Educational Aspirations and University Participation Among Canadian Youth

by

Julie Beth Hudson

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Sociology

©Julie Beth Hudson Fall 2011 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

For every young person who aspired to something more.

Abstract

This study asks *are educational aspirations enough?* Specifically, this dissertation enquires whether educational aspirations have the potential to allow young people to overcome traditional class-based and other sources of inequality and achieve educational parity with their non-disadvantaged peers. This research utilized Statistics Canada's Youth in Transition Survey (YITS), a nationally representative longitudinal study that collected data from approximately 26,000 15-year old youth in 2000, as well as from their parents and schools, with follow-up studies in 2002 and 2004.

This study used both Pierre Bourdieu's theory of practice and status attainment theory to help explain both the micro- and macro-level processes involved in the perpetuation of educational inequality using young people's educational aspirations as the nexus for linking these theoretical approaches.

This study showed that educational aspirations at age 15 and educational participation by age 19 systematically vary between groups of youth who come from more or less advantaged backgrounds. Educational aspirations have a strong impact on educational participation. Educational aspirations and grade 12 marks have the strongest direct effect on educational participation. Using path analysis, we find that the sum of the direct and indirect effects of socio-economic, individual demographic and geographic factors, along with parents' aspirations exceeds the independent effect exerted by both educational aspirations and grade 12 marks. Finally, while school type and quality affect a number of relationships

between predictor variables and educational participation at age 19, the role of educational aspirations is not affected by either school quality or type.

In conclusion, this research found that *yes, educational aspirations do matter*. However, despite substantial changes in Canada's social structure, economy, labour market, and education systems in the past decades, they continue to be shaped and operate within the larger constellation of other socio-economic, individual demographic, geographical, and educational factors. Thus, while elevating educational aspirations alone is not enough to ensure that youth make successful post-secondary transitions, policies and programs that that inform young people and their parents about the variety of post-secondary options and what is required to be successful in them would help make educational aspirations a more meaningful mechanism for future educational success.

Acknowledgments

Having come from circumstances not unlike many of the youth portrayed in this research, I submit this dissertation with deep gratitude for all the support extended to me throughout this process. The completion of this dissertation would not have been possible if it had not been for the support, advice, and guidance of a number of people. First, I want to thank all the young people who participated in the Youth and Transition Survey. By sharing your lives, I was able to fulfill my educational aspirations to the fullest.

I want to extend a sincere thank you to my supervisory committee, Dr. Harvey Krahn, Dr. Michael Haan, Dr. Alison Taylor, Dr. Bryan Hogeveen, and Dr. Neil Guppy, who have been incredibly supportive throughout this process. But most of all, my heartfelt thanks go to Harvey, who has been an amazing supervisor, mentor, and sometimes, counsellor over the past six years. He deserves more thanks than can be expressed in words.

A special thank you is extended to all the new friends and old who have supported me throughout this process. And to my parents, who supported my move to Edmonton and continue to encourage me to exceed my own expectations. I love you both. And finally, to Jason, who came into my life unexpectedly, and found himself caught up in a graduate student's world. Thank you for hanging in there!

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Social Reproduction and Educational Inequalities: Using Bourdieu Study Educational Aspirations and Attainment	ı to . 10
Aspirations and Social Reproduction of Inequality	. 13
Mainstream Theories	. 16
Critical Approaches	. 24
Bourdieu's Theory of Practice	. 29
Capital	. 30
Field	. 33
Habitus	. 35
Contextualizing the Status Attainment Model with Bourdieu's Theory of Practice	. 42
Developing the Analytical Research Model: Incorporating a Life Course	
Perspective	. 50
The Analytic Model	. 53
Family Socio-economic Status, Socio-demographics, and	
Geography/Context	. 54
Family Socio-Economic Status	. 55
Geography/Community Context	. 57
Socio-Demographics	. 59
Explicating the Analytic Model	. 63
Research Questions	. 67
Chapter 3: Research Methods and Statistical Procedures	. 69
Overview of the Youth in Transition Survey Project Design and Data Base	. 69
Sampling and Data Collection Methods	. 73
Potential Study Limitations	. 77
Sampling Error	. 77
Non-Sampling Error	. 77
Sample Representativeness	. 79
School, student, and parent non-response adjustment	. 80
Differential Age of Respondents	. 82
Exclusion of Aboriginal Youth	. 83
Operationalizing Variables	. 86
Family Socio-economic Status	. 87
Parental Educational Attainment	. 87
Total household income	. 88
Family Structure	. 89
Socio-demographic Variables	. 91
Sex	. 91

First Language of Youth	
Visible Minority-Immigrant Status	
Geography	
Province of Residence	
Rural or Urban Community	
School Quality	
Index of the quality of the schools' educational resources	
Student-Teaching Staff Ratio	95
Total Hours of Schooling per Year	
Public or Private School	
Outcome Variables	
Parental Educational Expectations	
Youth's Educational Aspirations	
High School Achievement/Participation	100
High School Grades	100
Course Stream	101
Educational Participation	103
Next Steps	104
Aspirations and Participation	105
Post-secondary Educational Aspirations at Age 15 Research Question 1: Do educational aspirations vary in predictable w across socio-economic and demographic groups and are they consisten	106 ⁷ ays t over
time?	109
Family Socio-Economic Status	110
Individual-level Socio-Demographic Variables and Educational Asp	irations
	112
Geography and Educational Aspirations	113 116
Evaluating Congistency in Educational Aspirations across Time	110 122
Evaluating Consistency in Educational Aspirations across Time	122
among youth particularly with respect to university participation?	шу 126
Highest Level of Educational Participation	120
Family Socio-Economic Status	120
Socio-Demographic Variables	12) 132
Geography and Educational Participation	132
Parental Aspirations	136
Research Ouestion 3: Do educational aspirations at age 15 inform edu	icational
participation at age 19?	138
Net Effects of Educational Aspirations on University Participation	139
Discussion	142

Chapter 5: Connecting the Dots: Evaluating the Direct and Indirect Effects of	f
Educational Aspirations on Educational Participation	. 146
Introduction	. 146
Analytic Design	. 153
Model 1: Predicting Post-secondary Participation at Age 19	. 154
Model 2: Are young people who have acquired more post-secondary educa	tion
by age 19 more likely to have maintained they educational aspirations by a	
Discussion	. 102
Discussion	. 100
Chapter 6: The Secondary Education System: A Level Playing Field or an	
Exacerbation of Social Inequalities?	. 172
Introduction	. 172
Bourdieu on the Role of School Quality	. 177
Analytic Design	. 180
Main Effects of School Resources and School Type on Educational	
Participation at Age 19	. 183
School Resources and School Type: Interaction Effects on Aspirations at A	lge
15 and Educational Participation at Age 19	. 187
High versus Low Resourced Schools: Do School Resources Matter?	. 189
Discussion	. 191
Discussion	. 175
Chapter 7: Conclusions	. 199
Overview of the Study	. 199
Main Findings and Conclusions	. 203
Phase 1: Patterns of Educational Aspirations and Participation	. 203
Phase 2: Evaluating the Direct and Indirect Effects of Educational Aspirat	ions
on Educational Participation	. 206
A spirations and Educational Participation	208
Summary of Major Findings	. 208
Implications for Educational Policy	214
Limitations and Future Research Directions	. 216
Bibliography	. 220
Appendix A: Tests of Significance	. 236
Appendix B: Correlation Matrix for Table 4.14	.238
Appendix C: Descriptive Statistics for Table 5.1	.239
Appendix D: Descriptive Statistics for Table 6.1	240

List of Tables

Table 3.1: YITS sample allocation by provice, by survey cycle	. 76
Table 3.2: Provincial response rates – Cycles 1 through 3	. 79
Table 3.3: Educationa attainment, registered Indians and other Candian Youth (15-29), 1981 and 2001	. 84
Table 3.4: Proportion of the First Nations people and Registered Indians aged 2 to 64 living on and off reserve by level of educational attainment	25 . 85
Table 3.5: Highest level of parental educational attainment within the househo	ld . 88
Table 3.6: Total household income	. 89
Table 3.7: Family structure	. 89
Table 3.8: Household occupational level	. 91
Table 3.9: Sex of respondent	. 91
Table 3.10: Language spoken well enough to conduct a conversation	. 92
Table 3.11: Visible minority immigrant status	. 93
Table 3.12: Region of residence	. 93
Table 3.13: Urban/rural residence	. 94
Table 3.14: Parental educational expectations	. 97
Table 3.15: Youth's educational aspirations – cycles 1 through 3, ages 15, 17, and 19	100
Table 3.16: Grade 10 and grade 12 marks	101
Table 3.17: PSE options in math and language courses	102
Table 3.18: Educational participation, cycle 3, age 19 years	104
Table 4.1: Educational aspirations among 15 year old Canadian youth, 2000.	107
Table 4.2: Educational aspirations by family socio-economic status	112
Table 4.3: Educational aspirations by individual-level variables	114
Table 4.4: Educational aspirations by geographical variables, 2000	116
Table 4.5: Logistic regression predicting students' university aspirations at age 15	e 119
Table 4.6: Educational aspirations across time, age 15, 17, and 19, Canada, 20 2002, 2004	00, 123
Table 4.7: Consistency in maintaining university aspirations between ages 15 a19 years, Canada, 2000 and 2004, by selected variables	and 125
Table 4.8: Highest level of educational participation at age 19, Canada, 2004.	129

Table 4.9: Highest level of educational participation at age 19 by selectedvariables, Canada, 2004131
Table 4.10: Highest level of educational participation at age 19 by selectedvariables, Canada, 2004134
Table 4.11: Highest level of educational participation at age 19 by selectedgeographical variables, Canada, 2004
Table 4.12: Highest level of educational participation at age 19 by parentaleducational aspirations, Canada, 2004137
Table 4.13: Highest level of educational participation at age 19 by educationalaspirations at age 15, Canada, 2000 and 2004138
Table 4.14: Logistic regression predicting university attendance at age 19,Canada, 2000 and 2004
Table 5.1: Standardized slopes and R² for the direct effects of predictor variables,Canada, 2000, 2002, 2004
Table 5.2: Direct, indirect, and total effects (standardized slopes) of variables on educational participation at age 19, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 2004
Table 5.3: Direct, indirect, and total effects (standardized slopes) of variables on educational aspirations among 19-year old youth, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 2004
Table 6.1: Odds of attending university for selected measures of schoolquality/type, Canada, 2000 and 2004
Table 6.2: Logistic regression, incorporating school-level variables, predictinguniversity attendance at age 19, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 2004186
Table 6.3: Slopes for the direct effects of predicted variables within high and lowresourced schools, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 2004190
Table 6.4 Slopes for the direct effects of predicted variables within public andprivate schools, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 2004

List of Figures

Figure 2.1	53
Figure 3.1: The conceptual model with indicators	86
Figure 5.1: A conceputal model of educational participation and aspirations 1	151
Figure 5.2: Sigificant effects (standardized slopes) of selected variables on educational participation among 19-year old youth, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 20)04 156
Figure 5.3: Sigificant effects (standardized slopes) of selected variables on educational aspirations among 19-year old youth, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 200	4
	104

Chapter 1: Introduction

Most Canadian youth know it is important to graduate from high school and receive a post-secondary education (PSE) in order to successfully compete in today's knowledge economy. It has been well-documented that participation in PSE is increasing (Hango & de Broucker, 2007) and the variety of educational options within Canada is expanding to encompass an increasingly diverse array of programs and institutions. Some of these expansions have been designed to help youth who have traditionally been excluded from participating in higher education, such as visible minorities, women, and low-income youth, to have the opportunity to do so. Unfortunately, a variety of social, economic, and demographic barriers still exist for those who seek to obtain a post-secondary education, particularly among the socially and economically disadvantaged.

However, we can all think of examples where a young person from a disadvantaged background defied the odds and made a successful transition from high school into university. Such examples lead us to wonder what is it about those young people that allowed them to do so? Did this young person have higher educational aspirations than his or her peers that allowed for higher levels of educational participation? If so, were these aspirations a result of active and reflective engagement with their social and educational environment? Or, were their educational aspirations and their eventual educational success largely random occurrences, an exception to the social pattern? A core question addressed in this dissertation is whether educational aspirations have the potential

to allow young people to overcome traditional class-based and other sources of inequality and achieve educational parity with their non-disadvantaged peers?

This dissertation contributes to the growing body of educational research in a variety of ways. First, this research is a replication of existing research, some of which was conducted decades ago. As argued by Edgerton, Peter, and Roberts (2008), because of the plethora of educational, labour market, immigration, and technological trends which have significantly affected the Canadian cultural and social landscape, it is important to reassess the extent to which traditional dimensions of social inequality continue to manifest themselves in the educational attainment process. This research, much like that undertaken by Edgerton, Peter, and Roberts (2008), contributes to the literature by updating the existing data on Canadian educational inequality and extending the policy agenda to focus on the role of educational aspirations.

Secondly, while contemporary research in this area, including this study, often focuses on the various mechanisms which either contribute to the continuance or dissolution of class-based inequality, this project also focuses on educational aspirations as a possible site for social policy intervention. As my literature review will show, children from lower socioeconomic backgrounds tend to be educationally disadvantaged, due to disparities in familial resources, such as economic and educational capital. However, despite their limited access to familial resources, this dissertation will show that working-class youth, while not to the same extent as their middle-class peers, nevertheless indicate that they want to attain higher levels of post-secondary education, particularly university. So

while it is expected that, consistent with previous research, socio-economic status will continue to be positively correlated with initial post-secondary educational participation, the association between educational aspirations and socioeconomic status may not be as straight forward as the previous relationship. For example, as Edgerton, Peter, and Roberts (2008) posit, "might [educational] expectations have a different impact at different levels of socio-economic status?" While research has illustrated that the social factors contributing to educational disparities between working- and middle-class youth are abundant, a potential finding that suggests that educational aspirations may help traditionally disadvantaged youth achieve higher levels of educational attainment holds interesting policy implications.

Specifically, from an educational policy perspective, a better understanding of the role educational aspirations play in potentially influencing educational participation may help policy makers, school staff, and parents provide students with the information and experiences to make more informed educational choices. Since post-secondary education has become increasingly important for the long-term economic and occupational success of today's youth, finding ways to make school experiences more meaningful may help encourage traditionally disadvantaged youth to participate in post-secondary education. Therefore, policy makers, school staff, and parents should be interested in learning about the role educational aspirations play in shaping patterns of postsecondary educational participation.

Third, this dissertation utilizes the Youth in Transition Survey (YITS), which is a contemporary, national, longitudinal multi-level dataset. While many researchers have previously explored various aspects of educational inequality in Canada (see, for example, Finnie, Mueller, Sweetman, Usher (2009) for a review of various elements of educational inequality using Canadian data), the YITS data allow for a unique opportunity not afforded by many datasets. For example, the National Graduate Survey and the School Leavers Survey and Follow-up study, while both valuable Statistics Canada datasets, do not contain multi-level data provided by students, parents, and school officials. Additionally, many other studies on the topic of educational aspirations have not had access to national data. Such research includes Dr. Harvey Krahn's School-Work Transition Project (SWT) which focuses on young from Alberta (Krahn and Hudson, 2006), Dr. Lesley Andres' Paths on Life's Way (Andres and Adamuti-Trache, 2008) data which focuses on a graduating class from 1988 in British Columbia, and Dr. Dianne Looker and Dr. Victor Thiessen's Nova Scotia School-to-Work Transition Project (Thiessen and Looker, 1998).

Furthermore, among academic researchers, the Youth in Transition Survey has been under-utilized with the exception of a few noteworthy examples, which will be discussed later in this dissertation (see, for example, Edgerton, Peter, and Roberts (2008), Foley, Gallipoli, and Green (2009), Kamanzi, Doray, Murdoch, Moulin, Comoé, Croleau, Leroy, and Dufresne (2009), Krahn and Taylor (2005)). While policy researchers, such as those from Statistics Canada, have been active in their use of the YITS data (see, among others, Cheung (2007), Diallo, Trottier, and Doray (2009), Finnie and Mueller (2007a), Finnie and Mueller (2007b), Finnie, Mueller, Sweetman, and Usher (2008), Shaienks and Gluszynski (2007), Shaienks, Gluszynski (2009), their focus has primarily been on issues of access and persistence in post-secondary education, the gender and socioeconomic status gap in university attendance, and student transitions.

Moreover, my dissertation helps fill a theoretical gap in the educational inequality and status attainment literature. There continues to be much debate about the mechanisms that reproduce educational inequality. One of the more prominent explanatory systems in the area of educational inequality is Pierre Bourdieu's theory of practice (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1977; Bourdieu, 1977, 1986, 1987). Canadian researchers who have utilized this approach include, among others, Andres, Adamuti-Trache, Yoon, Pidgeon, Thomsen (2007), Krahn and Taylor (2005), Lehmann (2009), Looker (2010a), Looker and Naylor (2010), Taylor (2008), Thiessen (2009), and Thiessen and Looker (2009). From this perspective, educational inequality is a by-product of an institutionalized system established to maintain a privileged status quo. Central to Bourdieu's theory are the concepts of *habitus*, *field*, and *capital* which help illuminate the simultaneous operation of both macro- and micro-level processes. Bourdieu's theory of practice maintains that the transfer of capital occurs within the family and has lasting effects on the educational trajectories of youth as the education system reinforces the cultural tastes and dispositions of a privileged middle and upperclass.

Bourdieu's work, while rich in detail and theoretical insights, has not been the prevailing approach to studying educational inequality among North American quantitative researchers. They have often relied on alternative theoretical approaches, such as status attainment theory. Status attainment theory focuses on family socio-economic status, in conjunction with academic ability and peer groups, as the primary factors for explaining the perpetuation of social and educational inequality. The Wisconsin status attainment model, as conceived by Sewell, Haller, and Portes (1969), is most relevant to this dissertation. It places students' educational aspirations at the center of the educational status attainment process. While family background and mental ability are argued to inform educational performance, these factors combine to shape students' educational (and occupational) expectations, which in turn inform educational (and occupational) attainment.

But the status attainment model, while very good at providing an empirical description of persistent patterns of inequality across generations, does not adequately illuminate the micro-level processes which explain *why* this occurs despite individual experiences of upward social mobility. Furthermore, substantial social and economic changes in North America over the past four decades have caused some researchers to question its continued value.

For example, Domina, Conley and Farkas's (2011) examine the link between aspirations, effort, and educational attainment and argue, "if rising educational expectations have undermined the link between expectations and

effort, [as they posit is the position taken by Rosenbaum (2001)] fundamental revisions to the Wisconsin status attainment model may be necessary" (p. 94).

While Rosenbaum (2011) disputes Domina et al's (2011) conclusion on the basis of their sample and the age cohort on which they focus, ¹ he does maintain that their use of the status attainment model illustrates that, while this approach has not been dominant in recent decades, its utility has not been lost. I would argue further that positioning the Wisconsin model within a Bourdieuian context would provide a more nuanced explanation as to if and why college expectations, while nearly universal among American high school students, are a powerful motivator for student effort. As will be shown throughout this dissertation, educational aspirations do appear to be a powerful motivator for educational participation, However, their power is largely due to a larger constellation of socio-familial effects which are clearly articulated within Bourdieu's theory of practice.

This study begins with the key question of whether educational aspirations are in fact meaningful. Building on the status attainment literature, I present a more holistic approach to studying educational inequality where educational aspirations become the nexus which links Bourdieu's theory of practice and status attainment theory. At the core of status attainment theory is the assumption that

¹ Rosenbaum (2011) also responds that this is not the position he took in his 2001 research. Rather, he stressed that by simply having students raise their educational plans without providing them with the necessary information required to allow them to realize these plans is unreasonable. In fact, he states, "my contention is that poor articulation and information make it difficult for some seniors to see incentives for effect or school, and they will be less likely to exert effort" (p.114)

youth adjust their educational and career ambitions based on experiences both within the home and within schools. However, the nuances of how aspirations are shaped and come to affect subsequent behaviours are not explicitly discussed within this theoretical approach. At the same time, as I will argue in the next chapter, educational aspirations can be seen as a way of operationalizing Bourdieu's concept of the habitus which recognizes the cultural components of educational inequality reproduction. In other words, aspirations are a reflection of not only family socio-economic status but also the larger social context in which youth are located. By bridging the gap between these two perspectives, I propose a theoretical approach which recognizes both the structural components and the individual negotiation that comprise social reproduction.

As there is still much to learn about the nature of educational inequality and how educational aspirations may or may not be an element which could help ameliorate inter-generational disadvantage, this research asks three central theoretical/research questions: First, are educational aspirations meaningful? That is to say, are they simply ephemeral and fleeting attitudes? Or are they systematically consistent across time within individuals, and do they vary in consistent ways within and between groups of youth in a manner that can help us understand patterns of social inequality? Second, are there direct and indirect relationships between educational aspirations at age 15 and prior socio-economic status variables as well as subsequent educational attainment that would help us explain how patterns of social inequality are reproduced across generations? And finally, are schools with different characteristics and different levels of resources a

site where the reproduction of social inequality across generations can be partially ameliorated?

Chapter 2 explores the gap between current empirical and theoretical approaches to the study of educational inequality and will argue that Bourdieu's theory of practice effectively complements the empirical focus of status attainment theory. Chapter 3 outlines the research methods and statistical procedures. Chapter 4 explores the nature of educational aspirations and participation among Canadian youth and begins to examine the potential relationship between them. Chapter 5, drawing on the findings from Chapter 4, proposes a temporal model of educational attainment where educational attainment at age 19 is positioned as a function of Grade 12 marks, educational aspirations at age 15, and parental educational aspirations. In turn, all of these intervening variables are modeled as a function of exogenous individual and family-level variables, including parental education, gender, visible minorityimmigrant status, and living in a rural or urban community and in different Canadian regions. Chapter 6 replicates the analysis presented in Chapter 5 but asks about the additional effects of school quality. Chapter 7, drawing on the analyses presented in Chapters 4 through 6, returns to the overarching question of this dissertation, are educational aspirations enough?

Chapter 2: Social Reproduction and Educational Inequalities: Using Bourdieu to Study Educational Aspirations and Attainment

Theories of social and cultural reproduction focus on the ways in which social class is reproduced from one generation to the next, from parent to child. By exploring the nature of social reproduction within a capitalist society, researchers have invariably been led to one common site: the education system. They have illustrated that the education system does not act as a 'level playing field' in which youth from different socio-economic statuses compete equally; rather, the education system has been shown to both reinforce and illuminate class-based inequalities. While many agree that processes of reproduction are occurring, there is much debate as to the mechanisms that encourage and maintain them. One of the more prominent explanatory systems in the area of educational inequality is Pierre Bourdieu's theory of practice which views the education system as the primary mechanism for the perpetuation of social inequality (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1977; Bourdieu, 1977, 1986, 1987).

From this perspective, educational inequality is a by-product of an institutionalized system established to maintain a privileged status quo. To explain how this comes to be, Bourdieu uses the concepts of *habitus, field*, and *capital* to illuminate the simultaneous involvement of both macro- and micro-level processes. Bourdieu's theory of practice maintains that the transfer of capital occurs within the family and has lasting effects on the educational

trajectories of youth as the education system reinforces the cultural tastes and dispositions of a privileged middle and upper-class.

Bourdieu's work, while rich in detail and theoretical insights, has not been the prevailing approach to studying educational inequality among North American quantitative researchers. While some have tried to quantify Bourdieu's work (for example, McClelland, 1990; Dumais, 2002), these attempts remain varied and fraught with empirical and theoretical inconsistencies. Empirical researchers have instead relied on alternative theoretical approaches, namely, status attainment theory, primarily developed by William H. Sewell and his colleagues (see, Sewell, 1971; Sewell, Haller, & Ohlendorf, 1970; Sewell, Haller, & Portes, 1969; Haller & Portes, 1973). Status attainment theory views social origins, in conjunction with academic ability and peer groups, as the primary mechanisms perpetuating social and educational inequality. As argued by Haller and Portes (1973), "the place of status attainment research in the study of social stratification lies in the effort to specify the causal sequence through which individuals reach their positions in status hierarchies" (p. 55). The status attainment model, while very good at providing an empirical description of why patterns of inequality persist in society, does not adequately illuminate the micro-level processes which explain *why* social inequality is persistent across generations despite individual experiences of upward social mobility.

Educational aspirations, as will be argued throughout this chapter, are essential for linking Bourdieu's theory of practice and status attainment theory into a more inclusive theoretical framework for explaining educational inequality.

Educational aspirations are a key variable in the status attainment literature. At the core of the status attainment theories is the argument that youth adjust their thinking about status attainment based on experiences both within the home and within schools. "Attitudes - including levels of aspiration - are formed and altered through two basic mechanisms: interpersonal influence, including reflexive adjustment of others' expectations, and including self-reflection" (Haller & Portes, 1973, p. 55). However, the nuances of how aspirations are shaped and come to affect subsequent behaviours is not explicitly discussed within this theoretical approach. Status attainment theory, in this way, takes a primarily structural approach to understanding educational reproduction where differences are a reflection of social allocation based on family socio-economic status. At the same time, aspirations can be seen as a way of operationalizing Bourdieu's concept of the habitus. Habitus recognizes the cultural components of educational reproduction where aspirations are a reflection of not only family socio-economic status but also the larger social context in which the youth is located. In this way, educational aspirations become the nexus which links these two theoretical approaches to thinking about social and cultural reproduction and provide a more complete explanation for the perpetuation of educational inequality.

This chapter will explore the gap between current empirical and theoretical approaches to the study of educational inequality, and will argue that Bourdieu's theory of practice effectively complements the empirical focus of status attainment theory. In so doing, it will highlight the three central theoretical/research questions to be explored in this dissertation: First, are educational aspirations meaningful? That is to say, are they simply ephemeral and fleeting attitudes? Or are they systemically consistent across time within individuals, and do they vary in consistent ways within and between groups of youth in a manner that can help us understand patterns of social inequality? Second, are there direct and indirect relationships between educational aspirations at age 15 and prior socio-economic status variables as well as subsequent educational attainment that would help us explain how patterns of social inequality is reproduced across generations? And finally, are schools with different characteristics and different levels of resources a site where the reproduction of social inequality across generations can be partially ameliorated?

Aspirations and Social Reproduction of Inequality

In the sociological literature, educational and occupational aspirations² are often viewed as the product of socialization, which can differ between social classes. In other words, the aspirations young people come to hold are seen as a reflection of their family background, informed by their parents and other key role models (Garg, Melanson, & Levin, 2007; Glick & White, 2004; Kandel & Lesser, 1968). However, Kerckhoff (1976, 1977, 1984) has argued that the observed link between social background, aspirations, and outcomes could also be explained by a process of allocation in which socially-disadvantaged individuals, who may

 $^{^2}$ While occupational aspirations are an important area of inquiry among those studying social reproduction of inequality, the current research focuses only on educational aspirations. Given that YITS participants were only 19 years old by the third cycle of the survey, they were not far enough along in their life course to allow us to accurately assess possible (dis)continuity between occupational aspirations and eventual occupational status. However, this is clearly an area for future research.

initially hold high aspirations, come to recognize or encounter barriers that lead them to lower their initial highly-ambitious aspirations. In this way, compared to their middle-class peers, working-class youth may initially aspire to similar educational and occupational levels. However, differences in eventual outcomes are more a reflection of socio-economic obstacles that individual deficits.

These two perspectives, the first positing that differences in aspirations are a reflection of family socialization and the second arguing that aspirations are a reflection of social allocation, offer two competing explanations of how social background exerts its effect on educational attainment. The first perspective focuses on cultural explanations for the perpetuation of social disadvantage, which stems from socialization, particularly within the family. The second explanation focuses on the structural characteristics of a capitalist society that lead to disadvantages, such as access to educational resources and knowledge of the means necessary for achieving higher levels of education. Rather than choose one over the other, what is required, as argued by McClelland (1990), is a theoretical framework that integrates these two approaches to understanding social inequality. Such an approach would allow for a more complete understanding of the social psychological processes that lead to macro-level outcomes, such as educational attainment, which help to explain educational inequality. It is the position of this dissertation that integrating Bourdieu's theoretical approach with the original tenets of status attainment theory creates a synthesized theoretical paradigm which can meet these ends.

Sociologists interested in educational inequality have grappled with the sources of the perpetuation of class inequality. Researchers, particularly Paul Willis (1977) in his landmark study *Learning to Labour* which has inspired a plethora of global research in this area, have struggled to understand these longstanding class divisions and specifically, why low-income youth, despite contemporary advances in financial aid and social policies meant to ameliorate educational disadvantages, continue to experience inequalities at all levels of the education system³. As argued by Davies (1995), sub-theories within this area can be grouped into two general areas: mainstream theories and critical approaches. Mainstream theories include cultural deprivation theory, sub-cultural theory, and status attainment research, while the critical approaches include reproduction theory, resistance theory, and Post-Marxism. However, I would also include Bourdieu's theory of practice in this second list based on its critical focus on the processes that lead to educational inequality, including a critique of the education system itself.

Critical and mainstream approaches, as outlined by Davies (1995), are "fragmented into self-enclosed, non-communicating camps" (p.1448) and offer competing explanations of the sources of educational inequality. While these paradigms focus on a shared explanatory outcome, their arguments regarding the processes which determine these outcomes are widely diverse. Mainstream theories offer more generalized structural explanations to the processes of

³ Recent examples that utilize Willis's (1977) work include: Dolby & Dimitriadis, 2004; Dunk, 1991; Lehmann, 2007; MacLeod, 1995; Willis, 2004.

educational inequality that focus on the inevitability of class-based inequalities whereas critical approaches examine the education system itself as a site of class struggle and problematize the cultural processes that lead to the perpetuation of these struggles. These scholarly divisions have often led researchers to "pick" one single approach rather than seeking a more holistic approach which encompasses both the family-level and societal (structural) influences that shape educational outcomes. The following section will outline these two theoretical approaches and offer an alternative approach which will attempt to bridge the mainstream and critical approaches by linking status attainment theory and Bourdieu's theory of practice.

Mainstream Theories

Cultural deprivation theory is grounded in functionalist modernization theory (McClelland, 1960) and argues that there are certain common values shared within society that are necessary to the proper functioning of an industrialized society. Failure of the working class to achieve educational success is based on their inability or unwillingness to embrace middle-class values. These values include, as outlined by Davies (1995), individualism, need for achievement, competitiveness, ability to defer gratification, and future orientation. Key educational researchers in this area are Banks (1976) and Hyman (1953). In 1944, free compulsory education was introduced to Britain, resulting in a stratified education system where youth whose parents could afford school fees attended private schools and those whose parents could not were streamed into skill-specific public schools which were either academically- or vocationally focused. Those streamed into the latter schools often left school by the age of 15, which marked the end of compulsory education. Inspired by these changes, Olive Banks began her research on educational disparities within the English school system (Banks, 1955). Her work focused on the cultural and social realities which, at that time, led to educational disparities; either parents were too poor to send their children to private grammar schools or parents felt education would be wasted on girls (Delamont, 2008). Banks' work provided important insight into the connection between educational participation patterns and social class and the connection between political systems and their involvement with the education system.

Complementary to this approach is sub-cultural theory. Following cultural deprivation theory, this approach argues that while working class youth, particularly boys, desire the same material goods as their middle-class peers, their educational failures have prompted a common set of class values that emphasize the irrelevancy of school success to achieve these ends. Albert Cohen (1955) presented the first major piece of research in this area, arguing that the cultural deficits which limit their educational chances have led working class males to embrace anti-school values, further establishing their socially-disadvantaged position. Stinchcombe (1964) furthered this theory by disentangling differences by gender. He argued that working-class males embrace expressions of masculinity through drinking, smoking, and overt sexuality, while working-class females embrace femininity through dating and a desire for marriage, which are often also at odds with pro-school values. Through these claims, sub-cultural

theorists follow Cohen's lead in arguing that when faced with educational obstacles limiting success, working-class youth experience status deprivation leading them to embrace alternative cultural values which further their disadvantaged position within society. In this way, sub-cultural theory differs from cultural deprivation theory in that the disadvantage of the working-class is argued to originate from encountering barriers rather than from a class ethos that appears to have seemingly developed in and of itself.

Since the mid-1970s, the predominant mainstream approach to understanding class inequalities within the sociology of education has been status attainment theory. Based primarily on the initial work of Blau and Duncan (1967), and refined in the Wisconsin models (Sewell & Hauser, 1980), this theory maintains that both achieved factors, such as educational attainment, and ascribed factors, such as parental income, play an important role in socializing youth in such a way as to maintain hierarchy between social classes. Specifically, this theory argues that one's position in the social hierarchy and ability to achieve upward mobility is a function of parental socio-economic status, personal ambition, and luck. For example, Krahn, Lowe, and Hughes (2011, p.135), referencing the work of Wanner (1999), note that Canadians with higher levels of educational attainment and occupational status tend to come from families who also have higher levels of educational attainment and occupational status, reproducing their privileged social position.

The primary questions asked by status attainment theorists are about social mobility and intergenerational social inequality. This has led to questions about

whether ascribed factors that a young person is born into or whether personal ambitions, such as educational and occupational aspirations, most determine the likelihood of status mobility or maintain intergenerational social inequality. The original status attainment models focused on occupational prestige as a final outcome variable with which to measure status mobility from one generation to the next. Educational attainment was not the primary focus of the original models but was eventually proposed as another dimension of status attainment (Svalastoga, 1965) as it became recognized as an important intervening determinant of occupational prestige.

Status attainment theory was seen as a move from highly descriptive research on the extent and direction to which social movement occurs in a society into more causal explanations of social mobility (Haller & Portes, 1973). Within this theoretical approach, the Blau and Duncan model first emerged as the prominent paradigm, and then from this, the Wisconsin model was developed. The Blau and Duncan model was derived from data collected in 1962 from a cross-sectional sample of the adult male population as part of the American census (Haller & Portes, 1973). The Blau and Duncan model primarily focused on the extent to which parental social status determines the social status of offspring and the extent to which early social status affects subsequent levels of attainment and position in the social hierarchy. In essence, the Blau and Duncan model argues that while parental social position has some significant direct effects on occupational attainment, the primary influence of parental social position on occupational attainment was found to be indirect via educational attainment (Haller & Portes, 1973). The major contribution of the Blau and Duncan model was systematizing the causal relationships observed in the process of status attainment through the usage of "difference scores".

However, this model has two major shortcomings, as noted by Haller and Portes (1973). First, it does not address the mediating processes by which parental status affects education educational and to a lesser extent, occupational attainment. Second, there is no discussion about the impact that cognitive ability and academic performance have on status attainment.

An enhanced model was originally developed by researchers from the University of Wisconsin who used a data set collected by Little (1958) and Sewell (1971) from a random sample of male high school seniors from Wisconsin (Haller & Portes, 1973). Much like the Blau and Duncan model, the Wisconsin model focused on measures of parental status. But it also included such factors as the role of significant others and the respondents' own educational and occupational aspirations. When the original sample of respondents was re-interviewed in 1964 to 1965, information gathered on their early educational and occupational attainment allowed the researchers to begin making links to prior family background and aspiration-based information. Both the Blau and Duncan model and the Wisconsin model came to the same conclusion with regards to causal ordering of effects. That is, early occupational attainment was found to be a function of both educational and occupational aspirations and to a lesser extent occupational attainment was found to be a function of parental status. However, in an attempt to further refine the Blau and Duncan model, the Wisconsin model

began specifying a series of mediating variables, such as the role of both educational and occupational aspirations. For example, the direct effect of parental status on educational attainment was found to disappear when significant others' influences and status aspirations were introduced as intervening variables (Haller & Portes, 1973).

Moreover, the Blau and Duncan model used only father's occupation and education as exogenous variables, examining their effects as separate measures. In contrast, the Wisconsin model used a single measure of parental socioeconomic status which encompassed father's occupation and education, mother's education, and family income. Haller and Portes (1973) argue that while both models show promise in the field of status attainment, the Blau and Duncan model may be more appropriately employed in the study of processes of occupational attainment and to diagnose significant deviations among particular subgroups. On the other hand, the Wisconsin model may be better at identifying the steps in the status attainment sequence where such deviations occur. This type of analysis would allow for timely social interventions to help particular subgroups avoid the negative outcomes that such deviations may hold in the transition from education to employment.

The findings which arose from status attainment research generated new debates about educational inequality. Hauser (1983) argued that such findings suggest that class structure is malleable and social mobility is an open-possibility as the effects of family background could be overcome through educational participation and achievement. On the other hand, Jencks (1983) argued that

these findings undermine the notion of an open system of opportunity as socioeconomic status continued to play a large role in shaping social mobility and educational opportunities. Arguably, the collection of variables used in the status attainment research, particularly the Wisconsin model, may be out of order and I would argue that serious consideration was not given to this in the original model. For example, in the original models, academic performance is hypothesized to influence educational aspirations; however, the opposite may be true. Educational aspirations may motivate a young person's performance in such a way as to ensure such aspirations are met. Haller and Portes (1973) refer to these processes as "circles of causality" as it is not clear as to the casual order of the relationship between academic performance, the influence of significant others, and educational and occupational aspirations.

As aspirations appear to be a mediating factor for educational and occupational attainment in the Wisconsin model, informed by significant others, family socioeconomic status, and cognitive ability, their importance to the model is crucial. As Haller and Portes (1973) argue, "status aspirations are complex forms of attitudes whose translation into attainment levels is affected by the context in which individuals attempt to enact them" (p. 68-69). They go on to argue that, "attitudes – including levels of aspiration – are formed and altered through two basic mechanisms: interpersonal influence, including reflexive adjustment of others' expectations, and including self-reflection" (ibid, p. 69). So while individuals may initially set personal goals, the Wisconsin model argues that both the individual and the significant others in their life come to play a large

role in helping to both set the initial educational and occupational goals and to alter them as time passes. This has led to subsequent research under the Wisconsin model focusing on aspirations and their role in processes of status attainment (for example, Jencks, Crouse, & Mueser, 1983; Saltiel, 1988; Goldthorpe, 2010), specifically, the processes by which aspirations are formed and enacted, via the role of others and via self-assessment.

What is the exact form in which contextual factors affect the relationship between personal goals and status attainment? Sewell, Haller and Porte (1969) and Sewell, Haller, and Ohlendork (1970) hypothesize that "behaviour" (attainment) is a function of the individual (aspirations) plus each variable contextualizing his situation (facilitators) (Haller & Portes, 1973). While the Wisconsin model acknowledges the holistic nature of a young person's social world, the model stops short of explaining *why*. Empirically, the Wisconsin model is fairly exhaustive in its identification of causally-relevant variables. However, as addressed by Haller and Portes (1973) in their discussion of "circles of causality", the Wisconsin model forces a sequential ordering which may lead to ill-informed conclusions among novice researchers. Therefore, researchers must be careful when interpreting such results given that once the effect of aspirations and the encouragement of significant others are controlled for in the model, the effect of family socioeconomic status in shaping occupational status disappears suggesting that poverty, in and of itself, perpetuates poverty. It is not so much the economics of poverty that lead to the perpetuation of this disadvantaged social position but rather, the social psychological component is the underlying cause.

Researchers who draw these types of conclusions may be inclined to blame the individual rather than the social structures that encourage such a class ethos.

However, despite these critiques, status attainment theory began an important discussion on the role aspirations play in shaping patterns of educational and occupational attainment. As noted by Krahn, Lowe, and Hughes (2011, p.134-136), status attainment studies clearly illustrate that education influences occupational outcomes and parents' occupational status is transmitted to their children via differences in educational attainment. While these studies do not explicitly outline how this happens on a micro-level, this theory does identify the role of social and economic advantage and individual-level aspirations as key to shaping outcomes. It is the causal patterns of influence and identification of aspirations in a model of status attainment that make this theoretical approach ideal for addressing the key research questions in this dissertation.

Critical Approaches

After the mid-1970s, a number of more critical approaches to studying the role of education in the reproduction of social inequality emerged (Davies, 1995). One of the first to emerge was reproduction theory, as developed by Bowles and Gintis (1976). Social reproductionists argue that working-class youth are passive victims of the sorting mechanisms and pervasive socialization that is present within schools. Specifically, Bowles and Gintis (1976) argued that social relations within the education system correspond with those of the means of production. In other words, in order to replicate the hierarchal division of labour that exists within society, the education system socializes youth to this hierarchy,
making it appear like a natural part of society. Schools and learning environments stream students into different school types and programs, as a mechanism to reproduce the internal organization of capitalist enterprises by focusing either on academic programs or vocational training. Research has clearly shown that educational streaming and school placement is highly related to social class, with working-class youth more likely to be streamed into less challenging, less academically-oriented programs (Krahn, Lowe, & Lehmann 2002; Lehmann 2000, 2005b; Taylor & Krahn, 2009).

While reproduction theory was seen as an advancement in studies of social inequality, critics argued that class inequalities were not un-problematically reproduced by the education system. Rather, working-class youth actively rebel against the class structure. Resistance theory, primarily advanced by Willis (1977), argues that working-class youth actively reject dominant forms of middleclass culture, such as participating in higher education, following school rules, and avoiding deviant behaviours such as smoking and swearing. In doing so, these young people actually end up perpetuating their disadvantaged positions in society and help maintain a stratified hierarchal class system of inequality. Resistance theory reproduces the original premise of sub-cultural theory. That is, both theories maintain that working class youth embrace a series of shared values which are contrary to middle class values which encourage active participation in educational structures, thereby leading to the perpetuation of a stratified class structure. The major difference lies in reproduction theory's position that shared working class values are not simply passively absorbed but are an active rebellion

against middle-class values. For example, the youth in Willis' (1977) study never aspired to middle-class status symbols; rather, they actively rejected middle-class values, particularly those related to education and conformity, from a young age.

More recently, drawing on resistance theory, a post-Marxist variant has emerged as the predominant critical approach to studying educational inequality (Davies, 1995). Researchers in this tradition include Aronowitz and Giroux (1985, 1991, 1993) and Giroux and McLaren (1989). Post-Marxists, embracing the original tenets of Marxist theories, broadened earlier critical theories to include discussions of race and gender. The original Marxist theories from which post-Marxism developed, argued that schooling in a capitalist society perpetuates social inequality and legitimizes the established social hierarchy. Education is argued to be shaped by the needs of the upper class, or bourgeoisie, to reproduce the conditions necessary to create surplus value from the working class or proletariat. Since educational structures are created by the upper class, educational patterns reflect class boundaries whereby working-class youth pursue working class educational and occupational options and upper class youth pursue those which allow them to occupy positions of power. Universities, in this way, were traditionally sites where upper-class values were perpetuated, while access was limited to very few working-class individuals.

While each of these critical theories offer reasonable explanations for the perpetuation of class inequality via the education system, they are not completely adequate for interpreting or understanding educational inequality, particularly the role of educational aspirations, within contemporary Canadian society. Over time, educational aspirations have increased among working class and other socially-disadvantaged youth, coming to resemble those of middle class youth (Krahn & Taylor, 2005; Lowe & Krahn, 2000). A strict post-Marxist framework would expect educational aspirations to vary much more, particularly between the working and middle class, across genders, and between White and visibleminority groups. It would also be theoretically expected that differences in educational attainment levels should exist between groups of youth with the most privileged attending university and the socially-marginalized attending community college and vocational schools.

However, if such a strict relationship is predicted, it leaves little room for individual agency and personal negotiation of the education system (Lehmann, 2004; Lehmann, 2005a). Reproduction theory puts too much emphasis on the role of schools, again inadequately addressing the role of aspirations. Schools are viewed as a sorting mechanism where working class youth are streamed in such a way that they will occupy similar social and occupational positions as their parents. Such a theory removes the individual from the equation, viewing them as passive agents of a larger system. While there is some validity to this theory as working class youth, or first generation university students, do have a more difficult time adjusting to the education system (Lehmann, 2004, 2005a) and working class youth have been observed to be streamed into less academically challenging educational programs (Lehmann, 2007), the process is not as rigid and deterministic as Bowles and Gintis lead us to believe. In contrast, status attainment theory does leave space for individual agency, it leaves room for debate regarding the role of structural factors and individual attributes on educational and occupational outcomes. But this theory does not adequately account for the ways in which educational aspirations come to be developed at both an individual and structural level. Furthermore, status attainment research has not seriously considered the simultaneous role of the family, access to various forms of cultural and educational resources, peer networks, the influence of schools and neighbourhoods, and individual aspirations and agency.

Bourdieu, through his theory of practice, allows for a reconciliation of these theoretical shortcomings by focusing on how differences in the social hierarchy persist over time, and yet can be challenged. Specifically, the issue of class-based differential educational outcomes is central to Bourdieu's theory of practice which examines processes of structural and cultural reproduction. The post-Marxist framework, for example, cannot account for why some workingclass youth make successful transitions into the post-secondary education system. Similarly, status attainment models, particularly the Wisconsin Model, cannot account for why more youth do not pursue PSE because access is argued to be less limited by socio-economic status and more so by an individual's personal attributes and willingness to participate in higher education. In contrast, Bourdieu's theory of practice, focusing on the complex interplay of capital, field, and habitus, allows for a more complete discussion on why some youth make this transition while others do not.

Bourdieu's Theory of Practice

Bourdieu's theory of practice can complement status attainment theory, particularly the Wisconsin model, by putting the emphasis on contextualizing micro-level processes at a macro or individual level. As previously argued, status attainment theory sequentially links a series of causal factors in the attainment process, but the potential for "causal circles" forces us to question how these particular factors affect one another and whether it is really feasible to describe processes of status attainment in a linear model. Bourdieu's theory of cultural reproduction helps to contextualize the various factors identified in the Wisconsin model and to describe the underlying processes and influences which link them. Bourdieu's concepts of habitus, field, and capital provide a theoretical foundation with which to understand why and how these factors are connected and to disentangle the role of the individual from structural determinants or, stated differently, ascribed factors. At the heart of Pierre Bourdieu's theory of educational inequality is his attempt to expose cultural capital as one of the primary sources of achievement differences within the education system.

Within the sociology of education, concepts such as capital, field, and habitus provide a means for understanding the cognitive and structural mechanisms that mediate the processes of social stratification. The interplay of these concepts allows one to understand why differential educational outcomes among contemporary youth are socially-constructed via individual actions. While individuals make decisions that appear to be reflective of purely individual choices, these decisions, following Bourdieu's theoretical framework, are in fact, informed by their social location. For example, as is shown within this dissertation, the levels of education young people aspire towards may at first appear to be reflective of individual interests and personal ambitions but these individual interests and ambitions, following Bourdieu, are a reflection of social location and family background. It is through his concepts of capital, field, and habitus that Bourdieu is able to explain how individual interests and ambitions are deeply rooted in a young person's socio-familial background.

Capital

According to Bourdieu, capital can be defined as, "accumulated labor (in its materialized form or its 'incorporated," embodied form) which, when appropriated on a private (i.e., exclusive) basis by agents or groups of agents, enables them to appropriate social energy in the form of reified or living labor" (Bourdieu, 1986). For Bourdieu, capital presents itself under three main forms: economic, social, and cultural.

Economic capital can be defined as an individual's or family's financial resources. It is through economic capital that Bourdieu so clearly illustrates the convertibility of capital from one state to another. For example, economic capital can be converted into cultural capital by attending private schools rather than public schools. As Bourdieu (1986, p. 248) states,

the strategies for converting economic capital into cultural capital, which are among the short-term factors of the schooling explosion and the inflation of qualifications, are governed by changes in the structure of the chances of profit offered by the different types of capital. As implicitly suggested, an agent's proficiency and familiarity with capital acquisition and exchange is often based on their socioeconomic status. In this context, Bourdieu uses economic capital to locate individuals within a given social class based on their ability to convert one form of capital, in this case, economic capital, into the various other forms of capital.

Social capital refers to those interactions that provide access to and control over various resources. Social capital is that which "exists in the relations among persons" (Caspi, 1998, p. 428) and is a reflection of the time and attention social actors spend interacting with each other. For Bourdieu (1988, p. 248), social capital is the "aggregate of the actual or potential resources which are linked to possession of a durable network of more or less institutionalized relationships of mutual acquaintance and recognition". Furthermore, "the volume of social capital possessed by a given agent thus depends on the size of the network of connections he or she can effectively mobilize and on the volume of capital…possessed in his own right" (ibid, p. 249). Therefore, for Bourdieu, social capital is more than simply the social relationships between actors, it is, instead, embodied in a network of relationships that is the product of investment strategies that is consciously or unconsciously aimed at reproducing social networks.

Perhaps Bourdieu's most important insight into the specification of capital comes via his concept of *cultural capital*. Cultural capital is a complex phenomenon in Bourdieu's theory of social reproduction. It calls attention to how cultural dispositions, such as an appreciation of dominant cultural tastes and knowledge, are associated with social origin and develop into educational and occupational advantage. Aschaffenburg and Maas (1997, p. 573), citing the work of Bourdieu, define cultural capital as a "proficiency in and familiarity with dominant cultural codes and practices". Differentiating between the cultural capital of the upper class and that of the working class is central to understanding that, within Bourdieu's theory of practice, culture is a power resource. It is through this argument that Bourdieu is able to explain how the education system comes to value the cultural capital of the upper-class and devalue that of the working-class. In other words, the education system acts as a mechanism for sorting and streaming youth into class-appropriate positions based on endowments of cultural capital.

Bourdieu's theory of practice argues that it is through the systematic devaluing of working-class culture that working-class youth become alienated from the educational experiences and knowledge being presented to them. These differences are not reduced over one's educational career; rather, they are intensified. So, as a young person makes the transition into post-secondary education, particularly into university, their working-class culture and dispositions may create a situation where they feel increasingly alienated from their peers and the university experience at large. Social inequalities are perpetuated, as initial differences in cultural capital become systematically encoded in educational credentials, which then channel individuals into class positions similar to those of their parents. Although cultural capital is an important part of Bourdieu's theory of social reproduction, it is only one part of his theory of practice. As noted in *Distinction* (1984), social action is generated through a combination of capital, field, and habitus.

Field

The notions of *field*, together with habitus and cultural capital, are the organizing principles within Bourdieu's theoretical framework. Bourdieu states, "to think in terms of field is to *think relationally*" (Bourdieu and Wacquant 1992) and defines the field as "a network, or a configuration, of objective relations between positions" (ibid, p. 97). To help clarify this theoretical construct, Bourdieu often uses the analogy of a "game". Each of us have a role to play and competency in the game's methods yields positive results for those with this knowledge. However, the field is unlike a game in that it is not the product of a deliberate act of creation and it does not follow explicit or coded rules and regularities (ibid, p. 98). So while the comparison is not perfect, Bourdieu elaborates on the concept of the field within the game analogy:

Thus we have stakes (enjeux) which are for the most part the product of competition between players. We have an *investment in the game*, *illusio* (from luidus, the game): players are taken in by the game, they oppose one another, sometimes with ferocity, only to the extent that they concur in their belief (doxa) in the game and its stakes; they grant these a recognition that escapes questioning. Players agree, by the mere fact of playing, and not by way of "contract," that the game is worth playing, that it is "worth the candle," and this collusion is the very basis of their competition. We also have *trump cards*, that is, master cards whose force varies depending on the game: just as the relative values of those cards changes with each game, the hierarchy of the different species of capital (economic, social, cultural, and symbolic) varies across the various fields. In other words, there are cards that are varied, efficacious in all fields – these are the fundamental species of capital – but their relative values as trump cards is determined by each field and even by successive states of the same field (ibid, p. 98, emphasis in original).

Bourdieu would like us to envision social actors, or "players," as possessing a pile of tokens, each of a different color representing the type of capital they hold. This in turn, determines their position and relative power in the game. To be more precise,

the strategies of a "player" and everything that defines his "game" are a function not only of the volume and structure of his capital *at the moment under consideration* and of the game chances they guarantee him, but also of the *evolution over time* of the volume and structure of this capital, that is, of his social trajectory and of the dispositions (habitus) constituted in the prolonged relation to a definite distribution of objective chances (ibid, p. 99, emphasis in original).

However, this is not all. Players can increase or convert their tokens, or capital, through specific moves within the game, depending on the structure or volume of their capital.

Keeping with the analogy of the game, the education system would constitute a field as it has objective structures and regularities that comprise a set of rules for play that have been consistent over time. Individuals in the field (i.e., teachers, parents, and students) are consistently engaged in a process of play. In visualizing the dynamics of and interactions that occur within the education system, such as students competing for top grades and academic resources, it becomes possible to merge notions of individual agency, structural/ institutional constraints, and how individual access to capital can affect the ways in which individuals play the "game". For example, students with high levels of cultural capital are often better equipped to manoeuvre within the education system to achieve top merits and academic rewards that will further their privileged social position. Therefore, the notion of the field, through the analogy of the game, implies an implicit power struggle, while also implying the possibility of change through strategies employed by individual players.

In sum, the concept of field helps us to understand that the nature of social scientific research and the true object of inquiry is not the individual agent, regardless of their role in constructing fields. Rather, Bourdieu (1992, p. 107) argues that, "it is the field which is primary and must be the focus of the research operations". However, he does not mean to imply that individuals are simply passive beings within the social playing field: "they do exist as *agents*... who are socially constituted as active and acting in the field under consideration by the fact that they possess the necessary properties to be effective, to produce effects, in this field" (ibid. page 107, emphasis in original). In other words, it is knowledge of the field itself that allows individuals to understand the origins of their singularity, or their *point of view* within the field from which their perspective is constructed.

Habitus

A third central concept within Bourdieu's theory of practice is the *habitus*, which can be described as a series of structured dispositions. Bourdieu himself defines the habitus as "an acquired system of generative schemes objectively adjusted to the particular conditions in which it is constituted" (Bourdieu, 1977). In general, the habitus is one's view of the world and one's view of their place in it. It is the dispositions one possesses that influence one's subsequent behaviours. Through this process of internalization, one comes to determine what are possible accomplishments and one develops aspirations and practices accordingly (Dumais, 2002).

Bourdieu's concept of habitus is composed of the attitudes, beliefs, and experiences of those inhabiting the social world. This combination of internalized values and dispositions can define a young person's attitudes towards educational attainment. The institution of schooling, with its high value on the cultural capital of the privileged classes, is seen as promoting a belief among working-class youth that high levels of academic attainment are not necessarily a realistic option. Thus, as noted by MacLeod (1995, p. 15), "there is a correlation between objective probabilities and subjective aspirations, between institutional structures and cultural practices".

Educational aspirations can be defined as reflective of an individual's view of his or her odds of achieving high levels of education and to be based on the internalization of objective probabilities. However, following Bourdieu's logic, aspirations are not based on some form of rational choice on the part of the youth. Rather, they are acquired through the habitus of the individual. "The habitus is the universalizing mediation which causes an individual agent's practices, without either explicit reason or signifying intent, to be none the less 'sensible' and 'reasonable" (Bourdieu, 1977, p. 79). The habitus produces attitudes and patterns of conduct that enable objective social structures to successfully reproduce. Essentially, Bourdieu theorizes a reciprocal relationship between practices and structures, in which, structures tend to produce structured dispositions that produce structured actions which, in turn, tend to reproduce

36

objective structures (Swartz, 1997). In sum, Bourdieu argues that the habitus is shaped by social forces, which are experienced within specific fields, and thereby predispose individuals to think and act in certain ways.

Through the concepts of cultural capital and habitus, Bourdieu is seeking to explain how social inequality and educational reproduction occurs within specific social fields. His explanation is grounded in traditional class-based arguments that view the family as the primary site of socialization. The family as a key unit within the capitalist class structure exposes youth to a way of thinking and being that is embodied within the habitus. As noted by Miller (2003, p. 87-88):

Cultural competence and effectiveness on any particular field of action is dependent on the accumulation of the relevant cultural capital, the cultural resources that they can strategically expend on the interweaving fields of their practice. Those with privileged access to restricted cultural capital exercise symbolic violence upon those who cannot access the cultural capital required to succeed in those fields of practice, such as education, which yield potent symbolic capital.

Following Bourdieu's theoretical framework, the field informs the habitus and the habitus contributes to constituting the field as a "meaning world, a world endowed with sense and value" (Bourdieu & Wacquant 1992, p.127). As Bourdieu is quick to acknowledge, individuals are most likely to encounter experiences that correspond with their habitus, thereby explaining the perpetuation of social inequality. In other words, people stick with what they are comfortable with. So, youth whose parents are working class, who might be defined as educationally "at risk," would be more likely to pursue educational and occupational choices that

correspond with their parents' socio-economic status (SES). But, with the expansion of post-secondary options and the mass dispersion of information via the Internet and mass media which expose youth to a larger array of choices and information, is university participation still outside the realm of the working-class habitus?

As young people are increasingly exposed to information stressing the importance of higher education, particularly a university education, this message becomes highly normalized. In this sense, youth in their early high school years see university as a real possibility and form their aspirations accordingly. In the past, the connection between family background and educational attainment was much clearer, but as youth are exposed to information in volumes that previous generations were not, and as they interact within local schools and communities with a variety of peers from different socio-economic backgrounds, the nature of social fields, as Bourdieu conceptualized them, changes. Within these changing social fields, contemporary youth become increasingly aware of the educational and occupational options available to them as expanding beyond those which were achieved by their parents.

As Bourdieu argues, the habitus, or one's outlook on and perspective about their social position, is influenced and shaped by experiences in the field. Lehmann (2003) points out that "if the field and habitus constitute each other mutually, and education systems, labour markets, and systems of school-work transitions are interpreted as fields, then young people's experiences within different school systems and in differently structured labour markets certainly must have strong influences on the formation of their dispositions toward postsecondary education and employment" (p.89). In this way, local communities are no longer isolated sites where the flow of information is limited. As youth are exposed to information and knowledge that is not provided directly from their parents, they begin to imagine possibilities that extend beyond that to which they have been immediately exposed.

Moreover, changes in the economy which began in the late 1970s, characterized by a decentralization of production to foreign countries, meant a loss of 'good' jobs across many industrialized nations, including both Canada and the United States. The emergence of the dot.com industry in the late 1990s, which generated employment across all levels of the pay-scale, also experienced a bust in the early years of the new millennium. Many of these jobs were transported to India and China where highly-educated and trained employees could be paid a far smaller salary than their North American counterparts (Aronowitz, 2004, p.xi).

In addition to job migration, the expansion of community colleges, technical schools, and universities has also led to a state of depressed salaries and a surplus of educated workers (ibid, p.xi). Equipped with their post-secondary educational qualifications, many of these recent graduates have been unable to secure permanent, well-paying jobs in their fields of specialization, resulting in a situation where many graduates were precariously underemployed.

The new 'working class' are a group of highly educated individuals who have been inducted into the value system of the middle class but without the good wages or job benefits which are afforded to the middle class. Given these changes, working class culture has become ambiguous. As the working class seek professional and technical jobs, they become frustrated with the lack of "good" jobs. However, they continue to embrace the notion that higher levels of education will lead to increased chances of economic success. These economic changes may help explain the exceedingly high educational aspirations observed among Canadian youth in a way that was not demonstrated among Willis' "lads" in the 1960s, for whom maintaining their working-class roots meant rebellion against their understandings of middle-class values.

However, despite the high aspirations observed among today's youth, educational attainment, while on the rise, is still not equal across all social strata. While aspirations can represent a form of agency since all youth, regardless of socio-economic status, can hold aspirations to any life course outcome, it is important to recognize that their agency, according to Bourdieu, is bound by their social space, knowledge of the social world, and early life course experiences. In this way, researchers need to recognize that while school-work transitions do involve reflexive and knowledgeable agents, their knowledge about these transitions is in fact constrained by very real structured conditions that exist in and of themselves. Bourdieu suggests that 'knowledge' is informed by fields and access to cultural capital which is more limited for working-class youth. So, perhaps youth from traditionally "at risk" groups, while aspiring to education levels that were often restricted to the middle and upper classes, are forming such aspirations on limited knowledge about what the experience will be like and the

40

mechanisms that will facilitate this transition. A lack of knowledge about the costs, both economic and social, the time commitment, and the nature of learning within a university setting, may still discourage full participation by these young people.

Bourdieu's framework, particularly his conceptualization of *structured structures and structuring structures*, provides researchers with a means for understanding the sustainability of social reproduction. The habitus, as both a structured structure and a structuring structure, an apparatus for producing and resulting from practices, provides researchers with insights into why social reproduction has become so ingrained into society that resistance can actually support the status quo and perpetuate social hierarchy. *Horizons of action*, as defined by Hodkinson and Sparkes (1997) expand Bourdieu's concept of the field to include, "the arena within which actions can be taken and decisions made" (p. 34). A young person's horizon of action is informed by both their habitus and the opportunity structures of the labour market. Their interrelation informs notions of what options are available and which of those options are more or less appropriate

In this way, Bourdieu's theory of practice provides an excellent framework to help us understand the variety of possible educational aspirations and outcomes observed among youth. Understanding the balance of influence exerted by capital, fields, and habitus on a young person allows us to begin to appreciate how a variety of educational pathways are created and, in turn, navigated by an increasingly diverse group of youth. Furthermore, Bourdieu's theoretical arguments provide an explanation of how aspirations among young

41

people are developed by recognizing both the role of the family and the larger social context in which the youth is situated. Taking into account the influence of social context and the family, along with aspirations, Bourdieu's framework helps explain disparities in educational attainment between middle- and working-class youth, as well as among working-class youth themselves. It is because of these strengths that Bourdieu's theoretical framework is an ideal complement to the status attainment empirical model.

Contextualizing the Status Attainment Model with Bourdieu's Theory of Practice

Bourdieu's theory of practice (Bourdieu, 1977, 1986, 1987; Bourdieu & Passeron, 1977) argues that the diffusion of capital, specifically, cultural, social, and economic capital, occurs at the level of the family and has a lasting impact on the life course trajectories of youth. That is, parents provide their children with various forms of capital which, in turn, shape their "habitus" (i.e., tastes, dispositions, and attitudes). The result is a reproduction of society's class structure, with social inequalities being reproduced through educational attainment, employment, and ultimately, social status.

The Wisconsin model of status attainment posits that family SES indirectly shapes educational and occupational attainment, via aspirations, academic achievement, and peer groups. However, empirical tests of this model have not been able to fully explicate exactly how this happens, in large part because they have not analyzed longitudinal data. Bourdieu's theoretical approach can help explain the processes which lead to direct and indirect connections between SES, aspirations, and outcomes. It provides important insights into why youth make the choices they do and how those choices are formed within the larger structural context of the family, school, and community, processes which are empirically demonstrated in the status attainment literature but not explicitly theorized.

A weakness of Bourdieu's theory is the difficulty encountered when trying to quantify his key concepts, particularly cultural capital, which plays an essential role in shaping the habitus and informing interactions within the field. Specifically, is cultural capital dependent or independent of skill or ability (Lareau & Weininger, 2003)? Within the status attainment model, socioeconomic status is shown to be distinct of academic ability and skill but Bourdieu's work does not make this distinction clear by arguing that cultural capital may, in fact, affect all aspects of the educational and occupational attainment process, including academic ability.

The following section will explore the connection between SES and educational outcomes by, first, examining a number of studies which have attempted to quantify Bourdieu's theoretical approach and then, second, putting forth an argument for why Bourdieu's work may be better suited for interpretive rather than strictly empirical purposes. Within this literature, two dominant approaches to operationalizing Bourdieu's work, particularly cultural capital, have emerged. The first approach views cultural capital (i.e. "high brow" or elite culture) as a directly correlated with educational success where increased engagement with cultural capital translates into increased engagement with the

43

education system. The second approach assumes that cultural capital is a mediator which bridges family background with educational engagement and outcomes.

In his 1982 article, Paul DiMaggio attempted to place cultural capital in the status attainment model by defining and measuring cultural capital as the extent of students' involvement in "high brow" art, music, and literature. He hypothesized that cultural capital will encourage increased school success and will mediate the relationship between family background and school outcomes, particularly in "non-technical" subjects (ibid, p. 199). DiMaggio's use of "highbrow" culture as a proxy for cultural capital has been emulated by many other researchers including De Graaf (1986), De Graff, De Graaf, and Kraaykaamp (2000), Dumais (2002), and Eitle and Eitle (2002). For example, Dumais (2002) defines cultural capital as knowledge and competence of upper class culture and is measured using participation in "highbrow" activities. De Graaf (1986) defines cultural capital as "appropriate manners" and familiarity with the "*beaux-arts*" (p. 237-246).

But should cultural capital perhaps be defined more broadly? Generally speaking, over 30 years have passed since Bourdieu first conceptualized cultural capital. Arguably, culture has changed, definitions of educationally-relevant tastes and dispositions have shifted, and access to "highbrow" culture has become more open with the advent of the mass media. Specifically, youth are exposed to large amounts of information at a much younger age than was previously the case. This has meant that young people are no longer limited to information found within the home or in their local communities. Technological change has resulted in drastic changes to the nature of learning and educational exposure.

While many researchers support DiMaggio's conceptualization of cultural capital, others propose that cultural capital is independent of skills and ability. That is, in a model of educational and occupational outcomes, cultural capital is positioned as a mediator between family background and some measure of performance, such as grades or test scores, not as a measure of skills themselves. For example, Farkas, Grobe, Sheehan, and Shaun (1990) argue that participation and knowledge of elite culture influences students' grades indirectly as teachers reward these types of upper-class skills and dispositions. In this way, it is engagement in and with elite culture that allows students to excel in school as they possess a shared experiential knowledge with educators. This experiential knowledge is reproduced through the educational curriculum.

In short, attempts to quantify Bourdieu's work demonstrate that his theoretical arguments can help researchers contextualize and understand why inequality exists and is perpetuated within the education system. However, the wide array of ways in which researchers have operationalzed Bourdieu's concepts, specifically cultural capital, suggests that consideration must be given to approaching his work in an alternative manner as the empirical findings arising out of such work are varied and fraught with inconsistencies.

With respect to the tradition of operationalizing cultural capital as elite culture, did Bourdieu really intend to operationalize cultural capital in terms of upper class tastes and dispositions? Lareau and Weininger (2003), referencing Karabel and Halsey's (1977) collection of essays which contained a translation of Bourdieu's 1971 article, "Cultural Reproduction and Social Reproduction," note that Bourdieu provides a definition of cultural capital that makes no reference to preferences for "highbrow" culture. In fact, Bourdieu defines cultural capital as, "instruments for the appropriation of symbolic wealth worthy of being sought and possessed" (Bourdieu, 1971, p. 488). However, the tendency to equate cultural capital with high culture likely comes from the examples Bourdieu used, including museum visits, classical music appreciation, and reading habits. As noted by Lareau and Weininger (2003), Lamont and Lareau (1988) argued that before the *effects* of cultural capital could be analyzed in a given context, its *content* had to be empirically specified (p. 579). Given that Bourdieu theorized under the context of a rigid French system, not an open North American education system, it is important to ask whether cultural capital in one context may not be relevant in another.

The second dominant approach to quantifying Bourdieu's theoretical approach assumes that cultural capital is conceptually distinct of skills and ability. Lareau and Weininger (2003) argued that none of Bourdieu's writing suggests that there is a distinction between cultural capital and ability; rather, they argue that Bourdieu would consider them to be "irrevocably fused" (p. 580). In reaction to human capital theorists who apply his concept of cultural capital to their work, Bourdieu asserts, "studies of the relationship between academic ability and academic investment show that they are unaware that ability or talent is itself the product of an investment in time and cultural capital" (1986, p. 244). Lareau

46

and Weininger (2003) note that Bourdieu maintains that to attempt to differentiate between the effects of factors linked to status from those linked to a pure "technical competence" is to "fall into a trap" (p. 581). For Bourdieu, evaluations of technical competence are reflective of the status of the person being assessed rather than inherent quantifiable objective competencies. In one of Bourdieu's last pieces on education, "The State Nobility" (1996), in a section entitled, "The Ambiguities of Competence", referenced by Lareau and Weininger (2003), Bourdieu undertakes a discussion of credentials, or, what he refers to as "institutionalized" cultural capital. Following the writing of Lareau and Weininger (2003), Bourdieu argues that credentials must be understood as certifying two simultaneous forms of competence, technical capacity and social competence (p. 581). In other words, earning a specific educational qualification does denote a certain level of technical knowledge, however, educational qualifications also denote a certain level of social competence in that they provide a sense of social dignity to the holder in which to set oneself apart from others.

Given these debates, is it really possible to quantify Bourdieu's theoretical concepts? Qualitative studies have been quite successful in utilizing Bourdieu's theory of practice, to understand social inequality. For example, in his ethnographic study of inner-city youth in the United States, MacLeod (1995) uses Bourdieu's theory to help interpret the relationship between structure and agency and examine how social reproduction is occurring under conditions of extreme poverty and illegal underground economies. Even so, as McLeod notes, "Bourdieu's concept of habitus captures the interpenetration of structure and

47

agency, but habitus is more of a label for a site than an explanation of what goes on with in it" (p. 254).

Similarly, in his study of Canadian and German high school apprentices, Lehmann (2007) uses Bourdieu's work to help understand the decisions and strategies these young people employ when deciding to pursue a trade and participate in high school apprenticeship programs. Much like McLeod, Lehmann draws heavily on Bourdieu's concept of habitus to understand how these young people negotiate structure and agency. Lehmann (2007) suggests that Nash (2003) provides a very lucid explanation of Bourdieu's notion of socialized dispositions when he states, "Bourdieu's sociological theory requires an agency endowed with dispositions able to translate structural principles of the culture into lived practice, with sufficient autonomy to allow observed social transformations to take place, but sufficiently conditioned as to effect the actual reproduction of social institutions" (p.49).

In another qualitative study that employs Bourdieu's concepts, McDonough (1997) uses the concept of cultural capital to help interpret the role of school resources in shaping student decisions regarding college choice. She goes beyond Bourdieu to discuss two inter-related concepts which she calls, "organizational habitus" and "parental cultural capital". According to Lareau and Weininger (2003), McDonough defines cultural capital as the "first hand" knowledge that parents may or may not possess regarding the college admission process, particularly that generated from experiences not related to attending school themselves, such as the significance of SAT scores, the utility of private tutors and college counsellors.

Instead of utilizing a limited definition of cultural capital and habitus, two key concepts in Bourdieu's theory of practice, these three studies employ a broader definition of these concepts, allowing the researchers to carefully examine both the institutional and individual-level effects that play into processes of social reproduction. As Lareau and Weininger (2003) argue, "the prospect that teachers reward students' competence in highbrow aesthetic culture becomes merely *one* empirical possibility among others" (p. 586, emphasis in original). Recognizing that there is a multitude of possible interpretations of Bourdieu's work further supports the argument that quantitative researchers using Bourdieu's concepts also need to reconsider the construction of a single measure of cultural capital, or habitus, as the case may be. Rather, these concepts are more a general term given to a variety of measures that present themselves throughout the status attainment process.

Up to this point, my literature review has followed the tradition of grouping theories of cultural and social reproduction into two, distinct approaches: mainstream and critical (Davies, 1995). The former view processes of social reproduction as an inevitable consequence of the organization of the social structure, while critical approaches challenge these processes and question particular institutional structures which are central in perpetuating social inequality, namely the education system. Within these two approaches, one theoretical approach emerges from each as ideally suited for studying young people's educational aspirations and their role in the reproduction of educational inequality. From the mainstream approaches, status attainment theory provides an empirical model that connects family socio-economic status with educational attainment, via aspirations and academic abilities. From the critical approaches, Bourdieu's theory of practice provides insight into the cultural and social processes that comprise the status attainment model. Specifically, through his concepts of cultural capital and habitus, Bourdieu explains the importance of educational aspirations in a model of reproduction linking them both to family SES and outcomes. Together, these two approaches provide a way to more clearly operationalize the processes of social and cultural reproduction, incorporating educational aspirations as a key variable, and to understand the mechanisms that lead to the reproduction of class-based inequalities.

Developing the Analytical Research Model: Incorporating a Life Course Perspective

Having reviewed the various theoretical traditions that have focused on the role of education in the reproduction of social inequality, and having made the argument that Bourdieu's theory of practice can help contextualize and interpret status attainment research, it is time to explicate the analytic model used in this study. While so doing, I will also review a number of relevant empirical (primarily quantitative) studies. It is apparent that, in this research tradition, researchers have taken an implicit, if not explicit, life course approach, focusing on the various stages which a young person must negotiate to make it to the next

phase of their life, for example, completing high school in order to transition into post-secondary education

A life course perspective describes the interweaving of age-specific, timesensitive pathways, such as family and work careers, that are affected by changing social and economic conditions, and also specific role transitions, such as marriage or school completion. Typically defined as a sequence of connected transitions and changes in social roles that occur as an individual gets older, the life course is enacted by individuals but is also structured by larger social institutions and organizations that offer opportunities and put in place constraints (Elder, 1997; Heinz, 2001). Furthermore, the life course is particularly sensitive to the historical and cultural context in which the individual is situated, in terms of social traditions, political structures, and labour market opportunities.

As a methodological technique, Elder argues (1997) that this perspective views human development as a coactive process in which socio-cultural, biological, and psychological forces interact over time. In this way, social structures and cultural constraints constitute key elements in shaping the life course, although an individual's choices and actions may be constrained by these same social structures. Elder (1997) maintains that "the life course is conceived as an age-graded sequence of socially defined roles and events that are enacted and even recast over time. It consists of multiple, interlocking trajectories, such as work and family, with their transitions or changes in states" (p. 983).

Historically, age-graded sequences of socially-defined roles meant something very different from what they mean now. The end of World War II (WWII) marked the beginning of a series of global economic and educational shifts. Prior to WWII, individuals left schooling much earlier than is now the case and began adult roles, such as labour market participation, much younger. When Elder first began studying the life course in the 1960s, the highly normative youth trajectories of the pre-WWII era began to shift to the highly diverse and multifaceted trajectories of contemporary society. Globalization, neo-liberalism, the emergence of non-standard work, along with the national recession of the early 1980s and 1990s radically changed the life course from the post-WWII social structure as an increasing number of young people were opting to remain in school rather than face the uncertainty of the labour market (Statistics Canada, 2003). The expansion of labour market opportunities, the introduction of information technology, and the emergence of the knowledge economy, alongside the wide array of postsecondary options which are now available to youth, have made contemporary life course trajectories increasingly complicated, harder to predict, and highly individualized (Anisef et al., 2000).

The life course approach, stressing the link between social mobility and socio-familial background, also incorporates an intergenerational component. Understanding educational outcomes among youth, such as high school graduation or enrolment in a post-secondary institution, is often made by connecting experiences within and social conditions of the family (e.g., income levels, and parental education) with experiences and availability of institutional programs (e.g., size of high school, student-teacher ratio, or availability of postsecondary institutions within rural communities) with the eventual outcome. The primary objective of research incorporating an intergenerational life course perspective is to connect time A with time B, focusing on the variety of pathways that intersect these two moments. Generally speaking, the strength of this approach is based on its focus on the process and significance of historical and contemporary context by placing individuals within a specific time period and social location, complemented by its ability to highlight the importance of family context, socio-economic variables, and socio-institutional influences.

The Analytic Model

My basic analytic model appears in Figure 2.1. The arrows represent the effect of one variable on another. The model reflects a normative or typical life course sequence which can lead to either a successful outcome or one that is less successful because of personal choices and barriers encountered. The following section will outline the various relationships in the model while also reviewing a variety of relevant quantitative studies.



Figure 2.1: Analytic model

Family Socio-economic Status, Socio-demographics, and Geography/Context

The life course, as argued by many researchers (e.g., Andres, 2002b; Krahn & Hudson, 2006; Lehmann, 2005a; Looker, 2002), has become increasingly complex as society has become more demographically, economically, and institutionally diverse. Differences in socio-economic status and demographic characteristics, in particular, have been associated with differential access to varying degrees of opportunities, with those who are socially disadvantaged having more limited educational choices. As argued by Andres (2002b), "as the paths through societal institutions become more diverse and decisions regarding these routes become more individualized, vigilant monitoring of the outcomes of paths taken – by social class, gender, and race/ethnicity – is essential" (p. 26). Consequently, this heterogeneity holds the potential to increase the polarization between certain segments of the population, particularly between society's 'haves' and 'have-nots'.

Research on educational attainment in particular has identified a wide array of factors that have been associated with differential achievement outcomes. Much of this research can be divided into two general categories, the first with an individual perspective and second with an institutional perspective. In the first category, studies have focused on demographic variables (e.g., gender, ethnicity), family background, school experiences, peers, and the community. Studies with an institutional perspective have concerned themselves with the characteristics or influences within the school that influence educational attainment, including student composition, as well as school resources, organization, and climate.

54

Within Figure 2.1, family SES background, demographic characteristics, and community-context are captured in the left-hand side of the model. The arrows originating from this exogenous category of predictor variables illustrate the highly influential role these variables have on all the others within the model. As defined within the status attainment literature, these ascribed factors are external to the young person in that she or he is typically born into these circumstances. Other researchers refer to such variables as structural constraints (e.g., Lehmann, 2007; Edgerton, 2010; Davies & Guppy, 2006), in contrast to agency, which is understood to be those factors which a young person can exercise some control over, such as school attendance, avoidance of delinquent behaviours, and aspirations.

Family Socio-Economic Status

Socio-economic disadvantage, in the form of low family income, is still a strong predictor of university attendance and instances of continued disadvantage throughout the life course. For example, Frenette (2007b) found that approximately half (50.2%) of youth from families in the top quartile of the income distribution were attending university by age 19, compared to less than a third (31.0%) of youth from the bottom quartile. Even youth from families in the third quartile have distinct advantages over youth in the bottom two quartiles with 43.4% attending university by age 19 (p. 5). However, Christofides, Cirello, and Hoy (2001) show that while attendance rates for postsecondary education (PSE) continue to be lower for youth from low-income families, compared to those from higher income families, this gap has been narrowing. From 1975 to 1993, the

overall percentage of youth, ages 18 to 24, who were attending university rose from 33% to 45%, with an increase from 18% to 44% among youth from the lowest income quintile (p. 181). That said, youth from higher income families not only experience advantage with respect to university participation but they also perform better on standardized testing in the areas of reading, mathematics, and science, generally report higher marks, attend high schools with more universitybound peers, and are less likely to report financial reasons as the primary barrier to not attending university (ibid, p. 5).

Family SES and income have been shown to be highly correlated with parents' education levels, which have been shown to have an influence on the educational attainment of youth. In fact, the proportion of youth involved in PSE increases as the level of parental education rises (Statistics Canada, 2007). In a study of first-generation university students at York University, Grayson (1997) found that traditional university students (i.e., those who have at least one parent with a university degree) had a slightly higher GPA (5.70) than those of firstgeneration university students (5.37) (p. 664). Additionally, Lehmann (2007) found that first-generation students were more likely to discontinue their postsecondary studies early in their first semester, often within the first two months, and did so despite having solid academic performance. They cited not "fitting in" and not being able to "relate to these people" as the primary reasons for withdrawing (p. 105). Lehmann notes that, for many of the working-class, firstgeneration students, attending university confirmed for them the need to pursue a more hands-on, applied post-secondary program which many found at community colleges or in apprenticeships. As these studies suggest, it is not necessarily income alone that determines lower participation rates among lower income youth. Rather, it is a combination of limited resources and knowledge and a disposition at odds with that typically found within the university environment.

Geography/Community Context

Equality of educational opportunity is strongly connected with proximity to post-secondary institutions. For those youth who live within commuting distance to post-secondary educational institutions, such as universities, the likelihood of pursuing formal educational past high school increases (Frenette, 2007a). This is why geography, in the form of region, rural versus urban, and communities/neighbourhoods, has been identified as one of the primary factors influencing educational participation and life course trajectories (Andres & Looker, 2001; Butlin, 1999; Christofides, Cirello, & Hoy, 2001; Looker, 1993, 2001, 2002; Looker & Dwyer, 1998). Generally speaking, urban youth have greater access to post-secondary institutions, including a wide array of universities, technical institutes, and community colleges. For rural youth, pursuing education beyond high school requires leaving the parental home, which can be quite costly. Almost a decade ago, Barr-Telford et. al. (2003) estimated the costs associated with moving away from home to pursue PSE to be approximately \$5,400 per year, which surpassed the costs associated with tuition, school fees, and books, which were estimated to be approximately \$3,700 per year. This helps to explain why youth from lower SES families are less likely to pursue post-secondary studies than youth from higher SES families, particularly

when they are from rural areas where educational access is limited. Not only does being from a rural community translate into lower post-secondary participation rates but, among those who do pursue PSE, it has been found that they are more likely to attend college or CECEP instead of university (Frenette 2007a).⁴

Neighbourhoods, as another geographical unit of analysis, are an important area of inquiry since communities often vary in terms of affluence, ethnic compositions, and availability of resources. In communities where the population is better educated, the mean family income is higher, schools have increased access to resources such as funding and technology, and students perform better academically (Astone a& McLanahan, 1991; Kaplan, 1999; Lareau, 1987; Muller, 1993; Parcel & Dufur, 2001) Research has shown that the composition of students attending a school, such as their average socioeconomic background, can have an effect on the achievement level of the school population, over and above the effects on individual students. Within the educational literature, this is referred to as 'school mix' - "the social class composition of a school's student intake" (Thrupp, 1999, p.5). Thrupp suggests that the idea that school mix has an independent effect on student performance and outcomes challenges much of our understanding about the value added by schools in the so-

⁴ CEGEP is a French acronym for *Collège d'enseignement général et professionnel*, meaning "College of General and Vocational Education". This system has the potential to affect youth from Quebec differently than those from the rest of Canada in that these youth finish their high school studies in grade 11 then spend an additional two years in CEGEP taking either 'preuniversity' or technical classes. For those who want to pursue university studies outside the province of Quebec, CEGEP courses, while recognized by most Canadian universities, will only give credit of up to one year.

called 'school effect'. Thrupp argues that, "aspects of schooling such as student relations, classroom instruction and school organization and management may be powerfully influenced by school mix" (p. 5). Structural factors, including type of school (i.e., private or public), size, and availability of programs (e.g., apprenticeships, language immersion), have also been shown to contribute to school achievement, although the magnitude of the difference is still under debate (Lehmann, 2000, 2005b). School organization (i.e. rules and practices) and climate (i.e. discipline and academic pressure) have also been shown to exert an influence on school achievement (Abbott et al., 1998; Paulson, Marchant, & Rothlisberg, 1998). Structural factors and school organization have taken priority in the school effectiveness research, whereas school mix has often been downplayed within much of this research (Thrupp, 1999, p.5).

Socio-Demographics

Gender inequality has been shown to exist in educational and occupational choices, experiences, and attainment (for additional information, refer to Krahn, Lowe, & Hughes, 2011, Chapter 4). Alongside the additional pressures that familial responsibility and marriage can play for women, gender differences can lead to variations in life course trajectories and problematize the sequencing of their transitions. For example, research has consistently demonstrated, whether in relation to participation in particular academic subjects, employment status and income levels, or in relation to career/family balance, the different choices and experiences of men and women can lead to persistent social inequalities. However, the educational situation of women is improving in some areas. As

reported by Statistics Canada (2007), more women than men are participating in PSE, in both universities and colleges indicating that the gender balance may be shifting. Although, it is important to note that while females are participating in post-secondary studies more frequently than their male counterparts, there is still a large gender divide with respect to field of study. Males are still overrepresented in graduate studies, particular doctoral studies, where they account for 54% of doctorate registrations (The Daily, 2008). And females are still widely underrepresented in the areas of mathematics, computer and information sciences, and architecture, engineering, and related technologies (ibid. 2008), fields of study that lead to higher incomes following graduation.

Visible minority status, or race and ethnicity, have also been shown to affect the educational transitions made by Canadian youth. The difficulties visible minorities encounter during their educational transitions may be a function of living in low income households which, as previously illustrated, can have a lasting impact on the life course trajectories of youth. Millan and Tran (2004) show that 44% of Black children live in low-income families, compared to only 19% of non-Black children. However, recent reports have shown that visible minority groups are more likely to participate in post-secondary education, particularly university (Statistics Canada, 2007). In fact, 62% of visible minority youth enrolled in university compared to 48% of non-visible minorities (ibid, 2007). Anisef and Kilbridge (2004) associate the ability of visible minority immigrant youth to achieve so well academically to "ethnic resilience," which can be defined as the ability to foster personal achievement despite the social stress
and familial instability associated with immigrating to a new country. According to Chow (2004), greater academic achievement has been associated with close community ties and ethnic capital, which Borjas (1992) defines as "the average quality of the ethnic environment in which parents make their investments" (p. 124).

On the other hand, among adult immigrants, disparities in labour market performance have been shown to be a consequence of foreign qualifications and occupational training (Alboim, Finnie, & Meng, 2005; Li, 2001b; Reitz, 2005; Tran, 2004; Worswick, 2004). In fact, studies have documented that these difficulties have led to greater instances of poverty among immigrants in the past few decades (Picot & Sweetman, 2005). Among refugee youth in particular, the presence of pre-migration factors, such as reaction to trauma, separation and loss, in combination with the intergenerational conflict that occurs between parents and children due to role reversal where youth often adapt to their host country much quicker than their parents, have all been shown to have a lasting effect on academic success (Wilkinson, 2002). Given the relationship between socioeconomic disadvantages associated with low-income, lower levels of educational attainment, and language barriers, one could assume that these disadvantages should translate into disadvantages across the life course for many of these young people. However, as previously noted, immigrant youth, in general, often academically outperform their native-born counterparts (Krahn & Taylor, 2005).

However, not all visible minority youth are experiencing increased levels of educational success. There is extensive research that illustrates the precarious relationship between being a visible minority youth and encountering various educational barriers (Anisef & Kilbride, 2004; Davies & Guppy, 1998; MacLeod, 1995). Most researchers suggest that elements such as lower academic expectations held by teachers and school authorities, the absence of visibleminority teachers, Eurocentric curricula that do not reflect the history or experiences of ethnic groups, language barriers, and possible conflict in value systems all contribute to difficulties visible minority youth face within the education system. For example, using 1991 Census data, Davies and Guppy (1998) found that young Black Canadians experience mixed academic attainment, in the form of above-average high school completion rates but below-average university completion rates.

Unfortunately, while particular visible minority youth are experiencing mixed levels education success, Aboriginal youth are experiencing disadvantage across all measures of educational achievement. Although the percentage of Aboriginal youth attending university has steadily increased in recent years, these percentages are still much lower than the overall Canadian percentages of university attendance (Statistics Canada 1995) Furthermore, it has been shown that only 9% of those youth who initially attend university will subsequently graduate, compared to 18% of non-First Nations students (Frideres, 1998). Understanding the educational experiences of First Nations students requires a sensitivity to the impact of racism and how historical events affect Aboriginal students on an individual and systemic basis (Clark et al., 1999). In their research on facilitating educational success among Aboriginal students in Canada, Hampton and Roy (2002) found that most students noted experiences of racism from both non-native students and instructors, as well as from institutional policies. Hampton and Roy conclude that being aware of historical racism and inequalities will help instructors minimize these effects and in turn may encourage higher rates of educational attainment among First Nations students.

Explicating the Analytic Model

The differences in educational participation and attainment found between different groups of youth, as presented in this overview, are often associated with differential access to varying degrees of opportunities. The inter-connectivity of multiple disadvantages, such as being a low-income member of a visible minority, can further limit the transitional choices available to many youth. For this reason, it becomes increasingly important to understand which routes such groups of youth are negotiating and what the outcomes of these paths will be. As it is an unfortunate reality of Canadian society that access to post-secondary education is not equal across all social strata, it is imperative that researchers understand the connection between education and socio-economic determinants, between access to resources and life course trajectories, and the ability of particular groups of youth to overcome social barriers in their pursuit of post-secondary education.





In Figure 2.1 (also presented earlier on page 48), the arrows from family socio-economic status (SES), socio-demographics, and geography to parental educational aspirations, to youth's educational aspirations, to high school achievement (grade 12 marks), and to post-secondary educational attainment represent the profound effect these exogenous variables can have. They are highly influential in informing the habitus of youth. Unequal distribution of family resources, living in a lower SES community within an economically disadvantaged region, and being a member of a disadvantaged socio-demographic group can all shape the way in which one comes to view the social world and one's odds of achieving particular goals, and can shape educational and occupational aspirations. In this study, family SES is operationalized using parental educational attainment, household income, and occupational classification (more details are provided in Chapter 3).

Parental Educational Aspirations

The arrows in Figure 2.1 from parental educational aspirations represent the effect this variable has on their children's educational aspirations, grade 12 marks, and educational attainment. The assumption is that higher parental educational aspirations, operationalized as a three-category measure (university, college, high school or less) will lead to increased aspiration levels among the youths themselves and, in turn, create educational success. Following Bourdieu, parental cultural capital and habitus, contextualized by family SES, sociodemographics, and geography, influence the level of importance parents place on education. Parents who place high levels of importance on education are more likely to encourage their children to do well in high school and to aspire to higher levels of post-secondary education.

Youth's Educational Aspirations

The arrows from youth's educational aspirations to high school achievement (ie., grade 12 marks) and to post-secondary educational attainment represent the impacts that educational aspirations are hypothesized to have on educational outcomes via grades and post-secondary attainment. Aspirations, the central concept explored in this dissertation, are hypothesized to be positively associated with high school grades and post-secondary educational attainment. Again, following Bourdieu, aspirations are a reflection of habitus. So, stated differently, habitus influences educational aspirations. From family resources, socio-demographics, and geography comes a class ethos or habitus. Habitus comes to be acted out in young people's aspirations and goals, and through their educational participation and attainment. However, this is where the first major research question of this dissertation becomes critically important: are young people's educational aspirations really meaningful? Can we consider them to be a reflection of habitus vis-à-vis social class, social demographics, and geography?

High School Achievement

The arrow from high school achievement (grade 12 marks) to educational attainment represents the effect that grade 12 marks have on post-secondary educational attainment. Colleges and universities set specific admission standards and these standards are correlated with the status of the credentials these postsecondary institutions provide, so students with higher grades have an increased array of PSE options available to them. Moreover, it could be argued that youth who have higher PSE aspirations, particularly university attendance, will be more focused during their high school years and achieve higher levels of high school educational success, measured through high school grades. Recall that family SES, demographics, and geography are modeled as contributing factors for high school achievement. Family resources, particularly parental education, can have a large effect on how well a young person performs within the high school system. Earlier in this chapter, cultural capital was explored as a concept reflecting educationally-relevant tastes and dispositions, or more broadly, as "an instrument for the appropriation of symbolic wealth" (Bourdieu, 1971, p. 488). Given this definition, in a home where educationally-relevant cultural capital is limited, youth will be less likely to focus and succeed in the education system. Furthermore, even if youth in such families aspire to do well, they may encounter

difficulties translating their aspirations into reality. This discussion highlights the second major research question of this dissertation, do higher educational aspirations translate into higher levels of post-secondary attainment?

Habitus

As already noted several times, in Figure 2.1 the circle surrounding the endogenous variables in the analytic model represents Bourdieu's concept of habitus. As habitus is shaped by family socio-economic status, social-demographics, and geography and, in turn, affects a young person's familial and social experiences, it is represented by a larger circle. While habitus, a complex and multi-dimensional theoretical concept, is not directly operationalized in this study, the data analyses in subsequent chapters, guided by the analytic model in Figure 2.1, are nevertheless focusing directly on, and will be interpreted through, this concept.

Research Questions

Chapter 3 discusses the data set analyzed in this dissertation, along with the operationalization of key variables. In Chapter 4, the following research questions will be addressed:

- 1. Are educational aspirations meaningful? That is to say, are they simply ephemeral and fleeting attitudes, or are they consistent across time within individuals and do they vary in consistent ways within and between groups of youth in a manner that can help us understand patterns of social inequality?
- 2. Does post-secondary educational participation systematically vary in predictable ways among youth, particularly with respect to university participation?

3. Do educational aspirations at age 15 inform patterns of educational participation at age 19?

The analysis continues in Chapter 5 which asks the following questions:

- 1. Do family socio-economic, individual demographic, and geographic factors, along with parents' aspirations for their children, have direct or indirect (via aspirations at age 15) effects on educational participation at age 19?
- 2. Do the educational aspirations young people have at age 15 have a direct effect on educational participation at age 19, over and above the indirect effects they have via grade 12 grades, which were shown in Chapter 4 to affect post-secondary educational participation?
- 3. Are young people who have acquired more post-secondary education by age 19 more likely to have maintained their educational aspirations by age 19?

Another level of analysis is introduced in Chapter 6, where I attempt to answer

two additional research questions:

- 1. What effect, if any, does high school quality have on the educational attainment process? In other words, controlling on the socio-economic, attitudinal, and demographic variables already examined in Chapters 4 and 5, are schools with different characteristics and different levels of resources a site where the reproduction of social inequality across generations can be ameliorated?
- 2. Does school quality affect the relationships between socio-economic, attitudinal, and demographic variables and educational aspirations at age 15, as well as educational participation at age 19?

Chapter 3: Research Methods and Statistical Procedures

This chapter provides information about how the data used in this study were collected and about the statistical analyses employed. It begins with a discussion of the project design, the survey content, and the sampling procedures of the Youth in Transition Survey. This is followed by a description of the variables used in this study and the statistical models and analysis strategies undertaken.

Overview of the Youth in Transition Survey Project Design and Data Base

Canada's ongoing policy interest in youth and education, with particular focus on the costs and benefits of education for both individuals and society and the long-term inequalities that arise from unequal levels of educational attainment among youth, highlighted a need for a longitudinal survey of young Canadians. The Youth in Transition Survey (YITS) was developed in partnership by Human Resources and Skills Development Canada (HRSDC) and Statistics Canada, in consultation with provincial and territorial ministries and departments of labour and education, to address this need and to focus on the measurement of major transitions in young people's lives, including educational and labour market experiences (Statistics Canada, 2005, p. 7).

The YITS was designed to allow researchers to examine the school-work transitions of youth and the factors which may discourage the successfulness of said transitions. Central to accomplishing this goal was the creation of a longitudinal dataset that would allow an in-depth analysis of young peoples' experiences within secondary schooling, the formation of educational and occupational aspirations, and the effect of family background and schools on educational outcomes (Statistics Canada, 2000). To accomplish this, a survey that began with an exploration of early high school experiences, accompanied by a series of follow-up surveys that had the potential to explore such issues as high school retention, accessibility of post-secondary education, post-secondary retention, was required.

Age 15 was selected as the starting point for Cycle One data collection as many youth within this age group are beginning their transition into high school, are beginning to form educational and occupational aspirations, and are beginning to establish independence from their parents. These realities, in conjunction with the fact that compulsory education ends at age 16 in Canada, means that age 15 is the best choice for capturing the largest proportion of youth in their early high school years (Statistics Canada, 2000, p.12). Using age 15 as a starting point for the YITS also allowed the data to be integrated with the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA), a project of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) ⁵. The focus of the PISA project was to undertake an international assessment of the skills and knowledge of 15-year-olds in the areas of reading, science and mathematics (Statistics Canada, 2005).

While the young people themselves were the focus of the Youth in Transition Survey, questionnaires were also administered to both the parents and

⁵ More information on PISA can be found at <u>www.pisa.oecd.org</u>

school principals of participating youth during Cycle One. The parent survey was used to collect information about the parents and their household, including family socio-economic status and early childhood experiences, such as parental divorce or repeating a grade in school. The school questionnaire included questions about the type of school attended and the types of academic programs that are offered, such as French Immersion (Statistics Canada, 2005, p. 9).

The YITS was chosen for this study over other large-scale Canadian datasets with an education focus, such as the National Longitudinal Survey of Children and Youth or the Postsecondary Student Information System, because of its structure and focus. The YITS focuses on the educational and career pathways of youth, with particular emphasis on the variety and timing of key transitions which shape these pathways. Major life transitions, as defined by Schlossberg (1989), provide a new role and involve four key changes: a new set of responsibilities, a change in relationships with others, a change in daily routine, and an adjustment of assumptions about oneself or the world (Statistics Canada, 2000, p.19). The key school-work transitions measured in the YITS, which are central to this dissertation, include completing high school, entering postsecondary education, and dropping out of either secondary or post-secondary schooling. Additionally, the YITS includes measures of the following factors which are crucial for obtaining answers to my primary research questions: sociodemographic information; school characteristics; academic achievement; school engagement; parental socio-economic status; social and cultural capital; family history; and educational aspirations.

The YITS is a longitudinal dataset which, to date, consists of five cycles, collected every two years starting in the year 2000 when the youth were 15 years old.⁶ The current research uses data from the first three cycles, collected in 2000, 2002, and 2004, to explore links between family background, youth aspirations, school setting, and initial post-secondary participation. The decision to focus on only the first three cycles rather than all five cycles was based, in part, on the timing of Statistics Canada data releases relative to the stage I was at in my doctoral studies⁷, but also because of the substantive focus of my dissertation. This study is an exploration of the relationship between educational aspirations at age 15 years and *initial* post-secondary educational enrolment. The inclusion of a fourth cycle of data would not substantially advance this focus as the youth would only be 21 years of age and very few would have finished university. Including cycle 5 data, when sample members were 23, would have shifted the focus to the attainment of post-secondary credentials, an equally important and interesting topic, but not the topic I chose for my dissertation.

During these three cycles, survey content changed to reflect movement of youth into a new stage of the life course. In Cycle One, when the young people

⁶ In addition to the current five cycles of the YITS 15 year-old cohort, the Youth in Transition Survey project also surveyed an older cohort of youth who were 18 to 20 years of age (born between 1979 and 1981).

⁷ I defended my dissertation proposal (a plan to analyze cycle 1 to 3) in April of 2008, after already becoming familiar with the complex YITS data base. Cycle 4 became available soon after, but writing a new Research Data Centre (RDC) proposal and waiting for Statistics Canada approval would have set me back a number of additional months. Cycle 5 data became available in the University of Alberta RDC in spring of 2010, about the time I was completing the first draft of my dissertation.

were 15 years of age, the YITS focused on factors which might influence future transitions, such as academic achievement, school experiences, early labour market participation, the influence of peers, educational and labour market aspirations, and family background and parental aspirations and expectations for their child (Statistics Canada, 2000, p. 21).

In Cycles Two and Three, when the youth were 17 and 19 years of age respectively, the focus shifted to include questions about educational and occupational expectations, the linkages between education and career choice, participation in programs which focus on work preparation and preparation for post-secondary education, and barriers to participation in post-secondary education. This shift in focus reflects life course transition changes which can occur during these crucial years (ages 15 to 19), including the possibility of having left secondary schooling, entering the labour market full-time, or having progressed into post-secondary education. In addition, for many youth of this age, establishing independence from their parents is a major focus which may include leaving the parental home and establishing themselves as emerging adults.

Sampling and Data Collection Methods

The target population for the YITS 15 year-old cohort included youth born in 1984 who were attending a Canadian school at the time the survey was administered. Home-schooled youth were excluded. A two-staged sampling design was used with the first stage focusing on individual schools (a total of 1,200 were selected; information on 1,117 is available in the data set). The second stage of the sampling design focused on individual students within the selected schools. Schools were selected from the ten Canadian provinces, with the exception of schools located on First Nations Reserves⁸ and various other types of schools where administration of the survey would not be feasible, such as schools for children with severe learning disabilities, and schools for the blind and deaf. Thus, as discussed in more detail below, while the population surveyed included a very large majority of Canadian 15 year-olds, some of the most significantly disadvantaged were excluded from the sampling frame.

Given that one of the objectives of the YITS was to examine the role schools play in determining particular student outcomes, the measurement of school effects had major implications for the survey design. Schools were first targeted as the primary sampling unit and then classrooms within those schools were selected as a means for generating a representative sample of youth. As data collection commenced in the spring of 2000, Ministries and Departments of Education were asked to provide an enrolment list from the fall term to capture those youth who may have dropped out during the current school year. Since dropping out of school is often more of a process than an event, using school records from the fall as the basis for the survey's sampling frame was hoped to reduce potential bias in the same (Statistics Canada, 2000, p.14). However, in the majority of provinces, information was only available on enrolment for the previous school year. In addition, two provinces did not have information on

⁸ While this data collected information from First Nations students who live off-reserve, the exclusion of students living on-reserve represents a significant deficiency in the data. Students living on reserve represent some of Canada's most vulnerable youth who experience educational disadvantages that differ from those living off-reserve.

enrolment by age; therefore, information by grade was used as a proxy for age for such cases. Within each school, across classrooms, a minimum of thirty-five students were randomly selected to participate; all students aged 15 were selected in those schools with fewer than thirty-five students within that age group. Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, Quebec, Ontario, and Manitoba required separate PISA (Programme for International Student Assessment) assessments according to whether English or French was the language of instruction in the school. This meant that in some provinces where there was a small population of 15-year old students, or small populations of students in a particular language group, samples of more than thirty-five students per school were necessary.

Students who were selected to participate completed the YITS student questionnaire, as well as the PISA assessment and PISA student questionnaire during class time. Following the completion of the student questionnaires, parents of selected students were asked to participate in the YITS parent interview. This survey was completed by telephone. School principals were also asked to complete the PISA School Administrator's Questionnaire.

In Cycle Two, collected in 2002 and Cycle Three, collected in 2004, attempts were made by telephone to contact the original respondents from the preceding cycle. To facilitate this process, the sample file included the respondent's name, address and telephone number, as well as additional addresses and phone numbers where possible (Statistics Canada, 2006, p. 27). This provided the interviewer with potential leads to help contact the original respondent. If the respondent could not be contacted, the interview could not take place as proxy interviews were not permitted. The following table shows the sample size by province and by cycle.⁹

Province	Sample Size at Cycle 1	Sample Size at Cycle 2	Sample Size at Cycle 3
Newfoundland and Labrador	2,555	2,281	2,161
Prince Edward Island	1,844	1,632	1,482
Nova Scotia	3,320	2,930	2,612
New Brunswick	3,301	2,963	2,518
Quebec	5,024	4,497	4,124
Ontario	5,557	4,290	3,859
Manitoba	2,955	2,599	2,428
Saskatchewan	2,971	2,716	2,526
Alberta	3,137	2,742	2,487
British Columbia	3,611	3,037	2,648
All Provinces	34,275	29,687	26,845

 Table 3.1: YITS sample allocation by province, by survey cycle

Source: Statistics Canada, Youth in Transition - 19 year-olds User Guide - Cycle 3, p. 61

The sample sizes in Table 3.1 include respondents who participated in either the YITS study, the PISA study, or both studies. For this research, those youth who did not participate in both studies (4,945 cases affected), whose parents did not participate (2,769 cases affected), who were not in grade 10 during the first cycle (6,268 cases affected), or who had conflicting information about their sex across the three cycles (102 cases affected) were not included in the analyses. Hence, the final sample size was 16,842.

⁹ Note that some respondents may have moved to another province or outside of Canada between cycles. Table 3.1 shows the sample distribution based on province of residence at the time of data collection. In addition, as the target population during Cycle One was individuals living in Canada, respondents who moved out-of-country between cycles remained eligible for future cycles. There were few such cases (Statistics Canada, 2006, p. 61).

Potential Study Limitations

This section outlines issues concerning data quality, in terms of sampling error and non-response, as well as addressing issues of sample representativeness.

Sampling Error

As previously stated, the sample derived in this survey comes first from schools, and then secondly, from students. Due to the inherent error that arises from all survey data, from over- and under-sampling, as well as from attrition across waves of data collection, the Statistics Canada research team assigned to the YITS program computed cycle weights which were used throughout this analysis. These weights allowed for the use of various tests of significance to evaluate whether the results of this study could be generalized to Canadian youth within the same age cohort. In this study, results were evaluated at the p<.001 level of statistical significance unless otherwise noted.

Non-Sampling Error

Errors not associated with the sampling frame are inherent to every survey; however, measures were taken with the YITS to minimize such errors. Examples of non-sampling errors include such things as interviewer or data entry errors. Quality assurance measures were implemented at each stage of the data collection process and included the use of highly skilled interviewers, extensive interviewer training, and observation to detect problems of questionnaire design or misunderstanding questionnaire instructions (Statistics Canada, 2006, p. 66).

The largest source of non-sampling error for the YITS data was associated with non-response. The extent of non-response encompasses both failure to answer particular questions or total non-response due to the interviewer being unable to contact the respondent or the respondent declining to participate. In general, partial non-response was not a problem with the exception of a few questions (Statistics Canada, 2006, p. 66). However, it should be noted that questions which were prone to non-response did not include income variables or derived variables computed from more than one variable. The current research was not adversely affected by non-response.¹⁰ Total overall non-response was addressed by adjusting the weight of responding individuals to compensate for those which did not respond.

Table 3.2 presents the response rates by province. These rates are not weighted and are based on the initial YITS sample count. Due to sampling which employed a funnelling approach where only those who responded to the previous cycle were eligible to participate, the final sample size for cycle three was 26,845 (Statistics Canada, 2006, p. 67). Respondent counts include those individuals who were interviewed, persons who were contacted but were confirmed to be outside the YITS target population based on year of birth, and those who were confirmed to be deceased. Individuals in the last two groups were included in the respondent counts and designated as 'special status' because all relevant information, such as their inability to participate in the study based on valid information, was provided.

¹⁰ Information on non-response for specific variables can be found within the corresponding codebook for each cycle.

	Response Rate at Cycle 1	Response Rate at Cycle 2	Response Rate at Cycle 3	Longitudinal Response
Province	(%)	(%)	(%)	Rate (%)
Newfoundland and				
Labrador	89.7	94.8	83.6	71.1
Prince Edward Island	88.5	91.1	84.6	68.2
Nova Scotia	88.3	89.2	83.7	65.9
New Brunswick	89.8	85.0	83.9	64.1
Quebec	89.5	91.8	84.1	69.1
Ontario	78.2	90.0	84.3	59.3
Manitoba	88.0	93.5	82.2	67.6
Saskatchewan	91.4	93.3	90.6	77.2
Alberta	87.4	90.8	88.7	70.4
British Columbia	84.1	87.3	77.4	56.8
All Provinces	86.6	90.5	84.3	66.1

 Table 3.2: Provincial response rates - cycles 1 through 3

Source: Youth in Transition - 19 year-olds User Guide - Cycle 3, p. 67

Sample Representativeness

Despite careful attention given to collecting the YITS data through random sampling of schools and students, the final YITS sample was not fully representative of the Canadian student population. To account for this, survey weights were incorporated into the analysis so results would be representative of the population of students who were attending school in the year 2000. The weights did not correct for the omission of on-reserve First Nations students and those in other specialized schools, such as schools for the blind, as these schools were not included in the original sampling frame. The initial weight for each student was calculated based on the probability of selection of schools in the sample and the probability of a student being selected within each school. This weight was then adjusted a total of three times to account for various forms of non-response, school non-response, student non-response, and Ontario nonconsent form adjustment (Statistics Canada, 2005, p. 61).¹¹ An additional three adjustments were made in order to obtain the final parent weights (ibid, p. 61).

School, student, and parent non-response adjustment

As schools which declined to participate were not replaced by another school and were generally not typical of those schools which did participate, it was necessary to adjust for school-level non-response. This was accomplished by grouping schools into comparable categories by using measures of stratification, such as whether the school was a public or private institution or was in a rural or urban community; as such measures have been shown to affect student outcomes (Statistics Canada, 2005, p. 61). Then, within each grouping, weights were calculated to compensate for the missing schools. At the student level, adjustments were made within schools for those who were eligible but decided not to participate. In most cases, student non-response was corrected by using students from the same school (ibid, p. 61). The non-response among parents was approximately 10%, with family structure, index of wealth, and the reading ability of the student all found to significantly impact the likelihood of the parent to

¹¹ The various forms of non-response included school non-response, as schools which declined to participate were not replaced by another school. Student non-response came in the form of those who were eligible to participate but declined to do so. In most cases, such students were represented by students from the same school. The third form of non-response came from students in Ontario. These students were required to provide a signed parental consent form permitting their data to be shared. As a result, data collected from students who did not provide a signed consent form could not be used. Exploratory analysis, conducted by the Statistics Canada research team, revealed that there were differences between students who provided signed consent forms compared to those who did not. As such, a separate adjustment was made in the weighting process. Affected variables included: type of school (public/private), scores in PISA skills assessment, parents' participation in the parent survey and family structure (Statistics Canada, 2005, p. 61).

participate in the survey (Statistics Canada, 2005, p.62). These measures were then used to calculate the weight adjustment for parental non-response.

As this study uses data from the first three waves of the Youth in Transition Survey, Cycle Three weights, adjusting for non-response that occurred after cycle 2, were employed. To account for respondents who participated in Cycle Two but did not participate in Cycle Three, the Cycle Two weights were proportionally increased so that the sum of their adjusted weights would equal the sum of the Cycle Two weights (Statistics Canada, 2006, p.75). Although the response rate for Cycle Three was high (see Table 3.2 above), analysis of nonresponse patterns undertaken by Statistics Canada revealed that non-response adjustment should focus on certain variables, specifically, province, language, reading scale at cycle 1, overall marks at Cycle One, family structure, and a dichotomous variable identifying acceptance by the parents to share their data at Cycle One (ibid, p. 75). Although there was no parent questionnaire in Cycle Three, a parent weight was derived to allow the parent data collected in Cycle One to be combined with the Cycle Three data. A subset of the Cycle Three student sample containing only those records where the parents participated in the Cycle One questionnaire was created. This subset contained 24,397 respondents. This dataset was weighted using the same approach used for the full sample weights (Statistics Canada, 2006, p.75).

The final weight for the Cycle Three contains respondents who participated at Cycle Three and whose parents participated at Cycle One (Statistics Canada, 2006, p.76). Additionally, those students who were coded inconsistently on the sex variable across the three waves of data were also dropped from the final analysis. This final weight was then translated into a normalized weight to deflate the dataset back down to the final number of respondents rather than the total population of 15-year old Canadian youth attending grade 10 in the year 2000. This was necessary since, if the population N was used for statistical analyses rather than the sample N, virtually all relationships would be statistically significant, no matter how small they might be. The normalized weight was calculated using the following formula:

Normalized Weight = <u>Cycle Three weight</u> (Population N ÷ sample N)

Differential Age of Respondents

As previously stated, the sample for the current study has been limited to exclude those youth whose parents did not respond to the parent questionnaire, and who were mismatched in their response to the sex variable (i.e., responded inconsistently between waves of data collection), and to only include youth who were 15 years old and in grade 10 when Cycle One data were collected. By including only those youth who were in grade 10 in the first wave of the study, I was able to avoid some of the potential problems associated with achievement bias. Because of the month in which they were born or because of provincial policies regarding when a young person can enter the school system, some youth might have an advantage or disadvantage because they are either older or younger than their peers. By focusing only on those who were in grade ten during the first wave of data collection, my goal was to create an equal starting point in which to evaluate subsequent transitions.

Exclusion of Aboriginal Youth

Another potential limitation of the YITS is the exclusion of particular groups of research subjects. In particular, data collection was limited to schools where questionnaire dissemination was feasible, therefore excluding schools for the blind and disabled, as well as those youth who were home schooled. Furthermore, schools in the northern territories were also excluded in the sampling frame. In addition, schools on Indian Reserves were not surveyed, thereby excluding Canada's most vulnerable youth. Aboriginal youth under the age of 25 represent more than half of today's Canada's Aboriginal population (Townsend & Wernick, 2008, p.4). The reality of this demographic shift means that in upcoming years, these young people will come to influence the social fabric of Canada's cultural, political, and economic landscape in a very substantial way. The median age among Aboriginal Canadians was 24.5 years, compared to 37.2 for the Canadian population in general. By 2026, it is projected that the median age of the Aboriginal population will be 31.0 years, compared to 43.3 years for the Canadian population in general (Steffler, 2008, p.15). Therefore, it becomes increasingly important to understand current patterns of educational participation among First Nations youth and the various educational pathways they follow between adolescence and early adulthood when decisions to graduate high school and possibly pursue post-secondary studies either do or do not translate into a reality.

As of 2001, there was still a substantial divide between the registered Aboriginal population and other Canadians with respect to educational attainment. This is particularly true among 20 to 24 year olds who hold a high school diploma or higher. As seen in Table 3.3, approximately 50% of registered Aboriginals hold at least a high school diploma compared to 84% of all other Canadians. This represents an almost 35% gap between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal groups. With quantitative differences such as these, one can clearly see the differences that exist between these two groups with respect to educational participation and attainment.

 Table 3.3: Educational attainment, Registered Indians and other

 Canadian youth (15-29), 1981 and 2001

	1981	2001
High School Certificate or higher: Age 20-24		
Registered Indians	34.5	50.5
Other Canadians	69.5	84.4
Gap	35	33.9

.....

Source: Hope or Heartbreak: Aboriginal Youth and Canada's Future (March 2008), *Horizons*. Vol.10, No.1, p.28.

Similar trends of educational attainment were observed among those First Nations and Registered Indians who live on or off reserves. For those who live on a reserve, regardless of whether they are First Nations or Registered Indians, educational attainment levels are lower than among those who live off reserve. In particular, as observed in Table 3.4, 50% of those living on reserve have less than a high school diploma compared to 30% of those who live off reserve. On the opposite end of the spectrum, those individuals who live off-reserve are more likely than those living on reserve to have a university degree (5% difference). However, among both on and off reserve populations, less than 10% have a

university degree compared to 23% of the overall Canadian population. As well,

among the general Canadian population, the frequency of those who obtained less

than a high school diploma is significantly lower than the on and off reserve

populations (15% compared to 50% and 31% respectively). Findings such as

these highlight the significant differences that exist between Canada's Aboriginal

populations compared to the Canadian population at large.

Table 3.4: Proportion of the First Nations people and Registered Indiansaged 25 to 64 living on and off reserve by level of educational attainment,Canada, 2006

			Trades		University	Univer-
	< high	High	certifi-	College	below	sity
	school	school	cates	diploma	bachelor	degree
First Nations/						
Registered						
Indians				%		
First Nations						
people ¹ living on						
reserve	50	15	13	14	4	4
First Nations						
people1 living off						
reserve	30	24	14	20	4	9
Registered Indians						
living ² on reserve	50	15	13	14	4	4
Registered Indians						
living ² off reserve	31	23	13	19	4	9
Canadian						
Population as a						
whole	15	24	12	20	5	23

Notes:

1. Includes person who reported a North American Indian Identity only.

2. Includes persons who reported being Registered or Treaty Indians as defined by the *Indian Act* of Canada, regardless of their Aboriginal Identity.

Source: Statistics Canada, Aboriginal Peoples in Canada in 2006: Inuit, Metis, and First Nations, 2006 Census Catalogue no. 97-558-XIE

Within YITS, off-reserve Aboriginal youth are not categorized as

members of visible minority groups; instead, they have been included in the

'Caucasian' category on all measures of visible minority status. But as the above data demonstrate, on many measures of educational attainment and participation Aboriginal youth are not comparable to their Caucasian counterparts. Nevertheless, Aboriginal youth living off reserve are not as severely disadvantaged as their on-reserve counterparts, thereby minimizing the negative impact of Statistics Canada having not maintained an "Aboriginal" indicator within the YITS database.

Operationalizing Variables

The following section specifies which questionnaire items will be used to measure the concepts discussed in Chapter 2. Figure 3.1 identifies both the concepts and the operationalized variables for this study.





Exogenous Variables

As outlined below, the exogenous variables used in this study are standard demographic measures employed in educational status attainment research.

Family Socio-economic Status

Socio-economic status was initially measured in this study using three indicators, parental education, household income, and occupational classification. All three variables were calculated at the household level, thus reflecting levels of various types of capital to which the youth in this study were exposed on a daily basis as they were growing up.

Parental Educational Attainment

Parental educational attainment was operationalized by computing a single variable that measured the highest level of education ever completed by either parent, as reported by the "person most knowledgeable" (PMK). The final computed variable distinguished those households where neither parent had completed a university degree, from those where only one parent had completed a university degree, and those where both parents completed a university degree. Within this variable, there was a fair amount of missing information for both the responding parent and for the spouse/partner of the responding parent. Specifically, in the original data, 662 responding parents indicated they did not know, refused to answer, or did not state their highest level of education. An additional 328 cases were missing for the spouse/partner of the responding parent due to do not know, refused to answer, or not stated. The final distribution is presented in Table 3.5 which shows that just under one-third of the youth in this study came from families where at least one parent had a university degree.

Education levels	Ν	%
No degrees	9015	68.1
One degree	2480	18.7
Two degrees	1738	13.1
Total	13232	100.0

 Table 3.5: Highest level of parental educational attainment within the household

Total household income

The YITS database includes a combined total household income measure as a derived variable, reflecting the total income of both the PMK and their spouse (if applicable). This variable was calculated by the Statistics Canada research team from responses to nine income-related questions collected during the parent interview. The final variable was a continuous variable ranging from no-income (or zero dollars) to over \$90,000. For the current analysis, this variable was collapsed into 6 discrete categories. The final distribution is presented in Table 3.6. It shows that 12.3% of youth come from families where the annual household income is less than \$30,000 and over 20% come from families where the household income is \$90,000 or more. Approximately less than half of the YITS respondents come from households where the annual income is less than \$60,000.

Income categories	Ν	%
>\$30,000	2068	12.3
\$30K - \$44,999	2409	14.3
\$45K - \$59,999	2861	17.0
\$60K - \$74,999"	2876	17.1
\$75K - \$89,999	3064	18.2
\$90K +	3565	21.2
Total	16842	100.0

 Table 3.6:
 Total household income

Family Structure

The YITS database includes a question on the family structure in which the youth is currently residing. The original Statistics Canada variable contained 23 categories. For the current analysis, this variable was collapsed into 4 discrete categories. The final distribution is presented in Table 3.7. It shows that the majority of youth reside in 'intact' families (these are dual-biological or dualadoptive parent families). Only a small percentage (0.9%) lives in 'other' arrangements which include those youth living in foster homes.

	Ν	%
Intact	12301	73.2
Step-parent	1838	10.9
Lone-parent	2523	15.0
Other	147	.90
Total	16809	100.0

$1 \mathbf{\alpha} \mathbf{\gamma} 1 \mathbf{\gamma} \mathbf{\gamma} \mathbf{\gamma} 1 \mathbf{\alpha} 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1$	Table	3.7:	Family	structure
---	-------	------	--------	-----------

Household National Occupational Classification (NOC) Level

Using the 2001 National Occupational Classification (NOC) matrix (Human Resources Development Canada, 2001), the four-digit occupation codes accessible through the YITS data for both the PMK and their spouse were coded into four skill-level categories (A through D), alongside management occupations, as defined by Human Resources Development Canada. The National Occupational Classification (NOC) is the nationally accepted taxonomy of occupations in the Canadian labour market. It is used to analyze information about occupations by identifying both skill type and skill levels, which is generally defined as the amount of education and training required to participate in a specific occupation. Skill Level A is defined as that which requires a university degree. Skill Level B generally requires some form of post-secondary education (two to three years) or apprenticeship training and may include occupations with supervisory or significant health and safety responsibilities. Those defined as Skill Level C require approximately one year of post-secondary education or up to two years of on-the-job training. Occupations that fall within Skill Level D require only short on-the-job training and have no formal educational requirements.

Within the original data, both Standard Occupational Classification (SOC) and North American Industry Classification (NAICS) were provided by Statistics Canada and these were used to determine the NOC coding. Given the wide range of skills and qualifications required for occupations in management, I undertook additional analysis to determine which skill level these respondents' occupations most resembled. It was decided that these respondents would be collapsed into the skill level category A. The final variable reflects the highest occupational skill level in the household (Table 3.8) and shows that approximately 57% of youth have at least one parent in a class A occupation or in management. Only

1.2% of youth have both parents working in a class D occupation, which is defined as an unskilled occupation.

	Ν	%
At least one A or Management	9570	57.2
At least one B	5243	31.4
At least one C	1701	10.2
Both parents D	205	1.2
Total	16719	100.0

Table 3.8 Household occupational level

Socio-demographic Variables

Sex

Sex of the respondent was coded as a dichotomous variable. As Table 3.9

highlights, a slightly higher proportion of the sample was male.

	Ν	%
Female	8651	51.4
Male	8192	48.6
Total	16842	100.0

Table 3.9 Sex of respondent

First Language of Youth

In the parent questionnaire, the PMK was asked to assess the youth's ability to

conduct a conversation in one or more languages. The derived YITS variable

contains the following seven categories:

01 English only
02 French only
03 Non-official language(s) only
04 English and French
05 English and non-official language
06 French and non-official language

07 English, French and non-official language

Using the province variable (outlined later in this chapter), the following language variable was created for this analysis. Almost three-quarters of the sample spoke English as their primary language (Table 3.10).

	Ν	%
English	12044	71.5
French – Quebec	2266	13.5
French	493	2.9
Other	2039	12.1
Total	16842	100.0

Table 3.10 Language spoken well enough to conduct a conversation

Visible Minority-Immigrant Status

For the final socio-demographic measure used in this study, two variables from the original Cycle One data were combined. The first variable, taken from the parent data, measured whether the youth is a member of a visible minority group. This derived variable, created by the Statistics Canada research team, applies the concept of visible minority to persons who are identified according to the Employment Equity Act as being non-Caucasian in race or non-white in colour. As specified earlier, Aboriginal persons were not considered to be members of visible minority groups. The second variable was also obtained from the parent data and contains responses to three questions, "Of what countries is this person (child, respondent, spouse) a citizen?" The responses were coded as binary variables where the respondent would answer yes or no.

Using combinations of these four variables, visible minority-immigrant status measured whether the youth was born outside Canada and was also a member of a visible minority group. The conceptualization of this variable follows the approach used by Krahn and Taylor (2005). As Table 3.11 reveals, one in eight (12.3%) of respondents were visible minority immigrant youth.

	Ν	%
Visible-minority	2032	12.3
immigrant		
All else	14511	87.7
Total	16543	100.0

Table 3.11 Visible minority immigrant status

Geography

Province of Residence

Province of residence was recoded into a single six-category variable which measured region of residence rather than province since sample sizes for individual Atlantic Provinces were relatively low. Combining these four provinces can be justified because they have maintained relatively similar education systems in terms of programming and resources. Similarly, Manitoba and Saskatchewan were combined. Table 3.12 displays the distribution of YITS respondents across the six regions.

	N	0/_
Atlantia	1256	/0
Atlantic	1550	8.0
Quebec	2697	16.0
Ontario	7190	42.7
Manitoba/Saskatchewan	1332	7.9
Alberta	1788	10.6
British Columbia	2478	14.7
Total	16842	100.0

Table 3.12 Region of residence

Rural or Urban Community

The variable used in this study to measure whether or not the youth was from a rural or urban community was a derived variable computed by the Statistics Canada research team and based on the Statistical Area Classification (SATYPEP) from the 1996 Census.¹² Three-quarters of the YITS respondents (76.1%) were classified as urban youth.

	Ν	%
Urban	12580	76.1
Rural	3961	23.9
Total	16541	100.0

 Table 3.13 Urban/rural residence

School Quality

Measures of school quality were taken from responses to the school questionnaire administered to school principals or designates. The questionnaire sought to gain information regarding the school's resources, the number of teachers in the school and their qualifications, characteristics of the student body, the relationship the school had with its students, aspects of the administrative structure, and some of the pedagogical practices of the school. Since school-level data are measured at the aggregate level, the same scores for school-level variables were assigned to each individual student within each particular school. As will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 6, the specific measures of school

¹² The variable is derived from the PMK's address as of date of interview.

quality that were chosen for this study are those which could arguably be incorporated into educational policies in a timely and cost-effective way.

Index of the quality of the schools' educational resources

This index, computed by the Statistics Canada research team, was derived from the principal's report on the extent to which learning by the students (at age 15) was hindered by a lack of instructional material, not enough computers for instruction, lack of instructional materials in the library, lack of multi-media resources for instruction, inadequate science laboratory equipment, and, inadequate facilities for the fine arts. This index was inverted so that low values indicate a low quality of educational resources. Values ranged from -1.900 to 3.220 with a total of 1,096 schools included in the final calculation.¹³

Student-Teaching Staff Ratio

This index, computed by the Statistics Canada Research team, was derived using the school size variable (measured as the number of students attending the school) divided by the total number of teachers, which was calculated using both full-time and part-time instructors. To differentiate between full-time and parttime teachers in the total number of instructors within a given school, part-time teachers were calculated as 0.5 and full-time teachers as 1.0. A higher value on

¹³ Total sample data was taken from the School Codebook provided by Statistics Canada. Therefore, the total sample size may differ from the final sub-sample included in my analysis, however, the differences, if any, are marginal.

this variable indicates more students per teacher. Values ranged from 0.5800 to 47.000 with a total of 958 schools included in the final calculation.¹⁴

Total Hours of Schooling per Year

This index, calculated by the Statistics Canada research team, was derived from the information which principals provided on: the number of weeks in the school year for which the school operates; the number of class periods in the school week; and the number of teaching minutes in a single class period. The final value consists of the total number of 60-minute hours of schooling per year. It was based on the product of the three factors noted above, divided by sixty. Values ranged from 100.000 to 1625.000 with a total of 1,023 schools included in the final calculation.¹⁵

Public or Private School

The dichotomous variable distinguishes whether the school attended by the youth was a public or a private institution. A public school is defined as one that is managed directly or indirectly by a public education authority, government agency, or governing board appointed by government or elected by public franchise. A private school is defined as one which is managed directly or indirectly by a non-government organization, such as a church, trade union, business, other private institution. At the school-level, there were 1,037 schools identified as a public school (94%) and 64 identified as a private school (6%).

¹⁴ Information on non-response for specific variables can be found within the corresponding codebook for each cycle.

¹⁵ Information on non-response for specific variables can be found within the corresponding codebook for each cycle.
Outcome Variables

The outcome variables used in this analysis, as outlined in Figure 3.1, include parental educational aspirations, educational aspirations of the youth, high school achievement, and post-secondary educational participation by age 19. The variables are described below.

Parental Educational Expectations

Parental educational expectations are measured using a 3-category variable. The PMK was asked to indicate the highest level of education they hoped their child would get. The values ranged from less than a high school diploma to a university degree. The final variable used in this analysis was collapsed into three categories: (1) high school diploma; (2) community college/technical school; and (3) one or more university degrees. As can be seen in Table 3.14, almost three-quarters of parents wanted their children to get a university degree.

Levels of educational aspirations	Ν	⁰∕₀
High school or less	331	2.1
Community college/technical school	4095	26.3
University	11151	71.6
Total	15576	100.0

Table 3.14: Parental educational expectations

Youth's Educational Aspirations

This variable measures how much education the young person would like to get. During each cycle of the longitudinal study, all respondents were asked, "What is the highest level of education you would like to get?" Respondents were asked to select one of the following response categories for this forced choice

question:

- 1 Less than a high school diploma
- 2 High school diploma or graduation equivalency
- 3 Trade or vocational certificate or diploma or an apprenticeship
- 4 College or CEGEP (Québec) certificate or diploma
- 5 One university degree
- 6 More than one university degree

For Cycles Two and Three, this variable was expanded into an 11-category

variable to include more detailed educational options. Again, this was a forced-

choice question where respondents were asked to select one of the following

categories:

 Less than a high school diploma
 High school diploma or graduation equivalency
 Some post-secondary (no certificate, diploma or degree)
 Private business school or commercial school diploma or certificate
 College, CEGEP, trade/vocational certificate or diploma or registered apprenticeship
 University bachelor's degree (eg. BA, BSc,B.Ed.)
 University first professional degree (eg. medicine, dentistry, veterinary medicine, law, optometry, divinity)
 University Master's degree
 Ph.D. (University earned doctorate)
 Other - Specify
 Undecided

To maintain consistency across the three cycles of the study, within this study

youth's educational aspirations were coded into the following three categories for

each time point:

- 1 High school diploma, graduation equivalency or less
- 2 College, CEGEP, trade/vocational certificate/diploma, or apprenticeship
- 3 One or more university degrees

The decision to use only three categories was based, in part, on the frequency of responses, but also to reflect both educational and labour market realities. Young people who have a high school education or less have been shown to experience difficulties competing in the labour market. On the other hand, among those who decide to make the transition from high school into post-secondary education, the two basic choices available across Canada are community colleges/technical institutes or university. These two types of institutions vary in the kind of education and programs they offer and also differ in the types of students who traditionally attended by working-class youth, whereas universities have more often been attended by middle- and upper-class youth (Davies and Guppy, 2006, p. 75-76).

The decision to include those who aspire to two or more university degrees with those who want only one degree is based on the assumption that the theoretical difference between the two responses is negligible. Both responses reflect a university-oriented habitus. Furthermore, if a young person is able to obtain one university degree, the option to pursue additional degrees is present. As can be seen in Table 3.15, a very large majority of youth indicate wanting to attend university. This proportion remains quite consistent between the ages of 15 to 19. The final distribution, by cycle of data collection, is as follows:

99

Aspired levels of education	Age	e 15	Age	e 17	Age	e 19
	Ν	%	N	%	Ν	%
High school diploma, graduation equivalency or						
less	855	5.7	708	4.5	652	4.3
College, CEGEP, trade/vocational certificate						
or diploma or apprenticeship	3391	22.5	4052	25.9	4129	27.0
One or more university						
degrees	10855	71.9	10879	69.6	10541	68.8
Total	15101	100%	15640	100%	15323	100%

Table 3.15: Youth's educational aspirations - cycles 1 through 3, ages 15,17, and 19

High School Achievement/Participation

Measures of high school achievement and participation were obtained from the first and second cycles of the youth surveys when the majority of respondents were in grades 10 and 12.¹⁶

High School Grades

Obtained from both the first and second waves of data, high school grades are a self-reported measure where respondents were asked, "In your last year of high school, (junior high or elementary school), what was your overall grade average, as a percentage?" This variable was re-coded from a seven-category variable into a binary variable for this study. Additional analysis (not shown here) was undertaken to determine the effect of high school grades on both educational aspirations and educational participation. The largest differences were observed between those who achieved 69% or less and those earning 70% of

¹⁶ While the reliability and, hence, validity of self-reported grades might be questioned, in theory, any over-, and possibly under-reporting of grades, should be randomly distributed across the sample.

higher. In fact, as can be seen in Table 3.16, over three-quarters of the students achieve grades 70% or higher in both grade 10 and again in grade 12. The distribution of students in each category is as follows:

	Grade 10	Grade 10 Marks		Marks
	Ν	%	Ν	%
69% or less	3944	25.0	3518	21.4
70 to 100%	11823	75.0	12969	78.7
Total	15766	100.0	16487	100.0

 Table 3.16: Grade 10 and grade 12 marks

Course Stream

In high school, students can begin to make choices regarding the types of courses they are interested in taking. The rationale behind offering different types of courses is to direct students with different academic abilities and interests into courses which will allow them to take advantage of their strengths. However, as observed in Chapter 2, more critical assessments of the education system would say that such streaming strategies help reproduce social inequalities. The different types of classes typically available to high school students can be classified into four basic categories: (1) No destination focus for grade level; (2) University preparatory; (3) College/work preparatory; and (4) Work preparatory.¹⁷

¹⁷ University preparatory: Courses which are generally those with the greatest academic challenge, designed primarily for students planning entry into university, into certain programs and colleges and technical schools, or into colleges offering University Transfer programs. College/Work preparatory: Courses which are less academic and intended primarily for students planning entry into colleges, technical schools, trades or entry into the workplace. Educational experiences which are broadly based and appropriate for all students and which may lead to further studies beyond senior high school years (e.g., apprenticeship, college and university). Work preparatory: Basic level courses designed for preparation into the world of work. These courses provide a good

In this study, the variable used to operationalize course stream focuses on math and English (French for Quebec) classes as these are required courses for graduation and are most often prerequisites for university and college admission. Given that the focus of this dissertation is on the transition into PSE, this derived variable, calculated by the Statistics Canada research team, was collapsed into a dichotomous variable where youth were either taking courses with restricted PSE options (categories one and four) or had PSE options available to them (categories two and three), measured separately for both math and language courses. As can be seen in Table 3.17, almost equal proportions of students are participating in either restricted options or open-option math classes and approximately 65% of students are taking restricted option language classes. However, by grade 12, the majority of students will be able to meet the admission standards of universities by grade 12. The percentage break-down is as follows:

	Math	Courses	Languag	ge Courses
PSE Options	Grade 10 (%)	Grade 12 (%)	Grade 10 (%)	Grade 12 (%)
PSE options	%	%	%	%
Restricted options	54.5	32.9	62.4	34.5
Options open	45.5	67.1	37.6	65.6
Total %	100%	100%	100%	100%
Total	15714	16656	15847	16644

 Table 3.17: PSE options in math and language courses in grade 10

preparation for direct entry into employment and serve the needs of a student who may not participate in post-secondary education.

Educational Participation

To measure educational participation by age 19, two measures of educational attainment were combined to capture the highest level of education a young person had participated in by December 2003 (age 19, Cycle Three). The first variable focused on highest program completed (i.e. less than high school, high school, post-secondary institution) and the second broke down the final category of this variable into types of post-secondary programs. The final derived variable used in this research is as follows:

- 1 Those who did not graduate from high school 2 Those who have graduated from high school
- 3 Those who have participated in a college program
- 4 Those who have participated in a university bachelor's degree program or higher

The decision to use these four categories was made based on the same logic used when computing the measure for educational aspirations, with one important distinction; highest level of educational participation requires a more detailed measure to capture the various stages of educational transitions. By age 19, those youth who are still actively engaged in some form of educational program are not likely to have completed it. Therefore, it is important to evaluate the various levels of educational activity in which these youth may be involved. This may range from those who have discontinued their high school studies to those who have gone onto post-secondary studies, albeit community college or university. Table 3.18 provides a breakdown of the percentages of youth at the various stages of educational involvement. In this table we can see that compared to the approximately 70% who indicated they wanted to attend university, only

37.6% indicated they had actually attended university by age 19.

Education levels	%	Ν
Less than high school	8.1	1356
High school	26.5	4427
College	27.8	4639
University	37.6	6291
Total	100%	16713

Table 3.18: Educational participation, cycle 3, age 19 years

Next Steps

The next chapter provides an exploratory, foundational analysis where frequency distributions and basic cross-tabulations will assess the merits of exploring the hypothesized link between educational aspirations and educational participation. Upon establishing variations in both educational aspirations and participation among the YITS participants, more advanced statistical techniques will be employed to begin to unravel the possible causal factors shaping both aspirations and enrolment patterns. In particular, Chapter 4 will present a series of logistic regression equations where both educational aspirations and educational participation are used as the dependent variables.

Chapter 4: Unlikely Plans or Decisive Decisions? Patterns of Educational Aspirations and Participation

Introduction

Returning to the theoretical model proposed in Chapter 2, this chapter will begin to explore the distribution and determinants of educational aspirations and educational participation among Canadian youth. The focus of this chapter, as suggested in the title, is to explore whether educational aspirations are unlikely plans or decisive decisions. To begin to answer this question, some basic questions must first be addressed, all of which stem from the general question asked in this dissertation, are educational aspirations meaningful?

Drawing on the theoretical model presented in Chapter 2, this chapter will begin to explore the basic relationship between family SES, individual sociodemographic characteristics, and geography, educational aspirations, and educational participation. While all aspects of the model presented in Figure 3.1 (see page 86), will be included in the analyses presented within this chapter, the primary focus is on establishing the nature of the basic relationship between educational aspirations at age 15 and educational participation at age 19. Specifically, this chapter will address the following research questions:

- 1. Are educational aspirations meaningful? That is to say, are they simply ephemeral and fleeting attitudes, or are they consistent across time within individuals and do they vary in consistent ways within and between groups of youth in a manner that can help us understand patterns of social inequality?
- 2. Does post-secondary educational participation vary in predictable ways among youth, particularly with respect to university participation?

3. Do educational aspirations at age 15 inform patterns of educational participation at age 19?

The analyses in this chapter will be conducted in three steps. The first will focus on the relationship between educational aspirations at age 15 and various types of predictor variables, such as family SES, individual socio-demographic characteristics, and geography. I will begin with a series of basic bivariate analyses, and then follow up with a multivariate logistic regression analysis with educational aspirations at age 15 as the dependent variable. The second step will employ a similar methodological approach; however, educational participation by age 19 will now be used as the dependent variable. The third step, again using a multivariate logistic regression analysis, will evaluate the relationship between educational aspirations and subsequent educational participation, controlling for a variety of factors, such as family SES, individual socio-demographic characteristics, and geography.

Post-secondary Educational Aspirations at Age 15

As presented in Table 4.1, the YITS participants, at the onset of their high school years, have very high educational aspirations with 72% aspiring to attain at least one university degree. An additional 23% report wanting to attend college, earn a trade/vocational certificate, or participate in an apprenticeship program. Only 6% indicate that they would be satisfied with obtaining a high school diploma or less. The ambitious educational aspirations observed among this group of 15-year old youth further supports the growing body of research which has demonstrated that North American youth today are aiming high (Christofides, Hoy, Li, & Stengos, 2008; HRSDC, 2004; Krahn & Taylor, 2005). Such findings

suggest that youth are actively accepting the claim that higher levels of

educational attainment are a necessary part of economic success later in life.

Table 4.1: Educational aspirations among 15 year old Canadian youth,2000

Aspired levels of education	Ν	%
High school diploma, graduation equivalency or less	855	5.7
College	3,391	22.5
One or more university degrees	10,855	71.9
Total	15,101	100%

This pattern of high aspirations raises the question of whether some or many of these youth will fall victim to the 'high-aspiration, low-attainment paradox' observed by a variety of researchers, particularly those in the United States (see, among others, Kao & Tienda, 1998; Mickelson, 1990; McDonough, 1997; Hossler et al., 1999; MacLeod, 1995). Despite the fact that youth may initially hold high educational aspirations, will many of them be unable to turn these high aspirations into reality? For example, Mickelson (1990) observed that while young Black youth living in the United States consistently demonstrated positive attitudes towards educational attainment, these young people were often unable to translate their aspirations into attainment. Mickelson goes on to hypothesize that this paradox exists because of two distinct sets of attitudes towards schooling, those attitudes which are concrete and those which are abstract. As argued by Lakshmana (2004), "abstract attitudes reflect the general notions that schooling is a vehicle for success, while concrete attitudes are based on actual experiences" (p. 7).

The concept of abstract-concrete aspirations may be more pronounced among those interested in university participation. In particular, while certain groups of students, such as low-income, rural, and visible minority youth, may be shown to have high educational aspirations at age 15, these "abstract" aspirations may decrease over time due to concrete personal experiences. However, it is also possible that even if their aspirations remain stable or increase overtime, these aspirations may not translate into university attendance. Post-secondary educational attendance, particularly university attendance, requires a series of specific actions, such as maintaining certain high school grades, selecting postsecondary institutions in which to apply, and determining how to finance one's studies, through, for example, student loans, scholarships, or bursaries. A lack of understanding or non-completion of the necessary actions required to participate in PSE can lead to non-participation or difficulties in realizing university aspirations. Therefore, while some students may express interest in pursuing a university education, their aspirations may not be actualized as they gain knowledge about what is actually required in order to attend.

The connection between "concrete" aspirations and post-secondary educational participation is consistent with both the status attainment literature and Bourdieu's theory of practice. As discussed in Chapter 2, status attainment theory links family socio-economic status with education and occupational outcomes, via educational and occupational aspirations and peer influences. In fact, when mediating factors such as educational aspirations and peer groups are considered, the direct effect of family status diminishes (Haller & Portes, 1973). This suggests that educational aspirations have a strong effect on attainment. However, in order for aspirations to become actualized, they need to be grounded in some sense of objective reality or, following Mickelson's (1990) argument, be concrete aspirations.

Bourdieu's theory of practice helps us to understand the nature of aspiration formation. Through his concepts of cultural capital and habitus, he provides an explanation of aspirations which can account for variations in the aspirations held by a diverse group of youth, while speaking to the patterns which may also be present among relatively homogenous groups. For example, Bourdieu can help to explain why differences may exist between middle- and working-class youth, while also speaking to the differences which may emerge among working class youth themselves. Generally speaking, Bourdieu can help us understand why Canadian youth as a group have such high educational aspirations (Table 4.1) by connecting the influences of both the family and peer groups on habitus formation, which is exemplified through educational aspirations themselves.

Research Question 1: Do educational aspirations vary in predictable ways across socio-economic and demographic groups and are they consistent over time?

While aspirations at age 15 were shown to be very high, they might not be consistently so across different groups of youth. Bourdieu's theory of practice would suggest that differences in habitus should yield differences in the aspirations expressed by youth. Differences in habitus, as previously discussed, primarily reflect differences in socialization arising from varying degrees of exposure to culture, economic, and social capital. Recognizing that exposure to capital can vary by social class, social demographic groups, and by geography, the following section begins to explore these potential patterns of difference.

Family Socio-Economic Status

The children of highly educated parents have been shown in previous research to experience high levels of educational success (Davies & Guppy, 2006). Specifically, research on first-generation students, defined as those who are the first in their family to go to university, have been shown to experience difficulties in their transition from high school into university. For example, Lehmann (2007) found that first-generation students were more likely to discontinue their postsecondary studies early in their first semester, often within the first two months, and did so despite having solid academic performance. Grayson and Grayson (2003) found that approximately twenty to twenty-five percent of all first-year students do not proceed onto their second-year of university. Reasons for discontinuing, as noted by Lehmann (2007) often include feelings of a lack of fit between university culture and the culture of the familial household. It would not be unrealistic to expect that working class youth may be less inclined to want to participate in university given that for many of those who do attempt to make this transition, attrition is a major problem, a pattern that may be demonstrated among older siblings and peers. Not surprisingly, Table 4.2 shows that as parental education increases, so do the aspirations held by teenagers in their families. Among those youth who come from families where both parents have a university degree, 94.3% report wanting to attain at least one university degree compared to

only 65.1% of those whose parents have not attended university. Even so, the fact that two out of three 15 year olds from non-university educated families aspire to university is noteworthy, since it indicates that despite a lack of human capital within the home, the culture of aspiring towards higher levels of education has become generally widespread within Canadian society.

Socio-economic disadvantage, in the form of low family income, is also a strong predictor of educational inequality and has been found in previous research to be associated with instances of disadvantage throughout the life course (Frenette, 2008; Carmichael & Finnie, 2008). In this study, 65% of youth from households with low annual incomes (less than \$45,000 a year) aspire to at least one university degree compared to 82.1% of youth from households with an annual income of \$90,000 or higher (Table 4.2).

Another component of family socio-economic status is the type of occupation in which parents are employed. Following Bourdieu's theoretical ideas, different occupations or professions are associated with differences in cultural capital, which is in turn associated with differences in habitus, demonstrated through educational values. As previous researchers have shown, most notably Paul Willis (1977), particular occupations are associated with different class values, which are often embraced by youth via the intergenerational transmission of work values. Table 4.2 shows that over threequarters (77.6%) of teenagers who have at least one parent working in a high skill and high status occupations report aspiring to complete a university degree compared to less than 65% of youth whose parents work in occupations from the three other skill levels.

	High school		1+		
	diploma or		university	Total	
Predictor variables	less	College	degrees	%	Total N
Parental Education					
No degrees	6.7%	28.2%	65.1%	100%	7974
1 Degree	3.1%	10.3%	86.6%	100%	2271
2 Degrees	1.2%	4.5%	94.3%	100%	1651
Household Income					
<\$30,000	9.3%	26.2%	64.5%	100%	1816
\$30K-\$44,999	7.8%	27.9%	64.3%	100%	2143
\$45k-\$59,999	6.2%	27.9%	65.9%	100%	2554
\$60K-\$74,999	5.2%	22.8%	72.1%	100%	2591
\$75K-\$89,999	4.7%	19.2%	76.1%	100%	2769
\$90K+	2.9%	15.0%	82.1%	100%	3227
Parental NOC Classific	cation				
At least one manager					
or A class	4.5%	17.8%	77.6%	100%	8642
At least one B class	6.8%	28.9%	64.3%	100%	4660
At least one C class	8.8%	28.4%	62.9%	100%	1506
Both D class	7.2%	28.7%	64.1%	100%	181

 Table 4.2: Educational aspirations by family socio-economic status

Overall, all three indicators of family SES demonstrate essentially the same pattern: youth from more privileged social backgrounds are more likely to have higher educational aspirations than their less socially-privileged peers. However, consistently across all three measures of family SES, two out of three youth aspire to a university education suggesting that youth are embracing the notion that PSE is an important vehicle to occupational and economic success later in life.

Individual-level Socio-Demographic Variables and Educational Aspirations

Table 4.3 reveals that females have higher educational aspirations than their male peers. Approximately three-quarters of female respondents (77.4%)

report aspiring to obtain one or more university degrees compared to 66.0% of males. This is consistent with previous findings where females are shown to not only have higher aspirations than males (Garg, Melanson, & Levin, 2007) but also to have higher rates of post-secondary participation (Bowlby & McMullen, 2002).

Visible minority-immigrant youth, defined as those who are first or second generation immigrants and are members of a visible minority group, are shown in the current analysis to have higher educational aspirations than their Canadianborn peers. Specifically, 88.9% of visible minority-immigrant youth indicate that they want to complete at least one university degree compared to 69.3% of their Canadian-born peers. This is consistent with the available research which finds that while Canadian-born youth have high aspirations, visible-minority immigrant youth have exceptionally high aspirations (Krahn & Taylor, 2005; Wilkinson, 2002; Boyd, 2002).

Youth living in both single-parent households and dual-parent households are shown to have similar educational aspirations, with 69.3% and 72.4% respectively, aspiring to obtain at least one university degree. These findings, at first glance, appear to be inconsistent with research which suggests that youth who come from single-parent families, particularly single-mother families, often face educational disadvantages. Garg, Melanson, and Levin (2007) found that among youth who were not aiming for university, approximately 10% more come from single parent families (p.1020). However, much of the differences observed between youth from single-parent families compared to intact families may be a

113

function of family involvement, parental expectations, and the value placed on educational achievement by parents.

As the majority of Canadian schools hold instruction in either French or English, speaking a language other than these can lead to educational and occupational disadvantages. However, youth who indicated their first language was something other than French or English had higher educational aspirations with 85.4% indicating they wanted to complete at least one university degree. This may be due to the overwhelming number of non-English and French speaking youth who are immigrants. As was previously shown, these youth generally have higher educational aspirations than their Canadian-born peers.

Predictor variables	High school diploma or less	College	1+ university degrees	Total %	Total N
Sex of Youth					
Females	4.8%	17.8%	77.4%	100%	7799
Males	6.6%	27.4%	66.0%	100%	7301
Visible-Minority Im	migrant Status of	youth			
Visible-minority					
immigrant youth	2.6%	8.5%	88.9%	100%	1837
All else	6.1%	24.6%	69.3%	100%	12989
Family Structure					
Two parent	5.6%	22.1%	72.4%	100%	12718
Single parent	6.2%	24.5%	69.3%	100%	2353
First language of					
youth					
English	6.6%	21.4%	71.9%	100%	10605
French	2.3%	36.7%	61.0%	100%	2166
French Quebec	7.4%	27.0%	65.6%	100%	433
Other	3.6%	11.0%	85.4%	100%	1897

 Table 4.3: Educational aspirations by individual-level variables

Geography and Educational Aspirations

Each Canadian region has a different approach to facilitating access to post-secondary education; furthermore, regions vary with respect to economic prosperity. For example, compared to the Atlantic Provinces, Alberta has generally had a much stronger economy over the past decades. This might provide more post-secondary educational alternatives for youth. But Alberta also has a more integrated post-secondary system that would make it easier for disadvantaged youth to continue past high school (Krahn & Hudson, 2006).

Table 4.4 examines the relationship between geography and educational aspirations. Youth living in Quebec were found to be the least likely to aspire to a university education (64.3%). In contrast, those living in the Atlantic Provinces were found to be the most likely to aspire to a university education (78.0%). However, it is important to note that approximately one-third of Quebec teenagers (33.8%) aspired to complete college, compared to less than a quarter of all other Canadian youth. The differences between youth from Quebec compared to other Canadian youth can likely be explained by the unique education system found in Quebec which requires students to complete an additional year of high school before proceeding onto post-secondary education¹⁸.

Urban labour markets often require higher levels of formal educational training compared to rural labour markets (Krahn, Lowe, & Hughes, 2011, p. 77).

¹⁸ CEGEP, a program unique to Quebec, has students finish their high school studies in grade 11 then spend an additional two years in CEGEP taking either 'pre-university' or technical classes. For those who want to pursue university studies outside the province of Quebec, CEGEP courses, while recognized by most Canadian universities, will only give credit of up to one year.

Such differences could lead to habitus differences similar to those observed by qualitative researchers to be present among the working class compared to their middle and upper class peers (Lehmann, 2007; MacLeod, 1995; Willis, 1977). Given these factors, it is not surprising that 74.7% of urban teenagers, compared to 62.6% of rural teenagers report wanting to attend university.

Predictor variables	High school diploma or less	College	1+ university degrees	Total %	Total N
Canadian Regions	1005	conege		, 0	1,
Atlantic Canada	6.8%	15.2%	78.0%	100%	1200
Quebec	2.0%	33.8%	64.3%	100%	2571
Ontario	5.5%	22.3%	72.2%	100%	6410
Manitoba/Saskatchewan	9.2%	16.4%	74.3%	100%	1146
Alberta	6.5%	22.0%	71.4%	100%	1575
British Columbia	7.2%	17.2%	75.6%	100%	2197
Rural/Urban					
Urban	5.1%	20.2%	74.7%	100%	11333
Rural	7.8%	29.6%	62.6%	100%	3493

 Table 4.4: Educational aspirations by geographical variables, 2000

Interrelated Predictors of Teenagers' Educational Aspirations

The analysis to this point has examined only bivariate relationships to explore the nature of educational aspirations. But many of the variables previously examined are correlated with one another; for example, parents with higher levels of education often have higher household incomes and are clustered within higher occupational classifications. For this reason, it is necessary to utilize a more complex multivariate analysis to examine the net effects of various predictor variables on educational aspirations. Using a logistic regression equation where aspirations are coded as a binary variable (where the respondent either did or did not have aspirations to attend university), the independent effects of the selected variables are examined in relation to this outcome. The equation for the final analysis is as follows:

$f(z) = B_0 + B_1 X_1 + B_2 X_2 + B_3 X_3 \dots + B_k X_k$

f(z) represents the probability of a particular outcome, in this case, whether a particular youth has university aspirations or not, given the particular set of explanatory variables. B_0 is the intercept and is the value of z when all the independent variables equal zero. In other words, it is the value of someone who has no risk factors which would either encourage or discourage having aspirations to attend university.

In the multivariate equation, each coefficient describes the effect each explanatory variable has on the dependent variable, controlling for the effects of all the other predictor variables included in the equation. These values are expressed as odds ratios. An odds ratio is the ratio of the odds of an event occurring in one group compared to another. An odds ratio of one means an event is equally likely to happen to both groups being studied. An odds ratio greater than one means the event is more likely to occur to the first group than to the second. For example, as is shown in Table 4.5, females have an odds ratio of 1.605 indicating that females are 60.5% more likely than males to have university aspirations. On the other hand, an odds ratio less than one means the event is less likely to occur in the first group. The inclusion of the various predictor variables in the logistic regression equation is based on the arguments put forth in the previous section, following the theoretical model presented in Chapter 2. Beginning first with measures of familial socio-economic status, Bourdieu's theoretical framework would suggest that such influences play a large role in shaping the dispositions young people have towards the social world. Parental education and household income are found to have significant independent effects on youth aspirations (Table 4.5). Specifically, youth who have two university-educated parents are 3.2 times more likely to aspire to a university education compared to youth whose parents are not university educated. In addition, as parental income increases, so do the odds of having higher educational aspirations.

Visible minority-immigrant status emerges as the strongest demographic predictor of having aspirations to attend university (Table 4.5). Young people in this category are 92.4% more likely to aspire to university than their White native-born peers. The equation also shows that 15 year old females are 60.5% more likely than their male counterparts to aspire to university. Youth whose parents aspire for them to obtain a university degree are 3.2 times more likely to aspire to university themselves as compared to those youth whose parents only want them to obtain a high school diploma. Family structure is not found to have a net significant effect.

Bourdieu's theoretical framework encourages us to interpret factors such as classes young people take in high school and how well they do in those classes as reflective of cultural capital and habitus. As Table 4.5 indicates, taking university preparatory mathematics and English courses in grade 10 and achieving grades of over 70% were both associated with increased likelihood of aspiring to participate in university.

Canada is characterized by considerable regional diversity, so it is not unreasonable to expect that educational aspirations may systematically differ across regions and by rural/urban communities. Compared to youth living in Ontario, youth in Manitoba/Saskatchewan, Alberta, and British Columbia are less likely to aspire to university. Rural youth, when compared to urban youth, are approximately 20% less likely to aspire to university.

		Odds	
	Predictor Variables	Ratio	
Sex:	Female	1.605	***
	Male		
Visible Minority-Immigrant Status:	Visible Minority Immigrant	1.924	***
	All Else		
Family Structure:	Step-parent	.926	
	Single parent	1.178	
	Other	1.240	
	Two parent		
First Language of Youth	French – Quebec	.543	***
	French	.805	
	Other	1.241	*
	English		
University Preparatory Classes	English – Yes	1.246	*
	No		
University Preparatory Classes	Math – Yes	2.190	***
	No		
Overall Grades	70% or higher	2.752	***
	69% or less		
Parental Education:	1 Degree	1.749	***
	2 Degrees	3.186	***

 Table 4.5 Logistic regression predicting students' university aspirations at age 15¹⁹

¹⁹ For each variable included in this analysis, the value highlighted in italics is the reference category.

	No Degrees		
Parental Occupation	Skilled	.780	***
	Semi-skilled	.721	***
	Un-skilled	.792	
	Managerial/professional		
Household Income:	\$30K - \$44,999	1.244	*
	\$45K - \$59,999	1.297	**
	\$60k - \$74,999	1.500	***
	\$75K - \$89,999	1.598	***
	\$90K +	1.864	***
	<\$30,000		
Parental PSE Aspirations for Youth	College	.623	***
	1+ University Degrees	3.237	***
	High School Diploma or Less		
Canadian Regions	Atlantic Canada	.921	
	Quebec	.757	
	Manitoba/Saskatchewan	.755	*
	Alberta	.627	***
	British Columbia	.605	***
	Ontario		
Rural/Urban	Rural	.815	***
	Urban		
Nagelkerke R Square		.376	
N=13531			

Collectively, these findings suggest that there are systematic differences across groups of youth with respect to their educational aspirations. Generally speaking, while Canadian youth are aiming high, various subgroups of youth appear to be less likely to aspire to higher levels of post-secondary education. For example, those with parents who have lower levels of educational attainment, youth from low-income families, and males appear to aim lower than their peers. However, these observations were taken during the early stages of their high school career, at age 15 years. Perhaps as these young people get further into their high school years, their aspirations may become more homogeneous. Alternatively, they may diverge even further with age.

Turning our attention from those with lower aspirations to those who aspire to higher levels of PSE, we see that those whose parents have high educational aspirations for them are more likely to have high aspirations for themselves. Additionally, high school grades were also found to be highly influential in informing educational aspirations.

Taken in their entirety, these findings are in line with Bourdieu's theoretical framework, particularly with his arguments regarding habitus formation. The generally high educational aspirations observed among the YITS participants suggests that social influences play a large role in shaping habitus, reflected in the aspirations held by the youths themselves. Given that postsecondary education, particularly university, is heavily emphasized within the secondary education system and in educational policies, it is not surprising that a very large majority of youth are aspiring to this ideal. However, when examining potential differences between subgroups of youth, it was found that some traditionally disadvantaged groups were not as likely to aspire to university as their peers. Following Bourdieu, these differences could be explained through differences in access to cultural capital, thereby creating differences in habitus. Differences in familial socialization, in goals and values favoured within the household, have resulted in different post-secondary educational aspirations.

The data analyzed to this point were collected from 15 year olds. But are aspirations ephemeral and fleeting attitudes or are they consistent across time? If

aspirations at age 15 are really partial determinants of educational participation four years later, they would presumably be relatively stable over the teenage years. But if they are highly variable, subject to change at any given time, their utility as predictors of educational participation is much more limited. The next section of this chapter will explore the issue of consistency of post-secondary aspirations across the three cycles of the YITS data collection.

Evaluating Consistency in Educational Aspirations across Time

Consistency in educational aspirations is an important criteria if they are to be seen as valid predictors of educational attainment four years later. Inconsistency may mean that aspirations are constantly being modified and altered to reflect the momentary interests of youth; that they are more meaningless than meaningful. Alternatively, consistency in aspirations suggests a more solidified goal, one which youth can work towards starting in early high school. Consistency within some groups and not in others suggests that aspirations are more meaningful for some and more meaningless for others who may not understand what it will take to achieve higher levels of education. In short, from a methodological perspective, aspirations will ideally be relatively consistent across time, increasing their reliability as a predictor variable for educational participation at a later date.

Drawing on all three cycles of YITS data collection, Table 4.6 presents the distribution of educational aspirations at ages 15, 17, and 19. At age 15, 71.9% report that they aspire to attend university, compared to 68.5% at age 19. The very slight decline (approximately 3%) is somewhat surprising, given the

extensive research on barriers to educational attainment faced by young people from less advantaged families and on their poorer high school performance (Davies & Guppy, 2006, Chapter 9). We might expect that, by age 19, the remarkably high post-secondary aspirations of Canadian youth, whether working class or middle class, would have declined further. As young Canadians begin to make the transition from high school to PSE, it would seem that more would be adjusting their educational aspirations to match career qualifications.

	Age	Age 15Age 17Age 19		Age 17		e 19
Aspired levels of education	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
High school or less	855	5.7	708	4.5	652	4.3
College	3391	22.5	4052	25.9	4129	27
University	10855	71.9	10879	69.6	10541	68.8
Total	15101	100%	15640	100%	15323	100%

Table 4.6: Educational aspirations across time, age 15, 17, and 19, Canada, 2000, 2002, 2004

Are particular groups of youth more or less likely to be inconsistent in their aspirations from age 15 to 19? Specifically, who is more likely to lower their aspirations? Previous research has shown that elevated aspirations are often related to individual characteristics and familial influences; can the same be said for consistency in aspirations? Alexander, Entwisle, and Bedinger (1994) found that among students from Baltimore, educational expectations were most accurate among White students and those from higher income families. As consistency in educational aspirations has been shown to result in corresponding levels of educational attainment, identifying which groups of youth are more likely to change their aspirations can help us understand the role played by educational aspirations in educational attainment.

Table 4.7 displays the proportion of <u>university-aspiring youth</u> who either changed or maintained their aspirations between the ages of 15 and 19. As university was the highest level of education to which a young person could aspire, a change in aspirations at age 19 means the young person has lowered their aspirations. The predictor variables used in this analysis are those which were previously found to have a significant net effect on the level of post-secondary aspirations at age 15 (Table 4.5).

Males are shown to be more likely than females to lower their educational aspirations between ages 15 and 19. Specifically, 20.9% of males compared to 14.9% of females report no longer wanting to obtain a university degree. Visible-minority youth are shown to be far less likely to lower their educational aspirations by the time they are 19 years old compared to their nonvisible minority immigrant peers. Specifically, 19.5% of non-visible-minority immigrant youth report by age 19 that they no longer wished to pursue a university education compared to only 7.5% of visible-minority immigrant youth. These findings indicate that not only do visible-minority immigrant youth have higher educational aspirations than their peers but they remain consistently high rather than diminishing over time.

Youth whose parents have higher levels of education were also more likely to maintain their higher educational aspirations between age 15 and 19. For example, among youth whose parents did not attend university, 22.7% report no longer wanting to attend university compared to only 6.6% of those whose parents both completed university. Furthermore, rural youth were more likely to lower their aspirations over time. Specifically, 27.1% of rural youth who initially aspired to a university education lowered their aspirations by age 19 compared to only 15.0% of urban youth.

Predictor variables	Change	No Change	Total %	Total N						
Sex of Youth										
Females	14.9%	85.1%	100%	5576						
Males	20.9%	79.1%	79.1% 100%							
Visible-Minority Immigrant Status of youth Visible-minority immigrant										
youth	7.5%	92.5%	100%	1501						
All else	19.5%	80.5%	100%	8340						
Parental Education										
No degrees	22.7%	77.3%	100%	4799						
1 Degree	10.2%	89.8%	100%	1836						
2 Degrees	6.6%	93.4%	100%	1462						
Parents' Educational Aspiration	ons for youth									
High school or less	49.2%	50.8%	100%	61						
College	39.1%	60.9%	100%	1187						
University	13.6%	86.4% 100%		8139						
Rural/Urban										
Urban	15.0%	85.0%	100%	7827						
Rural	27.1%	72.9%	100%	2011						

Table 4.7 Consistency in maintaining university aspirations between ages 15 and 19 years, Canada, 2000 and 2004, by selected variables

While we have observed some change in aspirations between age 15 and 19 (Table 4.6), the majority of young Canadians are consistent in their postsecondary aspirations over time. Furthermore, the findings in Table 4.7 demonstrate that young Canadians who aim highest with respect to attending university – females, visible-minority immigrants, urban youth, and those from more advantaged families – generally maintain their aspirations. Thus, while there is some movement up and down in aspirations, it is movement that is interpretable, rather than random. Consequently, we can feel more confident in assessing the impact of aspirations at age 15 on subsequent educational participation at age 19. This may be particularly important as post-secondary goals could have an impact on course selection and academic achievement in high school which, ultimately affect admission into various types of post-secondary institutions.

Research Question 2: Does educational participation systematically vary among youth, particularly with respect to university participation?

Is there a connection between educational aspirations and post-secondary educational participation? While the majority of young people in this study aspire to a university education at age 15, do these aspirations translate into corresponding levels of educational participation at age 19? Returning to the "high aspirations, low attainment" paradox, will this pattern also be observed among the YITS participants? Educational attainment disparities have long been observed across different subgroups of youth. For example, working class youth and those from visible minority groups have historically been under-represented within universities. A strict reading of Bourdieu's theory of practice would suggest that these differences arise from an unequal distribution of capital within the familial home, yielding differences in habitus which predispose some youth to view university as an impossibility. Yet we have found very high levels of university aspirations even among young people from less advantaged families. While some youth may be able to transcend class boundaries, is it also possible that the initially high aspirations for these less-advantaged youth are less likely to translate into post-secondary participation four years later? Is having a habitus that is oriented towards wanting to attend university enough, or will existing disparities in social, economic, and cultural capital continue to create educational participation differences between specific groups of youth?

In Cycles 2 and 3 of the YITS, participants were asked about their current educational engagement and the highest level of education they had either completed or were currently participating in. For the following analysis, I have constructed a four-category variable that distinguishes between:

- (1) those who did not graduate from high school by age 19;
- (2) those who graduated from high school;
- (3) those who have participated in a college $program^{20}$
- (4) those who have participated in a university bachelor's degree program or higher.

The distinction between the third and forth category recognizes that a university education was traditionally limited to the middle- to upper-class, and still continues to lead to higher status and higher income jobs, on average, whereas a community college or vocational education was more readily accessible to those who wanted to continue their schooling beyond high school but may not have had the resources to attend university. Furthermore, as previously illustrated, there is a segment of the YITS sample that aspires to attend college. Therefore, while

²⁰ College participation includes those who have participated in a college program, a university transfer program at a college or CEGEP, a trade/vocational college, or a registered apprenticeship program.

college participation will not be the primary focus in later parts of this study, comparisons between college and university participation will be made where appropriate.

It is important to emphasize that this analysis focuses on *initial* postsecondary participation rather than *final* educational attainment, since the YITS participants were only 19 years old by the third survey cycle and might not have finished their post-secondary education or even have even started it. Youth who have not yet begun to actualize their university aspirations might still do so. Similarly, some who had begun a post-secondary program by age 19 might still drop out. However, with each passing year, the likelihood of starting a postsecondary educational program, particularly university, decreases. For example, at the University of Alberta, for the 2004 fall semester which is the year the YITS participants were 19 years old, the average age of a full-time undergraduate student was 22 years²¹. Given that an undergraduate degree is generally a fouryear program, this statistic suggests that, on average, most students start their university studies within a year or two of graduating from high school.

Highest Level of Educational Participation

While 72% of the YITS participants indicated at age 15 that they wanted to complete at least one university degree, at age 19, only 37.6% reported that they had actually attended university (Table 4.8). In contrast, 26.5% reported that the highest level of education they had participated in was high school, with an

²¹ Table 2.8.1 Average Age of Full-Time and Part-time Students

by Faculty and Sex Fall 2000-01 to 2004-05 final datahttp://www.ualberta.ca/~idosa/databook/04-05/Table2_8_1_avgage_5Yr2004f.pdf

additional 8.1% indicating that they had not yet completed high school. This is in sharp contrast to the highly ambitious aspirations these individuals held just four years earlier.

Education levels	%	Ν
Less than high school	8.1	1356
High school	26.5	4427
College	27.8	4639
University	37.6	6291
Total	100%	16713

 Table 4.8: Highest level of educational participation at age 19, Canada, 2004

Similar to the previous analysis of educational aspirations, this analysis will begin with an examination of the potential social and familial determinants of initial educational participation by age 19. And, again, the results will be discussed with reference to Bourdieu's theoretical framework.

Family Socio-Economic Status

Consistent with previous research which has shown that the children of highly-educated parents are more likely to experience high levels of educational success themselves, Table 4.9 shows that, as parental education increases, so do the levels of educational participation of their children. Among those youth who come from families where both parents have a university degree, 70.6% indicate that the highest level of education they participated in was university, compared to only 29.7% of youth whose parents did not attend university. The children of non-university educated parents are found to be over-represented among those who had only completed high school by age 19 (30.6%).

Family income is a strong predictor of educational participation among the YITS respondents. Specifically, low income youth were more likely to indicate that the highest level of education they had participated in was high school (or less than high school) and those from high-income families were more likely to indicate that university was the highest level of education in which they had participated. Table 4.9 shows a linear increase in university attendance across the six levels of household income.

Following the same patterns observed for parental educational attainment and family income, parental occupation is also shown to shape educational participation. Among those youth who have at least one parent who is a manager or working in a high skill (Class A) occupation, 43.7% indicate that university is the highest level of education they have participated in by age 19, compared to 21.4% of youth who have two parents working Class D jobs.

Predictor variables	< High school	High school	College	University	Total %	Total N
Parental Education			8	v		
No degrees	8.5%	30.6%	31.2%	29.7%	100%	8957
1 Degree	3.5%	16.4%	24.3%	55.7%	100%	2459
2 Degrees	1.7%	12.3%	15.4%	70.6%	100%	1725
Household Income						
<\$30,000	13.1%	32.1%	27.4%	27.4%	100%	2048
\$30K-\$44,999	11.2%	32.5%	27.7%	28.7%	100%	2394
\$45k-\$59,999	10.0%	28.5%	29.9%	31.7%	100%	2837
\$60K-\$74,999	6.9%	26.8%	29.3%	37.0%	100%	2859
\$75K-\$89,999	6.2%	23.7%	27.1%	43.0%	100%	3040
\$90K+	4.3%	19.8%	25.6%	50.4%	100%	3537
Parental NOC						
Classification						
At least one manager						
or A class	8.0%	23.0%	25.3%	43.7%	100%	9496
At least one B class	7.0%	31.1%	30.7%	31.1%	100%	5195
At least one C class	12.3%	31.3%	30.5%	25.9%	100%	1694
Both D class	7.3%	34.0%	37.4%	21.4%	100%	206

 Table 4.9: Highest level of educational participation at age 19 by selected variables, Canada, 2004

In general, as was found for educational aspirations, measures of family socio-economic status are all consistently related to the educational participation of youth at age 19. These findings clearly suggest that advantage is intergenerational; parents who are more educationally, financially, and occupationally successful pass that success along to their children. Bourdieu's theory of capital conversion and the intergenerational transmission of capital provide valuable insight into these findings. Youth who are exposed to higher levels of cultural capital, coupled with economic capital, are better equipped to translate these forms of capital into educational advantage. Their knowledge of the education system and an awareness of what is required to achieve success helps guarantee their ability to "play the game" more successfully and optimize their chances of achieving. Coupled with financial resources and a disposition (habitus) towards wanting higher levels of achievement creates a situation where such youth can reap the benefits of their more privileged social position. In contrast, youth who have limited access to such resources struggle to achieve the same levels of success, if they are able to achieve it at all.

Socio-Demographic Variables

Again repeating the pattern observed for educational aspirations, Table 4.10 shows that females are more likely than males to have attended university by age 19 (43.8% compared to 31.1%). Alternatively, more males than females indicate that high school is the highest level of education in which they have participated (31.1% compared to 22.1%). These findings are consistent with previous research that shows attendance within Canadian universities is higher among females than males (Frenette & Zeman, 2007; Andres & Krahn, 1999; Andres, 2002). In fact, according to the 2001 Canadian Census, females represented 58% of all university graduates (Frenette & Zeman, 2007).

Also reflecting previous research findings (Thiessen, 2009), visible minority-immigrant youth participate in university at a higher rate than their nonvisible minority immigrant peers (52.4% compared to 35.7%). Canadian-born White youth were more likely than visible minority immigrant youth to indicate that high school was the highest level of education in which they had participated (27.4% compared to 19.8%).
Family structure exerts some influence on educational participation.

Specifically, youth living in two-parent households were the most likely to report that university was the highest level of education in which they had participated (41.0%), compared to youth living in single- parent households (31.5%). Those who were living in a step-parent family at age 15 or in an "other" family arrangement, which includes youth living in foster families, were more likely to indicate that high school was the highest level of education they had participated in by age 19 (32.2% and 31.3% respectively). These findings are consistent with other research on family type and investment in education. For example, Zvoch (1999), using the U.S. National Education Longitudinal Survey, found that children from stepparent families receive significantly less parental support for pursuit of higher education.

Interestingly, those who speak a language other than French or English had the highest rates of university participation with 50.6% indicating they had participated in a university program. These findings, while consistent with the fact already noted that immigrant youth outperform native-born youth, are inconsistent with research that argues that language can often be a barrier to educational and occupational success, particularly as Canadian universities are often instructed in one of the two official Canadian languages.

Predictor variables	< High school	High school	College	University	Total %	Total N
Sex of Youth						
Females	6.3%	22.1%	27.7%	43.8%	100%	8586
Males	10.0%	31.1%	27.8%	31.1%	100%	8127
Visible-Minority Im	migrant St	tatus of yo	uth			
Visible-minority						
immigrant	4.5%	19.8%	23.4%	52.4%	100%	2017
All else	8.6%	27.4%	28.3%	35.7%	100%	14402
Family Structure						
Two parent	7.1%	26.2%	27.8%	38.9%	100%	14063
Single parent /	13.5%	28.1%	27.1%	31.3%	100%	2616
"Other"						
First language of yo	uth					
English	9.4%	29.5%	23.4%	37.7%	100%	11988
French	4.0%	16.9%	54.0%	25.0%	100%	2201
French Quebec	5.5%	24.0%	30.3%	40.1%	100%	491
Other	5.8%	19.4%	24.2%	50.6%	100%	2032

 Table 4.10: Highest level of educational participation at age 19 by selected variables, Canada, 2004

Geography and Educational Participation

Geography, as was found earlier with educational aspirations, is shown to shape educational participation patterns. Given the differences across regions of Canada, in terms of labour market opportunities, industry, and educational opportunities, it is not unexpected that differences should be observed with respect to educational participation among young people. Table 4.11 shows that youth from Atlantic Canada, followed by those living in British Columbia, are the most likely to report that university was the highest level of education that they had participated in by age 19. Not surprisingly, given Quebec's unique education system, youth living in Quebec are more likely to report that the highest level of education they had participated in was college. Alberta had the highest percentage of youth indicating that they did not finish high school (11.1%) and the highest percentage of those who indicate they only had a high school diploma (38.4%). In 2002 and 2003, Alberta was beginning to experience an economic boom motivated by high production in the provinces oil industry. The spike in oil production meant that as the oil and gas industry grew, so did the number of blue collar jobs. By 2006, many of Alberta's blue-collar occupational groups had unemployment rates of less than three percent, indicating a severe skill shortage in many labour market sectors. According to Alberta Employment, Immigration, and Industry (2006), between December 2005 and December 2006, employment grew by 5.6%, or 100,900 people, compared to 2.1% for all of Canada. The labour market opportunities within Alberta's industry-based economy provided an alternative to postsecondary education, thereby encouraging a direct transition from high school to the labour market, or transitions via community college or technical schools.

In addition to differences across Canada's various regions, living in either a rural or urban area was also found to be associated with diversity in educational participation. Specifically, Table 4.11 shows that 40.4% of urban youth have participated in a university program by age 19, compared to only 29.1% of rural youth.

Duadiatan yawiahlar	< High	High	Collogo	Univousity	Total	Total N
Fredictor variables	school	school	Conege	University	70	IN
Canadian Regions						
Atlantic Canada	5.8%	25.1%	19.3%	49.7%	100%	1352
Quebec	4.2%	15.5%	54.4%	25.9%	100%	2626
Ontario	9.7%	23.3%	28.1%	38.8%	100%	7158
Manitoba/						
Saskatchewan	8.2%	36.6%	14.2%	41.0%	100%	1326
Alberta	11.1%	38.4%	17.4%	33.1%	100%	1784
British Columbia	6.6%	34.0%	17.8%	41.6%	100%	2467
Rural/Urban						
Urban	8.2%	25.4%	26.1%	40.4%	100%	12482
Rural	7.9%	30.7%	32.4%	29.1%	100%	16413

 Table 4.11: Highest level of educational participation at age 19 by selected geographical variables, Canada, 2004

Parental Aspirations

The educational atmosphere of the household can play an important part in determining a young person's educational success. Specifically, the level of importance that parents place on education may ultimately have an impact on the importance youth place on education. For example, Knighton and Mirza (2002) found that, while family income is a statistically significant predictor of university attendance among Canadian youth, parental education is a more powerful predictor. We would expect that parents who have themselves participated in university would be more in favour of their children going to university, that is, their aspirations for their children would be higher. In fact, Christofides, Hoy, Li, and Stengos (2008) show that parental expectations regarding their children's PSE attainment have a consistent and expected effect on their children's aspiration formation, which, in turn, affects their decision to attend PSE in subsequent years. As can be seen in Table 4.12, among those youth whose parents held high

educational aspirations for them, almost 50% indicated that the highest level of education they had participated in by age 19 was university. On the other hand, among those whose parents had lower educational aspirations for their child, approximately 45% indicated the highest level of education they had participated in was high school, with an additional 34.3% indicating they had not completed their high school education.

 Table 4.12: Highest level of educational participation at age 19 by parental educational aspirations, Canada, 2004

Parents' Aspirations	< High school	High school	College	University	Total %	Total N
High school or less	34.3%	44.4%	16.0%	5.2%	100%	324
College	14.6%	39.9%	33.7%	11.7%	100%	4064
University	5.0%	20.7%	25.0%	49.3%	100%	11072

Summing up, while at age 15 the majority of youth (71.9%) wanted to attend university, only 35.4% had participated in university by age 19. Some of this is due, of course, to the relatively short time period covered by Cycles One to Three of the YITS. But some of the difference might also be because initially high aspirations in some groups might be starting to decline. We have seen that, in general, the predictors of educational aspirations at age 15 are also influential predictors of educational participation by age 19. But we have been looking only at bivariate relationships, and need to see what effect aspirations have on educational outcomes, controlling on family background and other important predictor variables.

Research Question 3: Do educational aspirations at age 15 inform educational participation at age 19?

As was shown earlier in this chapter, while the majority of YITS participants aspire to attend university, only about half as many have participated in university by age 19. We have also seen that the same factors that shape university aspirations at age 15, particularly family background, also have an impact on university attendance by age 19. However, a key question remains – do educational aspirations affect educational outcomes, controlling on these other factors?

Beginning with a look at the bivariate relationship between aspirations at age 15 and educational participation by age 19, Table 4.13 shows that approximately 50% of youth who indicated at age 15 that they wanted at least one university degree had, in fact, attended university by age 19. In sharp contrast, less than 10% of those who had not aspired beyond high school had attended university. So, at the bivariate level, aspirations do have a strong impact on educational outcome. Even so, it is also clear that not all of the youth with high aspirations had managed to get to university. Similarly, a small proportion of those who had aimed low had, in fact, gone beyond their aspirations.

educational aspirations at age 15, Canada, 2000 and 2004								
Educational Aspirations	< High school	High school	College	Univer- sity	Total %	Total N		
High school diploma								
or less	26.2%	48.6%	17.0%	8.2%	100%	854		

37.1%

19.5%

41.3%

24.6%

3356

10779

100%

100%

9.1%

51.3%

Table 4.13: Highest level of educational participation at age 19 by

12.4%

4.6%

College

1+ university degrees

These findings suggest that young people's positive attitudes towards education achievement, in the form of educational aspirations, do encourage higher levels of educational participation. This is consistent with Bourdieu's notion of the habitus as a set of attitudes and beliefs that influence a young person's view on what are possible accomplishments given their view on the world and their place in it. For those youth who decide early in their adolescence that post-secondary education is not an option, their actions may correspondingly lead them to be educationally disengaged. On the other hand, for those who set their aspirations high, post-secondary education appears to be a feasible option. However, while there is a strong relationship between aspirations and outcomes, not all those who aspire for university make that specific transition, at least by age 19. While their habitus may allow them to aspire to this transition, Bourdieu might argue that limitations in their familial background, in the form of relatively less access to the various forms of capital, make this transition less likely.

Net Effects of Educational Aspirations on University Participation

The previous analysis reveals a strong connection between educational aspirations at age 15 and educational participation four years later. However, after controlling for many of the factors that were previously shown to shape educational aspirations, including parents' aspirations for their children, will aspirations continue to have a direct impact on subsequent educational participation? In Step One in the logistic regression analysis presented in Table 4.14, the role of educational aspirations at age 15 in predicting university attendance at age 19 is evaluated, without the addition of any statistical controls.

In Step Two, the same predictors of educational aspirations used earlier in Table 4.5 are now examined to see if they have a net effect on educational participation, controlling on educational aspirations themselves.

Without the introduction of any statistical controls, Table 4.14 shows that, compared to youth who aspired to a high school education or less, those who aspired to go to university were approximately 12 times more likely to attend university by age 19. This very strong impact is, of course, the same one described above in Table 4.13, but in the form of a cross-tabulation. While the odds-ratio drops considerably (from 11.85 to 3.37), the effect of educational aspirations on university participation still remain strong and statistically significant after controlling for the effects of individual socio-demographic variables, such as, family SES measures, geography, parental educational aspirations, and high school grades and courses (Step Two). Specifically, youth aspiring to attend university are still more than three times more likely than those aspiring to a high school diploma or less to actually attend university by age 19.

Within this model, the strongest predictors of university attendance, with the exception of youth's own educational aspirations, was taking university preparatory classes in mathematics (2.374) and English (1.739) and having an overall grade average of 80% or higher. Parental education was also found to have a very strong net effect on educational participation by age 19, with youth whose parents are university educated being 2.4 times more likely to attend university than their peers whose parents who are not. Parental aspirations for their child and household income are also found to shape educational participation, as do the geographical measures included in the analysis. However, overall, youth's educational aspirations are found to exert the strongest effect on educational participation, even after controlling for this long list of social, demographic, and geographical variables.

	Predictor Variables	Step 1	Step 2	
Educational Aspirations	College	1.127	1.115	
_	1+ University Degrees	11.845 ***	3.374 **	*
	High School Less			
Sex:	Female		1.371 **	*
	Male			
Visible Minority-	Visible Minority		1 373	
Immigrant Status:	Immigrant		**	*
	All Else			
Family Structure:	Step-parent		.739 **	*
	Single parent		1.121	
	Other		.830	
	Two parent			
First Language of Youth	French - Quebec		1.126	
	French		1.176	
	Other		1.036	
	English			
University Preparatory			1 720 **	
Classes (gr.12)	English - Yes		1./39 **	~
University Properatory	No			
Classes (gr. 12)	Math - Yes		2 374 **	*
(g)	No			
Overall Grades	69% or lower		.094 **	*
	70% to 79%		.295 **	*
	80% or higher		, .	
Parental Education:	1 Degree		1.636 **	*
	2 Degrees		2.374 **	*
	No Degrees			
Parental Occupation	Skilled		.889 *	
···· - · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Semi-skilled		.730 **	*
	Un-skilled		.722	
	Managerial/professional			
_	Semi-skilled Un-skilled <i>Managerial/professional</i>		.730 ** .722	*

Table 4.14: Logistic regression predicting university attendance at age 19,Canada, 2000 and 2004

Household Income:	\$30K - \$44,999		1.106	
	\$45K - \$59,999		1.084	
	\$60k - \$74,999		1.268	**
	\$75K - \$89,999		1.417	***
	\$90K +		1.470	***
	<\$30,000			
Parental PSE Aspirations				
for Youth	College		.947	
	1+ University Degrees		1.910	***
	High School Diploma or Less			
Canadian Regions	Atlantic Canada		1.494	***
	Quebec		.536	***
	Manitoba/Saskatchewan		1.176	
	Alberta		.843	*
	British Columbia		.868	*
	Ontario			
Rural/Urban	Rural		.813	***
	Urban			
Nagelkerke R Square		.218	.487	
Ν		14910	14148	

Discussion

In this chapter, patterns of educational aspirations and participation of Canadian youth between the ages of 15 and 19 were explored. It was found that despite the high aspirations that were initially observed among the YITS participants, large and systematic variations were found across groups. Specifically, parental educational attainment and the educational aspirations parents have for their children were found to be the most influential factors affecting educational aspirations when a variety of social, demographic, and geographic variables are evaluated. Utilizing the same type of analytic model that was used to explore educational aspirations, but with the addition of aspirations themselves, the strongest predictor of university attendance at age 19 was found to be educational

aspirations, followed by grades in high school and high school courses. Parental educational attainment and parents' aspirations for their children were also found to be the strongest of a number of factors that had significant influences in shaping educational participation patterns.

Based on these findings, one might conclude that aspirations at age 15 and high school engagement/achievement matter the most for subsequent postsecondary participation when all other factors are controlled. However, this conclusion may be premature since there is an element of causal ordering that is implicit in the model of educational participation discussed in this chapter. For example, a youth is born and socialized into a certain family of a certain socioeconomic status, which was shown in the first half of this chapter to be the primary predictor of educational aspirations at age 15, in turn, affecting their high school achievement, and ultimately, their post-secondary participation. In other words, in statistical language, family background may have indirect effects on post-secondary educational participation via aspirations, as well as direct effects.

In Chapter 2 the concept of "circles of causality" was presented as a critique of the status attainment model. While the original model proposed a set sequencing of particular events, Haller and Portes (1973) argue that the sequence hypothesized in the original model may not be the in the correct order or links between particular variables may be reciprocally related. One of the unique strengths of the Youth in Transition Survey is that data were collected at three time points, with an additional time point generated from retrospective information provided by the parents of the YITS participants. These four time

143

points each provide key variables found in the status attainment model but, by virtue of when they were asked and the time period to which they refer, they are set in an explicit order, simplifying issues of "circles of causality" found in the original status attainment model.

Following Bourdieu's theory of practice, the family is the primary site of socialization. Parental educational attainment brings a certain level of cultural capital into the home which can be converted into social and economic capital. These various forms of capital, particularly in high levels, are associated with particular advantages, such as access to educational resources and opportunities, specific knowledge about the particulars involved in making a successful educational transition and the links between educational training and employment. Youth from families where the parents have higher levels of educational attainment have a type of inside knowledge which would help them to be more aware of the types of high school classes to take, the grades required to attend university, how to achieve these grades, and the mechanisms for being successful once they have enrolled in university. For these youth, educational aspirations may be more meaningful at a younger age, particularly in the early years of high school so they can begin to take the necessary steps to make these aspirations a reality.

In this way, the ascribed variables that were examined in this chapter (e.g., family socio-economic status) would be more influential on the achieved variables (e.g. high school grades) during the early stages of a model of educational participation. So, for example, parental education may have a stronger direct role in shaping a young person's educational aspirations than on their eventual level of educational participation. These aspirations, if meaningfully connected to a concrete, well-informed plan, would then play a role in shaping high school achievement and subsequent post-secondary involvement. Relating this back to Bourdieu's theory of practice, habitus, as an embodiment of socio-familial background of the youth, may be directly connected with what I term the familial field. As youth make the transition from junior high to high school, their exposure to capital beyond the family expands. Educational aspirations may more closely align with the goals of their expanding peer group, even if youth are themselves unaware of the particulars required to achieve those goals. If this is true, high school grades might be more closely associated with university attendance than the initial educational aspirations observed among youth people at age 15. In this way, Bourdieu's theory of practice, in conjunction with the analytic model of status attainment theory, can help us account for the problems of causal ordering and may provide insight into why educational aspirations, while a powerful motivator for young people, do not necessarily directly translate into subsequent educational participation. The next chapter will take his theoretical framework and apply it to a model of causation to evaluate its applicability within the contemporary Canadian context.

Chapter 5: Connecting the Dots: Evaluating the Direct and Indirect Effects of Educational Aspirations on Educational Participation

Introduction

Canadian teenagers have high educational aspirations. When asked about the highest level of education they would like to attain, approximately 72% of Canadian 15 year-olds indicated that they would like to have one or more university degrees. However, by age 19, only 34.9% indicated that university was the highest level of education in which they had participated. Recognizing that some might still enter the university system at a later age, it is still clear that there is a large discrepancy between the educational aspirations and the realities of subsequent educational participation among YITS participants. So what happens to these young people? Why are half of those who aspired to university able to achieve their educational aspirations by age 19 while the others are not? And what about their education by age 19 more likely to maintain high aspirations, and vice versa?

Educational participation has been shown, both within this dissertation and in other studies, to be restricted by a variety of social barriers. For example, Frenette (2007) has shown that limited financial resources are a major barrier to access to higher education in Canada, both in terms of not being able to afford tuition and fees or the expenses associated with living away from home, such as rent or residence fees. However, other factors can also be linked with creating barriers to higher education, such as the educational atmosphere within the familial household, a young person's attitudes towards educational participation, and inadequate preparation for post-secondary studies. These last barriers are not always as directly correlated with educational participation since they are often influenced by various background variables such as parental education and socioeconomic status. For example, youth from university-educated families may be better prepared for the challenges of post-secondary education. They may have higher educational aspirations then their peers, and they may have higher marks in grade 12 as a result of their family background, their higher educational aspirations, or both. Because many of these variables are interconnected, or informed by a variety of social and familial background factors, disaggregating the effects and calculating the relative impact of their direct and indirect effects is essential for understanding the individual and social processes that influence educational participation.

In the previous chapter, marks in grade 12 were shown to have among the strongest effects on educational participation by age 19, almost as strong as educational aspirations held at age 15. In the status attainment model, these variables are defined as achieved factors, characteristics which a young person can personally influence or alter. In contrast, family socio-economic status and other individual demographic variables are defined as ascribed factors, those which a youth is born into and has little to no influence over. Such ascribed factors were also shown in the previous chapter to have substantial significant effects on educational participation by age 19. However, since grade 12 marks and educational aspirations at age 15 had the largest net impacts on initial post-

secondary participation, it could be argued that, despite ascribed characteristics which had somewhat weaker effects, to a significant extent young people can shape their educational future and overcome traditional socio-structural barriers, such as family socio-economic status, if they work hard enough and aim high. But is this really the case?

Bourdieu's theory of practice tells us that individual actions and motivations are shaped by exposure to various forms of capital, which often come via the family and the experiences within the field. The field can best be conceived of as the social space that contains both the family and extends into the larger community. Within that social space, a young person sees the social world in a particular way, informed by their habitus. Following Bourdieu's theoretical framework which has a strong temporal element, the findings presented in the previous chapter are incomplete or possibly tell a misleading story. Educational aspirations and high school grades, following Bourdieu's logic, should be informed by the field in which the youth was raised. This field, at age 15, is largely informed by the family, shaped primarily through familial capital in all its forms. The influence of both the field and the family comes to shape a young person's habitus which not only informs what a young person sees as an educational possibility or not, measured via educational aspirations, but also how well they are performing in the education system, measured via high school grades. From Bourdieu's perspective, rather than being exogenous predictors, the social psychological and performance aspects of educational success are

intervening variables, shaped by background variables including the socioeconomic status of the family and other ascribed characteristics.

In 1983, Looker and Pineo examined the social psychological variables associated with the status transmission process using data from 400 teenagers and their parents. Building on the original Wisconsin status attainment model, Looker and Pineo, much like what will be done in this chapter, attempted to evaluate the role of intervening social psychological variables in the educational attainment process. Recognizing the link between family socio-economic status and educational attainment, Looker and Pineo examined value orientations in an attempt to clarify the importance of educational and occupational aspirations and achievements in young people's transition from school to work. As was done with the Youth in Transition Survey, Looker and Pineo collected data from both parents and youth, allowing them to examine the extent to which parental values are transmitted to the children and the extent to which these values influence the educational and occupational aspirations of the youths. Their work, while not explicitly citing the work of Bourdieu, began a trend towards linking family-level ascribed variables with individual-level achieved variables. By recognizing the link between these variables, aspirations came to be defined as not only an outcome variable but also a crucial intervening variable in the status attainment process.

By connecting the ascribed components of Bourdieu's theoretical framework with the achieved factors which were demonstrated by Looker and Pineo to be influenced by ascribed factors, we put more emphasis on an explicit temporal ordering of the life course. In turn, we can then try to assess the relative weight of the direct and indirect effects associated with the processes of educational participation. Specifically, a longitudinal analysis of youth's educational participation places educational aspirations at age 15 as an intervening variable between exogenous ascribed factors and educational participation at age 19.

In Figure 5.1, "A Conceptual Model of Educational Attainment and Aspirations", educational participation at age 19 is positioned as a function of grade 12 marks, educational aspirations at age 15, and parental educational aspirations. In turn, all of these intervening variables are modeled as a function of exogenous individual and family-level variables, including parental education, gender, visible minority immigrant status, and living in a rural or urban area, across the various Canadian regions. The choice of specific exogenous variables is based on the findings of the previous chapter. That is, only those variables with substantial significant net effects in the multivariate logistic regression analysis are included in the path analyses in this chapter. In Chapter 4, the list of independent variables encompassed a much wider array of familial and individual-level variables.²²

In Figure 5.1, the intervening variables are presented in appropriate temporal order: parental aspirations for their children precede their children's

²² In Chapter 4, independent variables included were: sex, visible-minority immigrant, first language of youth, family structure, parental education, parental occupation, and household income, Canadian region, rural/urban, parental educational aspirations for the youth, educational aspirations at age 15 years, grade 12 marks, level of English and math taken in grade 12.

educational aspirations at age 15 which, in turn, precedes academic participation in grade 12, and subsequent educational participation at age 19. Parental education, gender, visible-minority immigrant status, as well as the geographical variables, are presented as exogenous to the rest of the educational participation model, but no attempt is made to identify a causal ordering among them (e.g., it could be argued that parental education and visible-minority immigrant status would differ across regions and in urban and rural areas). While Figure 5.1 displays only direct effects, it is not unreasonable to expect, for example, that educational aspirations at age 15 may also have an indirect effect on educational participation at age 19 through, for example, marks in grade 12. The statistical analyses presented in this chapter will examine both direct and indirect effects.

Figure 5.1: A conceptual model of educational participation and aspirations



The first statistical model explored in this chapter will evaluate the predictors of educational participation at age 19. The second model will expand on the first and evaluate the predictors of educational aspirations at age 19. In doing so, this chapter takes the status attainment model a step further to explore how initial educational participation at age 19 may affect subsequent educational aspirations. It is important not only to explore initial post-secondary participation

patterns among those who either attend or do not participate in higher education immediately following high school but also to focus on their goals for future educational attainment as reflected in their aspirations at age 19. In fact, postsecondary educational aspirations among youth at age 19 are perhaps even more important than the educational aspirations held at a younger age as the aspirations held by 19 year olds may be more reflective of the realities of post-secondary education and what is required to successfully compete in the labour market. As the previous chapter showed, the educational aspirations of the YITS participants are quite high. However, could these aspirations be unrealistically high? Do the realities of educational participation become more obvious as youth begin their transition into young adulthood, from high school into the post-secondary education system or into full time labour market participation?

Following Bourdieu's theoretical framework, educational aspirations, particularly at a younger age, are a reflection of habitus. However, life experiences that extend beyond those of the family into the community, for example, the influence of peer groups, may have an effect on early educational aspirations. To check for this possibility, it to useful to examine educational aspirations at age 19, once a young person has begun to experience the realities of the social world for him or herself. It is, at this point, after initial plans for postsecondary education either do or do not transpire, that educational aspirations may by adjusted to more closely align with traditional patterns of social reproduction.

152

Analytic Design

Drawing on the conceptual model presented in Figure 5.1, this chapter will begin to explore temporal ordering in a model of post-secondary educational participation, positioning educational aspirations as both a key dependent variable and as an intervening variable. This chapter, further developing the findings presented in the previous chapter, addresses questions about the role of grade 12 marks on post-secondary educational participation while simultaneously examining the effects of various socio-economic, demographic, and attitudinal variables. Specifically, this chapter will address the following research questions:

- 1. Do family socio-economic, individual demographic, and geographic factors, along with parents' aspirations for their children, have direct or indirect (via aspirations at age 15) effects on educational participation at age 19?
- 2. Do the educational aspirations young people have at age 15 have a direct effect on educational participation at age 19, over and above the indirect effects they have via grade 12 grades which were shown in Chapter 4 to affect post-secondary educational participation?
- 3. Are young people who have acquired more post-secondary education by age 19 more likely to have maintained their educational aspirations by age 19?

Path analysis is used to answer these questions and to determine the empirical validity of the theoretical model presented in Figure 5.1. Path analysis consists of a series of temporally-ordered multiple regression analyses.²³ Each successive

²³ Path analysis was chosen as the statistical technique for this part of my analysis because it would be understood by a broader audience. An alternative would have been to use structural equation modeling (SEM). The main advantage of SEM lies in its use of multiple indicators for each construct in the model, rather than the single indicators utilized in path analysis. However, with the exception of familial socio-economic status, each core construct in the model could be captured with only one indicator in the YITS database. In the case of familial socio-economic status, which can be measured using household income, occupation, and parental education, each

regression equation changes the status of a previous independent (predictor) variable to that of a dependent variable. Given that educational participation is hypothesized to be the effect of a series of life course events which are chronologically ordered, the nature of one event is argued to have consequences on subsequent events leading to the final outcome of educational participation.

Model 1: Predicting Post-secondary Participation at Age 19

The first step in assessing Model 1 involves regressing educational participation at age 19, measured with an ordinal scale ranging from less than high school to university, on grade 12 marks, educational aspirations at age 15, and parental educational aspirations, along with a series of exogenous variables, including, Canadian region (Atlantic, Ouebec, Prairies, Alberta, British Columbia), urbanrural residency (rural = 1), visible-minority immigrant status (visible minority immigrant = 1), gender (male = 1), and parental education (0 = no university degrees, 1 = 1 degree, 2 = 2 or more degrees). The second regression equation uses grade 12 marks as the dependent variable with educational aspirations at age 15 and parental educational aspirations, along with the exogenous control variables as predictors. Third, educational aspirations at age 15 are used as the dependent variable with parental educational aspirations and the other exogenous variables as predictors. The forth model positions parental educational aspirations as the dependent variable. Table 5.1 provides a complete break-down of the regression coefficients (β) for Model 1, as well as the variance explained (R^2) for

measure was tested during preliminary analyses to determine which provided the strongest effect on the dependent variable.

each respective equation. As can be seen, all of the regression equations have quite a few statistically significant results, as we would expect given the large sample size. Consequently, to reduce the visual complexity, only results with a standardized path coefficient (β) greater than 0.100 are highlighted (with bold lines) in Figure 5.2. The lighter lines in Figure 5.2 represent those effects which are statistically significant, but not as substantively important (i.e., the path coefficients are less than 0.100). The complete list of calculated coefficients(β) can be found in Table 5.1.

Focusing on the temporal sequencing of causality (as hypothesized in Figure 5.1), this analysis evaluates the nature of influences throughout the life course which may or may not shape educational participation by age 19. To begin, educational participation at age 19 is shown to be strongly and positively influenced by grade 12 marks ($\beta = 0.467$). Parental education ($\beta = 0.164$), parental educational aspirations ($\beta = 0.261$), and educational aspirations held by the youths themselves at age 15 ($\beta = 0.270$) are also found to exert significant positive direct effects on patterns of educational participation, but they are not as strong as the effects of school performance (grade 12 marks). Interestingly, gender, visible-minority immigrant status, and region did not exert substantial significant effects, as would have been expected based on the findings presented in Chapter 4. The combination of predictor variables accounts for 34 percent of the variation in educational participation at age 19. Figure 5.2: Significant effects (standardized slopes) of selected variables on educational participation among 19-year old youth, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 2004



The second equation displayed in Table 5.1 examines the factors that influence grade 12 marks. As Figure 5.2 reveals, grade 12 marks are directly affected by educational aspirations at age 15 ($\beta = 0.215$), gender ($\beta = -0.147$)²⁴, parental educational aspirations ($\beta = 0.144$) and parental education attainment (β = 0.140). The third equation in Table 5.1 shows that educational aspirations among 15 year old youth are positively affected by parental educational aspirations ($\beta = 0.429$) and education participation ($\beta = 0.117$), but particularly the former. Finally, we also see that parents' educational aspirations for their children are positively affected by their own education participation ($\beta = 0.233$). Furthermore, being a visible-minority immigrant (β =.113) and living in an urban community (β =-149) are both associated with higher levels of educational aspirations. It is important to note that, while parental education is shown to shape parental educational aspirations, the current model does not incorporate other variables which are typically associated with parental attitudes towards educational achievement, such as occupation and income (Finnie and Mueller, 2008). The decision to only include parental education as a predictor in the model was based on findings from the previous chapter which found that parental education, compared to occupation and income, was the strongest predictor of educational aspirations and initial educational participation among the YITS respondents.

²⁴ The negative coefficient on gender indicates that being male, compared to female, is associated with lower grade 12 marks.

	β Values for Predicted (dependent) Variables							
	Parental Educational				Educational			
	Educatio	nal	Aspiratio	ns	Grade 12		Participat	tion
Predictor Variables	Aspiratio	ons	@ age 1	5	Marks		age 19	
Parental Education	0.233	*	0.117	*	0.140	*	0.164	*
Gender	-0.096	*	-0.079	*	-0.147	*	-0.092	*
Visible-Minority								
Immigrant	0.113	*	0.045	*	-0.008		0.079	*
Atlantic	0.066	*	0.025	*	0.023		0.116	*
Quebec	0.012		-0.014		0.111	*	-0.070	*
Prairies	0.004		0.011		0.035	*	-0.061	*
Alberta	-0.011		0.003		-0.082	*	-0.117	*
British Columbia	0.000		0.005		0.037	*	-0.045	
Rural	-0.149	*	-0.019		0.039	*	0.005	
Parental Educational								
Aspirations			0.429	*	0.144	*	0.261	*
Educational								
Aspirations @ age 15					0.215	*	0.270	*
Grade 12 Marks							0.467	*
Ν	11900		10707		10498		10432	
R ²	12.1%		25.2%		19.2%		34.3%	

Table 5.1. Standardized slopes and R² for the direct effects of predictor variables, Canada, 2000, 2002, 2004

*Path coefficient is statistically significant ($p \le .05$)

Overall, these findings show that both achieved characteristics (high school performance) and ascribed characteristics (family SES and individual demographic characteristics), along with aspirations (both parents and children), affect post-secondary educational participation. However, by using path analysis techniques that incorporate a temporal model of causality, we are reminded not to stop after observing that grade 12 marks have the strongest direct effect on educational participation at age 19. We can also see that academic performance in grade 12 is influenced by a large number of prior variables, including family SES and individual demographic characteristics, as well as youth's and parent's post-

secondary aspirations. Thus, it is possible that the combination of direct and indirect effects of these background variables on educational participation at age 19 are, in fact, larger, than the direct effects of grade 12 marks.

In order to more fully understand how a particular exogenous or intervening variable in Model 1 affects educational participation at age 19, we must separate out its direct and indirect effects. For example, along with the direct effect parental education has on educational participation at age 19 (β = 0.164), it is important to determine how much of an additional indirect effect is transmitted via parental educational aspirations, youth's educational aspirations at age 15, grade 12 marks.

Indirect effects (i.e., the effects transmitted via an intervening variable) are calculated by multiplying the direct effect of the prior variable on the intervening variable by the direct effect of the intervening variable on the ultimate dependent variable (Lait & Wallace, 2002, p.415). For example, if you multiply the effect of parental education on parental aspirations (the intervening variable) by the direct effect of parental aspirations on educational participation at age 19, you have calculated one portion of the indirect effects could occur through youth's aspirations and also through grade 12 marks). The total effects of a particular predictor variable in Model 1 represent the sum of its indirect and direct effects on the dependent variable, educational participation at age 19. By taking into account both indirect and direct effects, we gain a more complete understanding of the cumulative effects of specific exogenous variables. More specifically, we

can determine whether grade 12 marks really are the strongest predictor of educational participation at age 19.

With respect to the predictors of educational participation by age 19, Table 5.2 shows that parental educational aspirations and the educational aspirations of young people themselves have indirect effects that substantially exceed their direct effects. Specifically, of the total effect of parental educational aspirations (β =.444) on educational participation, 59% is transmitted directly (β =.261) and 41% is transmitted indirectly via its effect on youth's educational aspirations and grade 12 marks. Furthermore, of the total effect of youth's educational aspirations at age 15 on educational participation at age 19 (β =.444), 73% is transmitted directly and the remainder is transmitted indirectly through grade 12 marks. While their effects are not as substantial as those found for parents' and youth's educational aspirations and grade 12 marks, the effect of parental education, gender, visible-minority immigrant status, and living in a rural community on educational participation increased when the total effects (both direct and indirect) were considered.

Table 5.2: Direct, indirect, and total effects (standardized slopes) ofvariables on educational participation at age 19, Canada, 2000, 2002, and2004

Predictor variables	Direct	Indirect	Total Effects
Parental Education	0.164	0.058	.222
Gender	-0.092	0.145	237
Visible-Minority Immigrant	0.079	0.068	.0147
Rural	0.005	0.051	056
Parental Ed. Aspirations	0.261	0.183	.444
Educational Aspirations	0.270	0.100	.370
Grade 12 Marks	0.467	0.000	.467

In one sense, these findings support the previous conclusion that grade 12 marks matter the most for educational participation at age 19, since even when direct and indirect effects are added together, the total effect of grade 12 marks in Table 5.2 is still larger than the total effect of any other single variable. However, when we consider the sum of the total (direct and indirect) effects of all the statistically significant ascribed characteristics (i.e., parents' SES measured by their education, gender, visible-minority immigrant status), we see that it is slightly larger than the total effect of achieved characteristics (grade 12 marks). If we were to add the total effect of parents' aspirations to the sum of the total effects of the ascribed characteristics, the difference would be even larger.

Thus, to conclude that grade 12 marks, in conjunction with educational aspirations at age 15, are the primary determinants of educational participation at age 19 is simply not correct. It is clear that background factors play a very important part in shaping grade 12 marks and youth's educational aspirations. Bourdieu's theory of practice maintains that youth reflect the social positioning of their parents and will often come to engage with the school system in ways that will mirror the educational and occupational status, and values, of their parents. This understanding of the social reproduction of educational inequality is clearly supported by the very large combined effect of ascribed characteristics, particularly parental education, and parental aspirations played on the educational aspirations young people hold at age 15 and on their grade 12 marks and subsequently, educational participation by age 19.

Model 2: Are young people who have acquired more post-secondary education by age 19 more likely to have maintained they educational aspirations by age 19, and vice versa?

At the beginning of this chapter, I hypothesized that educational aspirations at age 19 would be affected by educational participation at age 19, reasoning that as a young person begins to pursue post-secondary education or begin full-time labour force participation, certain social and economic realities may become more apparent. For example, the unexpected costs associated with university attendance may lead some youth to lower their educational aspirations. However, if there is no association between educational participation and educational aspirations at age 19, perhaps aspirations are more a reflection of society-wide norms, rather than meaningful goal-setting on the part of individuals. In other words, as public rhetoric encourages participation in post-secondary education, particularly university participation, young people may feel pressured to indicate that they want to attend university without understanding the realities of such a decision. Therefore, education aspirations, while important at the high school level with respect to shaping grade 12 marks, may be less meaningfully with respect to actual educational participation at age 19.

The following path analysis is an extension of the Model 1 analysis. Specifically, Model 2 replicates the previous analysis with the addition of educational aspirations at age 19 as the ultimate dependent variable. Since the relationships among the exogenous and intervening variables were already discussed, the focus of the following discussion will be on the effects of the exogenous and intervening variables on educational aspirations at age 19. Figure 5.3 shows that educational participation at age 19 ($\beta = 0.154$), followed by educational aspirations at age 15 ($\beta = 0.208$), are the strongest predictors of educational aspirations at age 19. The first of these two findings support my initial hypothesis that educational aspirations at age 19 would be significantly affected by initial educational attainment experiences. Specifically they show that higher levels of educational participation and higher levels of educational aspirations at age 15 are associated with higher educational aspirations at age 19, controlling on all the other variables in Model 2.

Figure 5.3: Significant effects (standardized slopes) of selected variables on educational aspirations among 19-year old youth, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 2004



The significant positive relationship between aspirations measured four years apart indicates that aspirations are relatively stable, but the only moderate size of the path coefficient also suggests that they do vary over time. Some of this change may be random, or a function of factors not included in the model, but some is also a function of the exogenous variables in Model 2. More importantly, the fairly strong effect of educational participation at age 19 suggests that young people are beginning to experience the social and economic realities of postsecondary educational participation. Recognizing the financial costs associated with attending a post-secondary institution or the skills and credentials required for successful labour market participation, lead to adjusting of one's educational aspirations. However, when the total effects (indirect and direct effects combined) of all the variables in Model 2 are calculated (Table 5.3), that is, considering the background factors which cumulatively come together to shape a young person's life, a somewhat different story emerges as to the strongest influences shaping educational aspirations at age 19.

2000, 2002, and 2001			
Predictor variables	Direct	Indirect	Total Effects
Parental Education	0.021	0.152	0.173
Gender	-0.055	0.087	-0.142
Visible-Minority Immigrant	0.080	0.060	0.140
Rural	-0.102	0.047	-0.149
Parental Ed. Aspirations	0.143	0.180	0.323
Educational Aspirations	0.208	0.071	0.279
Grade 12 Marks	0.066	0.126	0.192
Educational Participation	0.154	0.000	0.154

Table 5.3: Direct, indirect, and total effects (standardized slopes) ofvariables on educational aspirations among 19-year old youth, Canada,2000, 2002, and 2004

With a total effect of 0.323, parental educational aspirations for their child emerges as the strongest single predictor of educational aspirations at age 19. As was demonstrated earlier, parental educational aspirations are strongly correlated with parental educational attainment and are arguably reflective of the familial habitus. In fact, 56% of the influence parental aspirations have on educational aspirations at age 19 is due to their strong indirect effects via their children's aspirations, their performance in grade 12, and their educational participation by age 19. Thus, long after influencing their children's early teenage aspirations, parental educational aspirations continue to play a significant role in their children's lives. Using the language of Bourdieu's theory of practice, family has a profound effect on habitus formation.

The total effect of youth's educational aspirations at age 15 (0.279) are almost as strong as the impact of parents' aspirations. However, unlike parental educational aspirations, the direct effect of youth's aspirations accounts for 74.5% of the total effects. This is likely because there are only two variables in Model 2 that intervene between aspirations at age 15 and at age 19. The third strongest total effect on educational aspirations at age 19 is grade 12 marks which is moderately and positively associated with aspirations at the same age (0.192).

Visible minority immigrant status, gender, rural residence, and parental educational attainment all became more influential in shaping educational aspirations at age 19 when total effects are calculated. Summing up these findings briefly, we see that, controlling on all the other variables in Model 2, children from university educated families, young women, visible minority immigrants, and urban youth are more likely to have high educational aspirations at age 19. The influence of visible minority immigrant status almost doubles (from 0.080 to 0.140) when the indirect effects are added to the direct effects. Similarly, the influence gender has in shaping educational aspirations at age 19 almost triples when indirect effects are considered (-0.055 to -0.142). The effect of living in a certain type of community (i.e., residing in a rural or urban community) also increases, but not by as much, when the indirect effects are considered.

Finally, the total effect of parental educational attainment is 0.173, compared to a very small direct effect of 0.021. This last total effect is particularly important. It speaks to the influential but largely invisible role of parental education in shaping educational outcomes for their children or, more generally, to the ongoing reproduction of educational inequalities in contemporary Canadian society. Specifically, of the total effect of parental educational attainment (0.173), only12% is transmitted directly. In addition, 14% is an indirect effect via early educational aspirations (.024), 19% is indirect via parental education at age 19 (.025). Thus, this path analysis shows that parental educational attainment, operationalizing the various forms of capital found within the household, has a strong and lasting effect on the various social psychological (i.e., aspirations at two time points) and performance measures that are modelled in Figure 5.3.

Discussion

Using path analysis techniques that incorporate a temporal model of causality, the analyses in this chapter were able to link background factors (ascribed characteristics), parents' aspirations and youth's aspirations at age 15, and academic performance in grade 12, to educational participation at age 19. In the previous chapter it was found that grade 12 marks were the strongest predictor of subsequent educational participation. However, further analysis in this chapter revealed that, while performance in grade 12 did have a strong direct effect, other background factors which appeared to have weaker effects actually had equally strong total effects, once their indirect effects through variables like grade 12 grades were taken into account. Thus, the path models presented in this chapter demonstrated that the combination of parental education, gender, visible minority immigrant status, and geographic location, statuses which a young person is either born into or spends a significant proportion of their life experiencing, set into motion a series of processes involving both parents' and youth's aspirations, along with high school performance, which have significant effects, both direct and indirect, on post-secondary participation by age 19. While grade 12 marks still play a significant direct role in shaping educational participation by age 19, they are themselves largely a function of educational aspirations at age 15, as well as parental aspirations and education, and gender. Educational aspirations at age 15 were also shown to be a function of parental educational aspirations which, in turn, were primarily a function of parental educational attainment.
Given the sequential ordering of effects, the calculation of the total effects of each of the exogenous and intervening variables on educational participation at age 19 was the most telling analysis. The total effects take into account the role each variable plays, directly and indirectly, in shaping the subsequent variables in the model. These calculations revealed that grade 12 marks have the strongest effect of any single variable on educational participation at age 19. However, when we consider the sum of the total (direct and indirect) effects of all the statistically significant ascribed characteristics (i.e., parents' SES measured by their education, gender, visible-minority immigrant status), we find that it is slightly larger than the total effect of achieved characteristics (grade 12 marks). If we add the total effect of parents' aspirations to the sum of the total effects of the ascribed characteristics, the difference is even larger.

The second part of this chapter extended the first model to include educational aspirations at age 19 as the final dependent variable. When only direct effects were considered, with the exception of educational aspirations at age 15, educational participation at age 19 was found to be the strongest predictor of educational aspirations at age 19. Yet, when total effects were considered, parental educational aspirations and the educational aspirations of the youth themselves at age 15 were found to play the strongest role in shaping educational aspirations at age 19, followed by educational participation by age 19. Thus, there is some stability in educational aspirations over this critical period in the life course. But aspirations are also affected by experiences, presumably in school and/or at work, between age 15 and 19. However, like the pattern of influence observed for educational participation at age 19, the combined total effect of ascribed characteristics such as parental education, gender, visible-minority immigrant status, and type of community have a substantial effect on educational aspirations at age 19. With the addition of parental educational aspirations, this effect becomes even more pronounced.

Summing up, familial habitus is powerful. It affects not only university enrolment at age 19, but also educational aspirations at both age 15 and age 19, and grade 12 marks. While grade 12 marks initially emerged as the strongest direct predictor of post-secondary participation at age 19, when the indirect and total effects of other ascribed characteristics were considered, a different story emerged. Specifically, familial background remains the strongest predictor of post-secondary educational participation at age 19. Thus, this study supports Bourdieu's theory of practice which maintains that the family is the primary site of socialization where understandings of the social world are shaped. A young person's experiences within the education system are deeply connected with familial capital, as demonstrated through the net effects of the ascribed predictor variables as compared to the achieved variables.

As this chapter has shown, the relationship between educational aspirations and participation is complicated. Parental education and aspirations, as well as gender and visible minority immigrant status, play a significant role in shaping the educational aspirations of youth, and also have prominent indirect effects via aspirations on high school performance and subsequent post-secondary participation. In turn, educational aspirations have a stronger effect on shaping high school grades then they do in shaping post-secondary participation. These findings, as they relate to the core research question in this dissertation, suggest that high educational aspirations in and of themselves are not enough to ensure higher levels of educational participation. However, they do play an essential role within a larger constellation of ascribed and achieved predictor variables. The next chapter adds one more layer to this analysis by asking about the role, if any, that schools play in this complicated set of relationships.

Chapter 6: The Secondary Education System: A Level Playing Field or an Exacerbation of Social Inequalities?

Introduction

Studies connecting school quality with student outcomes have a long history within the social sciences. Researchers have worked with an assortment of school-level variables such as length of the school year, per-student expenditures, and student-teacher ratios to explain a variety of student outcomes, such as future earnings and occupation, as well as educational achievement and attainment (Card and Krueger, 1996; Coleman, et al. 1966; Entwisel and Hayduk, 1988; Maxwell and Maxwell, 1995; Merrigan and Verstraete, 2008; Webbink, 2005). Nevertheless, these studies are varied in their conclusions regarding the relationship between school quality and student outcomes.

Interest in this area expanded in the mid-1960s with the release of the Coleman Report (Coleman et al., 1966). *Equality of Educational Opportunity* offered a unique perspective on educational inequality. Beginning with the widely held notion that a high quality school with high quality resources should help minimize the educational gap that exists between advantaged and disadvantage students, Coleman stated that "just as a loaf of bread means more to a starving man than to a sated one, so one very fine textbook or, better, one very able teacher, may mean far more to a deprived child than to one who already has several of both" (p. 8). But Coleman's research disputed this position, arguing that: "whatever may be the combination of nonschool factors – poverty, community attitudes, low educational level of parents – which put minority children at a disadvantage in verbal and nonverbal skills when they enter the first grade, the fact is the schools have not overcome it" (p. 21). In other words, Coleman argued that educational policies and school-based initiatives were not enough to help disadvantaged students catch up to their advantaged peers.

In recent decades, researchers have sought to challenge Coleman's findings, but with mixed results. Much of this research comes out of the United States where there is a high level of stratification among schools, within cities and across states. While the extent of between-school stratification is not as obvious within Canada, studies of the effects of school quality are still relevant since an evaluation of measures of school quality in and of themselves may provide insight into the types of possible educational interventions that may help disadvantaged youth.

Within the United States, discussions of school quality are often linked to the debates surrounding school choice, that is, whether parents should be able to choose among schools with a wide range of different policies and programs and/or between public, alternative, charter, and private institutions. Powers and Cookson Jr. (1999) argue that the "choice" debate can be broken into two distinct schools of thought. On the one hand are business groups, market theorists, policy advocates, religious groups, and entrepreneurs who believe the public school system is too rigid, monolithic, unaccountable, and thus failing youth (p. 105). These groups maintain that by changing the structure of schooling, that is by giving parents choice over where to send their children, public institutions will become more accountable and effective. On the other hand are those who believe that public schooling is the "cornerstone of democracy" (p. 105) and that there is no clear evidence that a lack of school choice leads to lower achievement levels. An underlying premise of school choice, according to the market approach, is that as parents are given more choices in terms of their children's education, schools will need to become more effective, as measured by levels of student success. Therefore, all schools, regardless of type (i.e., private, charter, or public), will need to increase their quality to remain competitive in a consumer-based "educational" market. While the point of this chapter is not to debate the merits of school choice, discussing this educational philosophy reminds us to take into account differences across schools as school choice has the potential to exacerbate inequalities amongst students by creating homogeneity within schools (i.e. the notion of 'school mix' as argued by Thrupp, 1999), when conducting a study of educational outcomes such as this one.

Decisions regarding school choice often come down to the characteristics of the school itself. Schools which have smaller class sizes, more resources (e.g., libraries, computers, labs), and which provide more instructional hours during the school year are often attractive to parents seeking a more positive educational experience for their children. However, the actual benefits which arise from these characteristics are highly contested. For example, in her study of Milwaukee schools, Rouse (1998) found only indirect evidence that smaller class sizes in primary to grade 5 schools can contribute to higher math achievement levels. Focusing on class size, Dearden, Ferri, and Meghir (2002) found that pupilteacher ratio had very little effect on educational attainment and wages, both ten and twenty years later. Following Brown and Saks (1975) and Eide and Showalter (1998), Bedard (2003) used Canadian Census data to show that the direction and size of the impact exerted by class size, school size, and teacher salaries is not consistent across income levels. Specifically, Bedard found that reducing class size and raising teachers' salaries is beneficial only for those youth from the high end of the income distribution; it is either detrimental or has no effect on those from the lower end of the income distribution.

In a review of studies of school effectiveness, Hanushek (1997) found that results were generally unclear as to the effect on student attainment of educational inputs such as student-teacher ratio, educational attainment of teachers, and annual expenditures per student. While some studies, such as of Lefebvre, Merrigan, and Verstraete (2008), found that the quality of a school does have a positive impact on math performance, others (e.g., Todd and Wolpin, 2007) argue that school inputs have no impact on math and reading achievement scores. Thus, since they are inconsistent in their findings, recent studies reinforce the original findings of the Coleman Report which ultimately argued that differences between schools were not enough to eliminate the effects of family background on student achievement. As stated by Janushek (1986, p. 1162) "it would be easy to conclude that the findings of the [available] studies are inconsistent. But there is a consistency to the results: There appears to be no strong or systematic relationship between school expenditures and student performance."

Despite the fact that research results in this area are inconsistent, local governments continue to push educational agendas which focus on spending a

significant proportion of their budgets on increasing educational resources and investing in programs to help disadvantaged students. For example, Alberta Education has recently formulated an action plan which includes the goal of developing an inclusive education system where each student is provided with a personalized education that focuses on their individual strengths and weaknesses (Alberta Education, 2010). This initiative seeks to improve the learning experiences of Alberta's youth, particularly those considered to be "at-risk". A recent report released by Alberta Education (2010, p. 1) states:

Evidence is mounting that many problems experienced by students in middle and secondary schools – such as disengagement, dissatisfaction with their schooling experience, and dropping out – are significantly linked to the learning environment and disengagement is disproportionately experienced by students living in poverty, ethnic minorities, and other students with diverse learning needs.

Given that local governments continue to focus on increasing school quality as a means of helping disadvantaged students, more research in this area is warranted to determine whether such educational interventions do matter and, if so, which aspects of school quality can have the most positive effect on educational performance among disadvantaged students?

This dissertation has focused on the impact of educational aspirations on educational attainment, specifically post-secondary participation. In the previous chapter, using a longitudinal approach to examine both the direct and indirect effects of educational aspirations in conjunction with other variables, it was found that youth who aspire to higher levels of educational attainment at age 15 achieve higher marks in grade 12 and are more likely to participate in higher levels of post-secondary education by age 19. Youth whose parents are universityeducated have higher educational aspirations themselves, and are more likely to participate in higher levels of PSE by age 19. In contrast, youth who do not have university-educated parents are more likely to have lower educational aspirations at age 15, are more likely to have lower grades in high school, and are more likely to discontinue their education after high school or to drop out prior to graduating. Given that youth whose parents have lower levels of education often experience difficulties making the transition from high school into post-secondary education, particularly university, this chapter adds an additional component to the ongoing debate regarding the importance of school quality by asking whether, in addition to all the other background variables considered in the previous chapter, school quality is associated with both educational aspirations and post-secondary participation?

Bourdieu on the Role of School Quality

Throughout much of his career, Bourdieu grappled with the role of the education system in shaping and reinforcing cultural and social reproduction of inequality. Following his theoretical arguments, some recent empirical studies have asked whether the education system could help expose youth to various forms of capital which are lacking within the familial home, thus giving them advantages that may otherwise not be available to them (Bedard, 2003, Webbink, 2005). However, Bourdieu was quite clear on his position with regards to the role of the education system as a means for overcoming social disadvantages and breaking the cycle of social reproduction. He argued with respect to the

educational attainment/ achievement process that "it becomes necessary to study the laws that determine the tendency of structures to reproduce themselves by producing agents endowed with the system of predispositions which is capable of engendering practices adapted to the structures and thereby contributing to the reproduction of the structures" (Bourdieu, 2006, p.258). In other words, youth endowed with various forms of capital and possessing the proper educational dispositions (habitus) are able to use such resources as a means for manoeuvring between and through educational institutions and do so successfully. Moreover, students who possess attitudes or dispositions (i.e., habitus) similar to that of their teachers are better able to relate to both the teacher and the curriculum established by individuals of a like-minded habitus. This results, overall, in a more positive and meaningful educational career for more advantaged youth. In this way, much like Coleman et al. (1966) argued, Bourdieu's basic position is that disadvantaged youth will continue to be disadvantaged throughout their educational careers.

Bourdieu maintained that the observed link between family SES and educational attainment is often the result of strategic choices and plans made by elite parents to create education systems which favour the privileged (Maxwell and Maxwell, 1995). As children of the elite are endowed with various forms of capital and possess a habitus which aligns with the motivations of the education system, these youth can better maximize the benefits associated with a high quality school whereas working class youth, despite access to the same educational resources, may not have the know-how (habitus) to engage them. The 1985 summary by Robinson and Garnier, as quoted by Maxwell and Maxwell (1995) remains highly relevant:

Through the choice of curriculum, pedagogical methods, the relationship between teacher and students, and the methods of selection – all of which gave the children of the economically privileged and well educated an advantage over the children of the less privileged and less educated – the education system did not break down class and cultural inequalities but reinforced them (Robinson and Garier, 1985, p. 251).

Based on this line of reasoning, one might argue that educational interventions will not succeed in narrowing the gap between educationally-advantaged and educationally-disadvantaged youth.

However, the success of educational interventions is often measured via achievement testing and subsequent wage levels and occupational prestige (Bedard, 2003, Card & Kruegar, 1992, Dearden, Ferri, & Meghir, 2002). As this dissertation has shown, educational aspirations at age 15 have both a direct and indirect effect on subsequent post-secondary educational participation. If schools, through various educational interventions such as decreasing classroom size, increasing access to quality educational resources, and increasing the amount of time students spend in the classroom, could both elevate student aspirations and also help prepare students to achieve these goals, then perhaps educational interventions may be more effective in creating positive student gains. This chapter will evaluate this assertion by asking whether, controlling on other relevant factors, aspirations are higher in schools with more resources and whether, as a result, students are also more likely to participate in higher levels of the post-secondary educational system by age 19.

Analytic Design

Drawing on the conceptual model developed in Chapter 2, this chapter adds the effects of school quality to the temporal model of post-secondary educational participation presented in Chapter 5. School quality will be measured using the following variables: (1) level of educational resources found within the attended school; (2) average student-teacher ratio within the attended school; and (3) total number of instructional hours per academic year within the attended school. In addition, the following analyses will compare the type of high school attended, either a private or public school.²⁵ Private schools are marketed largely on the presumed better achievements of their graduates, both in high school and in the post-secondary system (Maxwell & Maxwell, 1995; Davies & Quirke, 2006; Davies, Quirke, & Aurini, 2006). A more complete description of these variables can be found in Chapter 3.

Specifically, this chapter will address the following research questions:

1. What effect, if any, does high school quality have on the educational attainment process? In other words, controlling on the socio-economic, attitudinal, and demographic variables already examined in Chapters 4 and 5, are schools with different characteristics and different levels of resources a site where the reproduction of social inequality across generations can be partially ameliorated?

²⁵ A number of other possible school-level variables were available in the YITS database. The decision not to include student peer groups was based on the assumption that this variable could not be incorporated into educational policy in a tangible way. The decision not to use variables such as teacher experience / education and learning incentives for students, was based on the recognition that other variables (i.e., those I did choose) have recently been targeted areas of interest. For example, school choice has become a "hot topic" with many parents searching for more specialized educational options for their children. Within the realm of school choice, parents are typically considering such factors as student-teacher ratio, school-based resources, and the option of enrolling their children in either a public or private school.

2. Does school quality affect the relationships between socio-economic, attitudinal, and demographic variables and educational aspirations at age 15 as well as educational participation at age 19?

A logistic regression analysis predicting educational participation at age 19 is first employed to evaluate the main effects of the four measures of school quality mentioned above. After examining these relationships, the four school quality measures are added to a logistic regression equation with the same dependent variable but also the full list of individual, family, demographic, and geographic variables examined in Chapter 4, to see if the school quality variables have net main effects. The analysis then shifts to an examination of interaction effects. In other words, whether or not school level variables have independent main effects on post-secondary participation, do they also possibly affect the relationships between other predictor variables and youth's educational aspirations at age 15 and post-secondary participation by age 19. This analysis is conducted by comparing two sets of paired logistic regression analyses that contain the same variables examined in the single full-sample logistic regression analyses presented in Chapter 5.²⁶ In the first set of comparisons, the sample is divided into students attending schools with high levels of educational resources (the top 33% of the

²⁶ This approach to examining both individual/family and school-level effects was chosen over hierarchical linear modeling (HLM) because of its relative simplicity. Again, as with the choice of path analysis over structural equation modeling in the previous chapter, my goal was to make my research available to a wider reading audience. The principal advantage to utilizing HLM lies in its ability to separate variance into components explaining the effects of different levels of analysis, such as the effect of students, families, classrooms, and schools. While my simpler approach to looking at possible multi-level interaction effects cannot do this, it can clearly show the extent to which individual- or family-level variables have different effects under different school conditions (e.g., private schools compared to public schools).

educational resource distribution) and those with low levels of educational resources (bottom 33% of the educational resource distribution). In the second set of comparisons, the sample is divided into those youth attending private schools and those attending public schools to establish any educational advantages that may be offered by attending one type of school over the other.²⁷

To determine whether the effect of a particular variable in one sub-sample is significantly different from its effect in the other sub-sample (i.e., when comparing private versus public schools, and high resourced versus low resourced schools), a simple t-test will be employed. In this case, the t-test assesses whether the slopes for a particular variable in a multiple regression equation used in the path analysis are statistically different from one another. A T-ratio that exceeds a value of 1.96 is considered to be statistically significant at the 0.05 level. The formula for this computation is as follows:

$$t = \frac{b_1 - b_2}{\sqrt{SE_1^2 + SE_2^2}}$$

- Where: b1= slope (unstandardized coefficient) for the specific variable in the first equation
 - b2= slope (unstandardized coefficient) for the specific variable in the second equation
 - SE1 = standard error of the coeffficient (b1) in the first equation
 - SE2 = standard error of the coefficient (b2) in the second equation

²⁷ The decision to focus on these two measures of school quality is based, in part, on the results from the multivariate logistic regression analysis presented below in Tables 6.1 and 6.2.

Main Effects of School Resources and School Type on Educational Participation at Age 19

The following analysis begins by questioning whether one or more measures of school quality / type have a significant net impact on university participation of YITS participants by age 19. The only substantial finding in the logistic regression equation displayed in Table 6.1 involves differences between public and private schools. Specifically, compared to those youth who attend private schools, youth who attend public schools are 41% less likely to go to university. Educational resources and total instructional hours have virtually no net effect on university attendance at age 19. The, student-teacher ratio has a significant positive effect on university attendance, which is not what one might expect. Specifically, an increase in the number of students per teacher yields increased odds of university attendance among students. However, the effect is very small, and only statistically significant because of the very large sample. Moreover, it is important to note that only a small percentage of the overall variance (0.7%) in university attendance among 19 year-olds is accounted for with this model. And since the many other variables which we already know to be influential with respect to university attendance are still not in this model, any conclusions drawn at this point are premature.

		Odds Ratio	
Educational Resources		1.002	
Student/Teacher Ratio		1.023	***
Total Instructional Hours		1.000	
Public/Private School	Public	0.589	***
	Private		
Ν		13549	
Nagelkerke R Square		0.007	

Table 6.1: Odds of attending university for selected measures of school quality/type, Canada, 2000 and 2004

* p<.05; **p<.01; ***p<.001

The next step in this analysis provides a more thorough examination of the effects of school quality by expanding the current model to include a more complete list of predictor variables. In Table 6.2, university participation at age 19 is the dependent variable in a logistic regression equation including both school quality/type variables as well as the many family background, individual demographic, attitudinal (i.e., aspirations of youth and parents), and geographic variables found to be of interest in previous chapters.

Similar to what we observed in Table 6.1, the effects of school quality/type in Table 6.2 remain relatively unchanged. Again, the only schoollevel measure found to be substantially and statistically significant is the type of high school attended. Specifically, youth who attend public schools are approximately 44% less likely to go to university than those who attend private schools, controlling on all the other variables in the equation. It would appear, then, that even after controlling for SES (parents' education), private schools still offer educational advantages in terms of higher rates of university attendance. However, once again the issue of direct and indirect effects must be considered. If we were to construct a path model where SES and other ascribed characteristics, along with parents' educational aspirations for their children were positioned as exogenous variables affecting private/public school choice, we would probably find that the total (indirect and direct) effects of these endogenous variables would be substantial, in addition to any direct effects of private school attendance. Recall that, in Chapter 4 (Table 4.14), youth who aspired to attend university at age 15 were 3.7 times more likely to indicate that university was the highest level of education they had participated in by age 19. Within the current analysis, after controlling for school quality/type, the net effect of educational aspirations is virtually unchanged. As for the other individual, family, and geographic-level variables originally examined in Table 4.14, in most cases their effects are reduced a bit when school-level variables are included as predictors (comparing odds ratios in Tables 4.14 and Table 6.2), but the conclusions drawn earlier about their net effects would only change little. In short, at least in terms of main effects, the impact of educational aspirations, parental education, high school grades, and other key explanatory variables on university attendance at age 19 is not substantially altered by the inclusion of school-level variables in the analysis.

		Odds Rat	io
Educational Resources		1.003	
Student/Teacher Ratio		1.019	*
Total Instructional Hours		1.000	
Public/Private School	Public	0.553	***
	Private		
Educational Aspirations	College	0.942	
L.	1+ University Degrees	4.005	**
	High School Diploma or Less		
Sex:	Male	0.755	**:
	female		
Visible Minority-Immigrant	-		
Status:	Visible Minority Immigrant	1.260	**
	All Else		
Overall Grades	69% or lower	0.072	**
	70-79%	0.253	**
	80% or higher		
Parental Education:	1 Degree	1.763	**
	2 Degrees	2.603	**
	No Degrees		
Parental PSE Aspirations for			
Youth	College	0.867	
	1+ University Degrees	2.067	**
	High School Diploma or Less		
Canadian Regions	Atlantic Canada	1.639	**
	Quebec	0.291	**
	Manitoba/Saskatchewan	1.083	
	Alberta	1.050	
	British Columbia	0.916	
	Ontario		
Rural/Urban	Rural	0.810	**:
	Urban		
N		11521	
Nagelkerke R Square		46.2%	

 Table 6.2: Logistic regression, incorporating school-level variables,

 predicting university attendance at age 19, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 2004

* p<.05; **p<.01; ***p<.001

These findings, while preliminary since they focus only on main effects and do not take into account interaction effects, are nevertheless relevant. As Bourdieu suggests, and as Coleman et al. (1966) observed, measures of school quality do not necessarily allow disadvantaged students to overcome the educational barriers associated with their disadvantaged social position. Hence, these preliminary findings point towards an affirmation of Bourdieu's theoretical argument since, even after controlling for the effects of school quality which essentially puts all youth on a level playing field within equally resourced schools, SES continues to play a significant role in shaping patterns of university participation. If the effect of SES had diminished substantially, one might argue that schools can ameliorate any educational disadvantages associated with family background. But capital, habitus, and field all work together to create student outcomes. In this situation, the social space, or field, associated with the school does not, at first glance, appear to be able to help students overcome the disadvantages associated with family background.

School Resources and School Type: Interaction Effects on Aspirations at Age 15 and Educational Participation at Age 19

As already noted, to this point we have only examined the main effects of school-level variables. While they may not have significant main effects on educational participation at age 19 (with the exception of school type – public versus private), it remains possible that they might have interaction effects. In fact, they might also have interaction effects with other predictor variables on young people's aspirations at age 15. For example, we might hypothesize that

family SES would have a much smaller effect on educational outcomes at age 19 in better resourced schools as compared to poorly resourced schools. Or we might predict something similar when comparing private and public schools. In other words, if a low-income youth manages to get into a private school, or a wellresourced school, perhaps family background no longer matters all that much.

In short, despite the highly influential role of the family, schools may still become a site where disadvantages associated with family SES can be negated. For example, schools with positive educational environments may encourage students to raise their educational aspirations, which may subsequently affect how well they perform academically in grade 12, thereby leading to higher levels of educational participation by age 19. If the role of the family, measured through household income and parental educational aspirations, can be mediated through various school quality indicators, then policies which encourage increasing school quality will be increasingly warranted.²⁸

The following analysis examines the merits of such an argument in two different ways. I first examine the effect of schools with either high levels of education resources or low levels of educational resources on the patterns of postsecondary participation already explored in Chapter 5. I then repeat the analysis, this time examining the effect of type of school attended – public high schools

²⁸ The decision to use household income instead of parental education (as in Chapter 5) as a measure of family SES in these tests for interaction effects is based largely on the argument that educational resources that may be lacking in schools can be purchased by wealthier families more so than by low-income families. Furthermore, high income families also have the option of enrolling their children in private schools, more so than low-income families.

compared to private high schools – on the same patterns of post-secondary participation.

Unlike the previous chapter which focused on the overall change in standardized regression coefficients (beta values) that resulted from including additional variables into successive regression equation, this chapter focuses on the differences between the slopes (unstandardized coefficients) of the regression lines when the sample is divided by school type and by levels of school resources. This is necessary since, when the total sample is split into sub-samples, the means and standard deviations of variables in the analysis would not necessarily be the same in the sub-samples. As a result, it might be misleading to compare standardized coefficients (beta values).

High versus Low Resourced Schools: Do School Resources Matter?

Table 6.3 displays the slopes for all predictor variables for the regression equations for educational aspirations at age 15 and for educational participation at age 19, within low and high resourced schools. Focusing first on the predictors of aspirations at age 15 (the left panel in Table 6.3), we observe that only some of the pairs of slopes are significantly different²⁹. While the effects of household income, gender, visible minority immigrant status and urban-rural residence are not significantly different in high and low resourced schools, we can see some significant differences across regions indicating that the educational aspirations of young people are differentially affected by whether or not the youth attends a

²⁹ See Appendix Table 1 for details of the significance tests.

highly-resourced school or poorly-resourced school. For example, compared to Ontario, high resourced schools have a significantly more positive impact on the educational aspirations of 15 year-olds in Atlantic Canada, Quebec, and Alberta. In other words, it appears that the level of school resources matters less, with respect to increasing young students' aspirations, in Ontario than it does in most other provinces. One might speculate that youth in Quebec who attend poorlyresourced schools may be more actively socialized into the CEGEP system which is more vocational in nature than the university system. Similarly, youth in Alberta who attend poorly-resourced schools may be encouraged to pursue careers in that province's blue-collar economy, which requires lower levels of educational attainment.

	Educa	tional	Educational		
Predictor Variables	Aspiration	s @ age 15	Attainment @ age 19		
	Low	High	Low	High	
	Resources	Resources	Resources	Resources	
Household Income	.073	.165	.483	.461	
Gender	050	085	072	054	
Visible-Minority Immigrant	.042	.035	.182*	.378	
Atlantic #	.001*	.142	.251	.209	
Quebec	141*	.098	.036	058	
Prairies	030	.067	028	.001	
Alberta	119*	.064	047	059	
British Columbia	015	.081	.075	065	
Rural	025	087	026	.007	
Parental Educational Aspirations	.502	.551	.233	.217	
Educational Aspirations @ age 15			.284	.347	
Grade 12 Marks			.537	.525	

 Table 6.3: Slopes for the direct effects of predicted variables within high and low resourced schools, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 2004

* Difference between slopes is statistically significant (p < 0.05)

The reference category for the regional comparisons is Ontario

The second panel in Table 6.3 examines the possible differences that attending a high- compared to a low-resourced school may have on the relationships between predictor variables and educational participation at age 19. The only statistically significant difference emerges for visible minority immigrant youth, who are shown to fare better in high resourced schools. Given visible minority immigrant youth may come into the education system with English as a second language and be lacking the types of cultural capital that are valued within the Canadian education system, attending a high resourced school may provide them with additional advantages that they are able to translate into long-term educational advantage through increased odds of attending university.

Private versus Public Schools: Does type of high school matter?

It has been argued that there are specific educational advantages associated with attending private schools over public schools. The benefits of private schools are argued to include such things as smaller class sizes, specialized curriculums, and greater parental control over the educational process. Moreover, given the presumed higher academic standards set in private schools (Quirke, 2009), the type of youth who attend them may be relatively homogeneous with respect to their attitudes towards education. Peer groups, as identified in the original Wisconsin status attainment model, can play a significant role in shaping both aspirations and attainment patterns; therefore, private schools may also offer certain peer group advantages. This analysis, paralleling the previous analysis of low and high resourced schools, examines what effect, if any, school type has on the relationships between the predictor variables examined in previous chapters and educational aspirations at age 15 as well as educational participation at age 19.

Table 6.4 displays the slopes for all predictor variables for the logistic regression equations for educational aspirations at age 15 and for educational participation at age 19, within public and private schools. Focusing first on the predictors of aspirations at age 15 (the left panel in Table 6.4), we observe that only two pairs of the slopes are significantly different. While the effects of household income, gender, visible-minority immigrant status and region are not significantly different in public and private schools, the effect of living in a rural as compared to an urban community does differ depending on whether or not the youth attends a public school or a private school. Specifically, compared to public schools, private schools have a significantly more positive impact on the educational aspirations of urban youth (slopes of -.027 versus -.141, respectively). While an interpretation of this difference is speculative, at best, it may mean that the types of private schools typically attended by rural youth may be less academically focused (e.g., religious private schools).

Still focusing on educational aspirations, it is interesting to note that the role of parental educational aspirations in shaping youth educational aspirations is also affected by whether or not the youth attends a public school or a private school. Specifically, parents' educational aspirations are more influential in public schools. Given that the culture of a private school is aimed towards academic excellence, there may be an expectation that all youth in the school will pursue university after graduating from high school. Within public schools, this

culture may not be as omnipresent. In other words, habitus formation within the familial home, with respect to a university-oriented habitus, appears to be more important within public schools than private schools.

	Educational Aspirations @ age 15		Educational	
Predictor Variables			Attainment @ age 19	
	Public	Private	Public	Private
Household Income	.171	.096	.375*	.133
Gender	090	105	112	049
Visible-Minority Immigrant	.117	.077	.222*	062
Atlantic#	.077	.137	.168	324
Quebec	014	031	060*	379
Prairies	.033	001	047*	320
Alberta	.017	166	108*	692
British Columbia	.006	026	034*	393
Rural	027*	141	006*	177
Parental Educational Aspirations	.504*	.387	.249	.125
Educational Aspirations @ age 15			.302	.366
Grade 12 Marks			.502*	.259

 Table 6.4:
 Slopes for the direct effects of predicted variables within public and private schools, Canada, 2000, 2002, and 2004

* Difference between slopes is statistically significant (p < 0.05)

The reference category for the regional comparisons is Ontario

The second panel of Table 6.5 examines the possible effects that attending a public compared to a private school may have on the relationship between predictor variables and educational participation at age 19. First, we see that the effects of gender, parental educational aspirations, and youth educational aspirations are not significantly different between public and private schools. Table 6.5 does show a significant effect for household income. This effect is positive (youth from more affluent households are more likely to attend university), but it is stronger in public schools. Family SES seems to matter less in private schools. But since other research shows that, on average, youth from more advantaged families are more likely to attend private schools (Davies and Guppy, 2006, p.231), this apparent equalizing effect of private schools may have little impact on the inter-generational reproduction of inequality. You have to first get into a private school before you can benefit from the school culture that promotes university participation.

We do find significant differences for the effects of visible-minority immigrant status. Specifically, visible-minority immigrant youth, while more or less comparable to their White native-born peers when they attend private schools, are more likely to attend university when they attend public schools.

There is also some evidence that regional differences in university attendance by age 19 are accented when comparing youth attending public and private schools. Compared to in Ontario, youth who attended private high schools in Quebec, the Prairies, Alberta, and British Columbia are significantly less likely to be attending university at age 19. While it is not possible to further explain this finding with YITS data, it may be that more private schools in Ontario are of the elite upper-class variety compared to religious and other types of private schools. Ontario is home to many highly-acclaimed private institutions (e.g., Upper Canada College), which may help account for the observed regional differences, However, further research is required to determine if this is true.

Still focusing on university attendance at age 19, grade 12 marks are shown to matter more for youth attending public schools than those attending private schools. Within private schools, students are expected to make the transition into university whereas, within public schools, students may be guided into university only if their grades suggest they are "university-material". In other words, the social fields in which they youth attend schools (defined as either a public school or private school) plays a large role in determining post-secondary educational success.

Discussion

This chapter began by evaluating the main effects of school quality and school type on educational participation by age 19, controlling on the many other individual, family, and other factors found to be important in previous chapters. However, the impacts of educational resources, student/teacher ratio, total instructional hours, and whether the youth attended a public or private high school were minimal. The only substantial finding involved the differences between public and private schools, with students attending the latter being significantly more likely to be attending university at age 19. Furthermore, in terms of main effects, the impact of youth's and parents' educational aspirations, parental education, high school grades, and other key explanatory variables on university attendance at age 19 were not substantially altered by the inclusion of school-level variables.

These preliminary findings suggest that, with the exception of attendance in a private school, an opportunity not available to the majority of Canadian youth, school-level variables do not ameliorate the disadvantages associated with familial background. However, it remains possible that school resources and school type might have interactive effects on university attendance at age 19, and perhaps also on aspirations at the earlier age of 15. In other words, do school quality and type affect the relationships between predictor variables and educational aspirations at age 15, as well as educational participation at age 19. To test for this possibility, the sample was separated into distinct groups, first to compare those attending well-resourced school with those attending poorly resourced schools, and then to compare youth attending private schools with those attending public schools. A more interesting story about school-level effects emerged from these tests for interaction effects.

Some of the significant interaction effects involved regional differences across Canada. Compared to their counterparts in Ontario, students attending private schools in Quebec, the Prairies, Alberta, and BC were less likely to be attending university by age 19. During the 1990s, Ontario saw a 40% increase in both the number of private schools and number of enrolments, compared to just 20% for the rest of the country (Aurini & Davies, 2005, p.461). While the increased number of private schools and private school enrolments would not account for the presence of this "Ontario advantage", it might however, be part of the explanation if the expansion of Ontario's private school system involved greater growth in the number of elite university-focused private schools. Again, as previously mentioned, additional research comparing Ontario's private schools to those across other provinces would be necessary to confirm this hypothesis.

Other significant interaction effects involved visible-minority immigrant youth. Compared to their non-visible-minority immigrant peers, these youth appear to better maximize the advantages offered within high resourced schools. As stated earlier, visible-minority immigrant youth may come into the education system with English as a second language and be lacking the types of cultural capital that are valued within the Canadian education system. Attending a high resourced school may provides them with some additional advantages that they are able to translate into long-term educational advantages through increased odds of attending university.

A somewhat different picture emerged from the interaction tests involving comparisons between young Canadians who had attended public and private schools. Parents' aspirations for their children had a stronger positive effect on their children's university aspirations in public schools compared to private schools. Grade 12 grades had a significantly stronger effect on university participation at age 19 in public than in private schools. In addition, the positive effect of visible minority immigrant status on university attendance was stronger in public schools. The explanation of all of these interaction effects may be the same. In most private schools, planning for university is part of the culture. It is expected that you will go on to university. This would appear to be an ideal "equalizing" environment for young Canadians. The problem, of course, is that most young people from disadvantaged backgrounds do not have the privilege of attending private high schools.

Finally, it is noteworthy that the tests for interaction effects did not show that the impact of youths' educational aspirations on subsequent post-secondary educational participation was affected by neither school resources nor school type. Following Bourdieu's theoretical approach, this would suggest that the mechanisms which shape educational aspirations within the home, such as familial capital and the resulting habitus, are not really affected by school quality and type. In other words, when it comes to both aspiration formation and the effect of aspirations, schools do not significantly alter the highly influential role of the family. Furthermore, as observed earlier, well-resourced schools can sometimes amplify the effects of family SES on post-secondary participation. As for private schools, while several acknowledged predictors of post-secondary participation – household income, visible minority immigrant status, and grade 12 marks – are less influential in them, the real issue has to do with gaining entry into private schools.

Chapter 7: Conclusions

In this chapter, I will begin with an overview of the study. Next, I will summarize and discuss the main findings by systematically addressing the research questions posed in Chapter 2. These findings will be interpreted in relation to both Bourdieu's theory of practice and status attainment theory. I will then discuss the educational policy implications of the study, before commenting on a few study limitations and future areas of research.

Overview of the Study

Are the educational aspirations of 15 year old youth too ambitious, unrealistic, or precarious and therefore not reflective of the social realities that inform educational participation? Or do educational aspirations have the potential to allow young people to overcome traditional class-based and other sources of inequality and achieve educational parity with their non-disadvantaged peers?

On the one hand, at age 15, educational aspirations may result from unrealistic self-appraisals of scholastic ability, inaccurate information about postsecondary education, and other factors that may be unrelated to motivation, such as the economic costs associated with PSE. Or, given the increase in the variety of post-secondary educational options available to young Canadians (Krahn and Hudson, 2006), aspirations may be reflective of these expanded options. On the other hand, research has also shown that elevated educational aspirations, which are often shaped by social class, lead to increased levels of educational attainment (Edgerton, Peter, & Roberts, 2009), and subsequently, higher status occupations and incomes (Anisef et al. 2000). Given the inherent contradiction between these two positions, one where aspirations are seen to lead to post-secondary participation, the other where aspirations are considered ephemeral and fleeting attitudes, there is value in directly examining the role educational aspirations play in a model of educational attainment.

As outlined in Chapter 1, this dissertation contributes to the growing body of educational research in a variety of ways. First, this research is a replication of existing research, some of which was conducted decades ago. Given the many educational, labour market, immigration, and technological trends which have significantly affected the Canadian cultural and social landscape, it is important to reassess the extent to which traditional dimensions of social inequality continue to manifest themselves in the educational attainment process. The replication of existing research is further advanced through my use of the Youth in Transition Survey, a contemporary, national, longitudinal and multi-level dataset that offers unique analysis opportunities. While this research has contributed to the literature by updating our knowledge of the sources of educational inequality in Canada, by focusing explicitly on educational aspirations, it also has the potential to enhance the Canadian policy agenda with a direct focus on the role of educational aspirations.

While debate continues about the mechanisms that reproduce educational inequality, this dissertation helps fill a theoretical gap in the educational inequality and status attainment literature. Prominent among theories explaining educational inequality is Pierre Bourdieu's theory of practice. Bourdieu relies on his concepts of habitus, field, and capital to explain why educational inequality results from an institutionalized system established to maintain a privileged status quo. For Bourdieu, transfer of capital occurs within the family and has lasting effects on the educational trajectories of youth as the education system reinforces the cultural tastes and dispositions of a privileged middle and upper-class.

Bourdieu's theory of practice has not been the prevailing approach to studying educational inequality among North American quantitative researchers. Instead, researchers have often relied primarily on status attainment theory which, while also viewing social origins as important, in conjunction with academic ability and peer groups, does not provide as theoretically nuanced an explanation of the reproduction of social and educational inequality. It does, however, offer a more testable causal model of the factors that help determine positions in a social hierarchy.

Educational aspirations, as was argued initially in Chapter 2 and then demonstrated throughout this dissertation, are an essential link that can bring together the strengths of Bourdieu's theory of practice and status attainment theory. Educational aspirations are a key variable in the status attainment literature; however, they can also be seen as a reasonable operationalization of Bourdieu's concept of habitus. Together, these theoretical approaches provide a more complete explanation of the reproduction of educational inequality.

This study used data from the Youth in Transition Survey (YITS) to assess the role that young people's educational aspirations play in linking background characteristics and post-secondary educational participation. The YITS is a Statistics Canada longitudinal dataset containing a total of 5 waves of data, collected in conjunction with the Programme for International Student

Assessment (PISA), a project of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), starting in 2000 and continuing every 2 years. This study used data from the first three waves, when YITS participants were 15, 17, and 19 years old. The unique structure of the YITS (i.e., information was gathered from youth, their parents, and their schools during the first data collection period), made it an ideal choice for a study of the individual, family, and school-level factors shaping both educational aspirations and post-secondary participation. The final sample for this analysis contained 16,842 of the original 34,275 participants.

This analysis of YITS data was conducted in three phases, described within each of the analytic chapters (Chapters 4 through 6). The first phase examined the patterns of educational aspirations and post-secondary participation among Canadian youth and began to describe the relationship between the two. The second phase examined these issues in further detail by placing both educational aspirations and educational participation into a temporal model using a path analysis modeling technique. The third phase added school level variables to the previous multivariate analyses, and then went on to check for interaction effects, to determine if school quality and school type have significant impacts on relationships between other variables in the educational attainment process.

Main Findings and Conclusions

Phase 1: Patterns of Educational Aspirations and Participation

The first goal of this study was to describe and analyze patterns of educational aspirations among young Canadians. Specifically, Chapter 4 addressed the following questions:

- 1. Are educational aspirations meaningful? That is to say, are they simply ephemeral and fleeting attitudes, or are they consistent across time within individuals and do they vary in consistent ways within and between groups of youth in a manner that can help us understand patterns of social inequality?
- 2. Does post-secondary educational participation systemically vary among youth, particularly with respect to university participation?
- 3. Do educational aspirations at age 15 translate into educational participation at age 19?

Results from the descriptive and exploratory analysis in this first analytic chapter indicated that, at the onset of their high school years, the YITS participants had very high educational aspirations with 72% aspiring to attain at least one university degree. Additionally, educational aspirations vary systemically across groups of youth. Generally speaking, youth from low-income families and males are less likely to aspire to higher levels of post-secondary education. Furthermore, those youth who do aim high at age 15 – females, visible-minority immigrants, urban youth, and those from more advantaged families – generally maintain their aspirations across time. Therefore, while there is some adjustment in educational aspirations between ages 15 and 19, these adjustments are interpretable, rather than random. While the majority of 15 year-old youth (72%) wanted to attend university, only 37.6% had participated in university by age 19. Much like educational aspirations, educational participation systematically differed between subgroups of youth. Low-income youth, males, and those from rural communities all reported lower rates of university attendance than their peers. Furthermore, visible-minority immigrant youth and those whose have university-educated parents were also significantly more likely to attend university themselves. Thus, educational participation by age 19 is systematically predictable.

At the bivariate level, approximately 50% of youth who indicated at age 15 that they wanted at least one university degree had, in fact, attended university by age 19. This is in sharp contrast to the 8.2% who did not aspire to educational participation beyond high school but who had attended university by age 19. So, at the bivariate level, aspirations do have a strong impact on educational outcomes. When educational aspirations were modelled using logistic regression, controlling for a variety of individual socio-demographic variables, their effect remained strong and statistically significant. Specifically, youth aspiring to attend university were almost four times more likely than those aspiring to a high school diploma or less to actually attend university by age 19, controlling on a range of other predictor variables. In addition, a number of these other predictor variables – gender, household income, visible-minority immigrant status, parental education – continued to have significant net effects on university attendance by age 19.

204
For Bourdieu, the intra-group differences in educational aspirations could be explained through differences in access to cultural capital, thereby creating differences in habitus. For some of these youth, differences in familial socialization, in goals and values favoured within the household, have resulted in different post-secondary aspirations. However, strict reading of Bourdieu's theory of practice would suggest that differences arise from an unequal distribution of capital within the familial home, yielding differences in habitus which predispose youth to view university as impossibility. Yet, high levels of university aspirations were observed among youth from less advantaged families, albeit at a lesser rate than what was observed among more advantaged families. In this way, Bourdieu's original notion of the field which was conceived of as isolated social sites where youth were socialized has been expanded to encompass a much wider array of socializing factors, such as attending schools that may expose a young person to forms of capital that may not be present in the home. The inter-play of an expansive field and familial capital may come together to explain why less advantaged youth are also aspiring to high levels of postsecondary education, yet not to the same degree as their more advantaged peers.

Similarly, youth from families with higher levels of parental education have higher levels of educational participation by age 19. Bourdieu would argue that it is at this stage that the evidence of participation gaps between advantaged and disadvantaged youth created by differences in familial capital becomes more obvious. Higher levels of familial capital are associated with particular advantages, such as access to educational resources and opportunities, and

knowledge about the particulars involved in making successful educational transitions. For these youth, educational aspirations may be more meaningful at a younger age. Therefore they can begin sooner to take the necessary steps to make their aspirations a reality.

Phase 2: Evaluating the Direct and Indirect Effects of Educational Aspirations on Educational Participation

The second goal of this study was to evaluate the direct and indirect effects of educational aspirations on educational participation. Specifically, Chapter 5 addressed the following questions:

- 1. Do family socio-economic, individual demographic, and geographic factors, along with parents' aspirations for their children, have direct or indirect (via aspirations at age 15) effects on educational participation at age 19?
- 2. Do the educational aspirations young people have at age 15 have a direct effect on educational participation at age 19, over and above the indirect effects they have via grade 12 marks which were shown in Chapter 4 to affect post-secondary educational participation?
- 3. Are young people who have acquired more post-secondary education by age 19 more likely to have maintained their educational aspirations by age 19?

Results from the path analysis showed that socio-economic, demographic, and geographic factors, along with parents' aspirations for their children, have significant direct and indirect (via aspirations at age 15) effects on educational participation at age 19. When the total effects (including indirect effects via educational aspirations and grade 12 marks) of these exogenous variables on educational participation were calculated, they were found to be considerably larger than their direct effects. These results indicate that a variety of background (or ascribed) characteristics come together to influence both educational

aspirations and grade 12 marks (variables defined in this research as achieved characteristics), and, through, them, post-secondary participation.

After calculating the direct and total effects of each variable in the model on educational participation by age 19, grade 12 marks were found to matter most. However, the sum of the total effects of the ascribed characteristics (i.e., parents' education, gender, visible-minority immigrant status) was slightly larger than the sum of the total effects of the achieved characteristics (grade 12 marks). Thus, while basic logistic regression analyses suggest that achieved characteristics matter the most for post-secondary participation, a longitudinal path analysis demonstrates that social background and ascribed characteristics actually matter more since they operate both directly and indirectly (via academic achievement in high school, for example).

Results from the second path analysis presented in Chapter 5 showed that when only the direct effects were considered, educational aspirations at age 15 was found to be the strongest predictor of educational aspirations at age 19. Yet, when the total effects were considered, parental educational aspirations were found to be the strongest predictor of educational aspirations at age 19, followed by the youth's own educational aspirations at age 15. The third strongest effect on educational aspirations at age 19 was grade 12 marks. Thus, there is some stability in educational aspirations over this critical period in the life course, but aspirations are also affected by experiences, both during early childhood and between ages 15 and 19. Much like the pattern of influence observed for postsecondary educational participation, the total effect of the ascribed factors on educational aspirations at age 19 is substantial.

Bourdieu's theory of practice, in conjunction with the analytic model of status attainment theory, helped account for the problems of causal ordering and why educational aspirations, while a powerful motivator for youth, did not directly translate into educational participation. Familial habitus remained as a strong predictor of post-secondary participation, as it was found to not only affect educational participation patterns but also educational aspirations and Grade 12 marks. This is consistent with Bourdieu's theory of practice which maintains that the family is the primary site of socialization where understandings of the social world are informed.

These findings demonstrate the continued usefulness of the status attainment model. The original status attainment model, as conceived by Sewell, Haller, and Portes (1969), placed students' educational aspirations at the center of the educational status attainment process. Despite the substantial social and economic changes which have occurred across North America during the past four decades, family background is still found to inform educational aspirations, which combine to shape educational performance in the form of grade 12 marks and eventual post-secondary educational participation.

Phase 3: Evaluating the Effect of School Quality and Type on Educational Aspirations and Educational Participation

The third major goal of this study was to analyze both the main and possibly the interaction effects of school type and quality on educational aspirations at age 15 and on educational participation by age 19. Chapter 6 addressed the following research questions:

- 1. What effect, if any, does high school quality have on the educational attainment process? In other words, controlling on the socioeconomic, attitudinal, and demographic variables already examined in Chapters 4 and 5, are schools with different characteristics and different levels of resources a site where the reproduction of social inequality across generations can be partially ameliorated?
- 2. Does school quality affect the relationships between socio-economic, attitudinal, and demographic variables and educational aspirations at age 15 as well as educational participation at age 19?

Preliminary results from this chapter showed that the main impacts on educational participation by age 19 of educational resources, student/teacher ratio, total instructional hours, and whether the youth attended a public or private high school were minimal, even after controlling on the many other individual, family, and other factors found to be important in previous chapters. In fact, the only substantial finding involved the differences between public and private schools, with students attending the latter being significantly more likely to be attending university at age 19.

When possible interactive effects of school resources and school type on the relationships between predictor variables and university participation at age 19 were examined, a more interesting story about school-level effects emerged. For example, some of the more significant interaction effects involved regional differences across Canada. Specifically, school resources matter relatively less, with respect to increasing students' post-secondary aspirations, in Ontario than in other provinces. Similarly, compared to their counterparts in Ontario, students

attending private schools across the various Canadian regions were less likely to be attending university by age 19. While this study could not explain this finding, it may mean that more of the private schools in Ontario are of the elite Upper Canada College variety, particularly if the expansion of private schools within Ontario in the 1990s, which was twice that of the rest of the country during this time period (Aurini & Davies, 2005, p. 461), involved more university-focused private schools. These findings may be better explained using qualitative research where insights could be gathered from school administrators, parents, and students.

Other significant interaction effects involved, visible-minority immigrant youth who demonstrated a stronger effect on university attendance for those attending well-resourced schools compared to those attending poorly-resourced schools.

As school quality and type were shown to have mixed effects on the educational attainment process, it can be argued that schools, even those which are highly resourced, are not necessarily a site where the reproduction of social inequality across generations can be ameliorated. In fact, this research showed that, with the exception of regional differences, youth from a variety of socioeconomic and demographic backgrounds did not show statistically significant differences between attending high resourced and low resourced schools. Therefore, when socially-advantaged youth are either attending well-resourced schools or private institutions, they do not appear to be able to further their educational advantage through higher levels of post-secondary participation.

These results are in contrast to Bourdieu's position that advantage is accumulated throughout a young person's educational life course.

Moreover, it was found that the impact of youths' educational aspirations on subsequent post-secondary educational participation was not differentially affected by either school resources or school type. Following Bourdieu's theoretical approach, this would suggest that the mechanisms which shape educational aspirations within the home, such as familial capital and the resulting habitus, are not really affected by school quality and type. In other words, when it comes to both aspiration formation and the effect of aspirations, schools do not significantly alter the highly influential role of the family. However, given that well-resourced schools were shown to amplify the effects of family SES on postsecondary participation, the role of educational aspirations within the larger constellation of ascribed and achieved predictor variables is still important. However, these affects do not vary between school quality and type.

While familial habitus remains an important component in shaping educational outcomes, its role is not as dominant within private schools. If a young person from a disadvantaged background can gain access to a private school, she or he is somewhat more likely to overcome those familial and community disadvantages than if they are attending a public school. However, as other research has documented, disadvantaged youth are less likely to be enrolled in private schools where they might benefit from a more pervasive "plan to attend university" culture.

Summary of Major Findings

In summary, the major findings of this study are:

- Educational aspirations at age 15, while generally high, systematically vary within and between groups of youth. Visible-minority immigrant youth, females, and those who have two university-educated parents were the most likely to have the highest aspirations.
- Post-secondary educational participation systematically varies between groups of youth, particularly with respect to university attendance. Again, visible-minority immigrant youth, females, and those who have two university-educated parents were the most likely to have gone to university. In addition, youth from Atlantic Canada (compared to the rest of Canada) and urban youth were more likely to have attended university by age 19.
- At both the bivariate and multivariate level, educational aspirations have a strong impact on educational participation at age 19. Furthermore, educational aspirations at age 15 and age 19 are also correlated and there is a higher correlation within specific groups. Specifically, visible-minority youth and those with two university-educated parents were the most consistent in maintaining their university-focused educational aspirations.
- Socio-economic, individual demographic, and geographic factors, along with parents' aspirations exert both direct and indirect effects, via educational aspirations and grade 12 marks on educational participation.

The sum of these effects exceeds the independent effect exerted by both educational aspirations and grade 12 marks. Therefore, sociodemographic background, such as SES, urban-rural, and gender, continue to matter, despite higher levels of high school achievement than in the past.

- Recognizing that social background matters, educational aspirations nevertheless do have a direct effect on grade 12 marks. In turn, grade 12 marks have the strongest direct effect on educational participation.
- Educational participation at age 19 does have a direct effect on educational aspirations at the same age. However, the direct effects of both parents' educational aspirations and the youth's own educational aspirations, exceed the effect of educational participation. Moreover, the sum of the effects of socio-familial background variables significantly outweighs the effect of educational participation. In other words, by age 19, we still continue to see the effect of social background on young people's educational aspirations.
- Private high school attendance has a significant positive effect on educational participation by age 19, but various measures of school quality do not.
- A number of relationships between predictor variables and educational participation at age 19 are affected by school quality and type. For example, school type affected patterns of educational participation differentially for youth across regions, by household income, and by

parental aspirations. However, the role of educational aspirations is not affected by school quality and type.

Implications for Educational Policy

This study revealed that high educational aspirations do have a significant impact on post-secondary educational participation. These effects are both direct and indirect via grade 12 marks. In addition to the effect of grade 12 marks on educational aspirations, parental aspirations were also found to have a strong impact on aspiration formation and subsequent post-secondary educational participation at age 19.

However, in addition to the aforementioned findings, this study revealed that socio-economic and demographic factors were, overall, the most influential factor shaping both educational aspirations and post-secondary educational participation. Such findings present a certain amount of difficulty for policy makers as mandating changes at the family-level is problematic. However, to overcome the barriers associated with family-level characteristics and dynamics, or familial habitus in the words of Bourdieu, social programs could be developed that help parents understand what is required of their children to make the most of their high school years by motivating them to attain postsecondary education and helping them to achieve high levels of academic excellence. It is important to note that while this research focused on university attendance as the final outcome, community colleges and technical schools offer a wide array of postsecondary educational opportunities which may be more appropriate for many students. Developing meaningful goals, that is, goals which are not necessarily reflective of the university status quo but rather are more reflective of individual skills, interests, and talents, must be part of the larger formula in helping youth make meaningful educational transitions. In particular, parents from low SES backgrounds may need assistance in helping their children set meaningful goals (whether these are university of college/technical), select appropriate courses, how to do well academically, how to access financial aid and how to apply to college or university. Understanding the processes involved in each of these decisions will help parents to be more involved in their child's educational career and will help keep them motivated to attain higher levels of educational achievement.

Generally speaking, the most important factor that should be stressed in educational programming would be to help students develop meaningful educational aspirations and help them to take the right steps towards achieving those aspirations. If policymakers, educators, and mentors could focus on helping students to access high school tutors and career counselors, and on how to provide students with meaningful information about post-secondary educational opportunities and possible sources of financial aid, Canadians might see further improvements in educational participation among traditionally disadvantaged groups.

Community-based research (CBR) has blossomed over the past 20 years in response to limited research resources, movements toward interdisciplinary/intersectoral collaborations, and social and economic demands that research be more responsive to their communities (Kellogg Commission, 1999). Using CBR, community, government, and academic sectors are increasingly pooling their expertise and resources to tackle a variety of complex societal problems such as poverty, educational inequality, and health. While this dissertation proposes individual-level interventions which may help low-income students achieve higher levels of educational success, these suggestions are not meant to act in isolation to other social policy developments. Much like research on public health focuses on the social determinants of health (SDOH); research on educational outcomes must act in concert with other policy arenas, such as housing, employment, and health. CBR provides a platform where academic, community, and government representatives, with a variety of specializations and expertise, can work together to help students, from a variety of social and economic backgrounds achieve high levels of educational success.

Limitations and Future Research Directions

One of the methodological limitations of this study was that it only focused on initial educational participation by age 19. Studying patterns of initial post-secondary educational participation are an important first step in understanding the connection between family and community background, educational aspirations and post-secondary educational participation. But following these students into their mid- to late-twenties when they have had increased time to complete a university undergraduate degree, switch programs, or make transition into post-secondary education for those who traversed nonlinear pathways, would allow a much more detailed analysis of how aspirations and educational outcomes are related. . While the Youth in Transition Study is unparalleled in its scope and focus, by using secondary data a researcher loses control over the questions asked and the response categories. For example, while the YITS provides detail regarding immigration status and visible minority background, a measure of Aboriginal status was not provided. As Aboriginals represent a growing population within Canada, a population which is quantifiably different than the majority population, this information could have been useful in an analysis of Canadian social and educational inequality.

Introducing a qualitative component to this study, such as interviews with high school students, recent high school graduates, or parents and teachers, would have helped to overcome these potential shortcomings. In-depth interviews with high school students could have provided insight into the factors students define as either hampering or encouraging their participation in post-secondary education and what role they see educational aspirations playing in this process. For example, personal narratives from recent graduates regarding how key factors were utilized to facilitate a successful transition into post-secondary education are only accessible through qualitative research. Moreover, interviews with parents and teachers may provide insight into the challenges they face in either creating or accessing educational opportunities for their family and students. Parental interviews could also provide insight into the school-choice debate regarding the nuances of how such decisions are made. While quantitative methodologies excel in providing generalizations into observed social patterns, the detail and insight which can be generated when conversations are initiated are often missed within

this type of research. Therefore, future research employing mixed methods may be useful in exploring the nuances of educational inequality and the relationship between educational aspirations and participation.

The results of this study indicate several directions for future research in the area of educational aspirations and attainment. First, a follow-up study using the next two waves of the Youth in Transition Survey (up to age 23) would help further our understanding of the connection between educational aspirations and post-secondary educational participation. As previously stated, by following-up on these young people as they approach their mid-twenties, more detail regarding the relationship between background factors, educational aspirations, and levels of post-secondary educational participation could be obtained.

Given that this study revealed minimal and mixed effects of school influences on the educational attainment process, Thrupp's (1999) concept of 'school mix' may be useful for future research. It is suggestive of what may be occurring within schools to produce differential outcomes between various groups of young people. Specifically, controlling for the mean level of SES of students within particular schools in this study may have revealed a school-based advantage that would explain differential educational participation patterns among the sample at the school level.

While it was not the focus of this research, examining the role of occupational aspirations, in addition to educational aspirations, may help expose the aspirations of 15-year olds as either meaningful or ephemeral and fleeting attitudes. Specifically, by juxtaposing educational aspirations with occupational aspirations with post-secondary educational participation, researchers could better understand whether 15-year old students understand the levels of education required to pursue specific careers. For example, if a young person indicates they want to be a truck driver but they also indicate they want to attain at least one university degree, there may be a disconnect between their understanding of the level of education required to be a truck driver. Research in this area would help clarify concerns regarding the meaningfulness of educational aspirations as a predictor of subsequent educational participation.

Bibliography

- Abbott, R.D., O'Donnell, J., Hawkins, J.D., Hill, K.G., Kosterman, R., & Catalona, R.F. (1998). Changing Teaching Practices to Promote Achievement and Bonding to School. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 68, 542-552.
- Alberta Education (2010). Inspiring Action on Education: A Discussion Paper. Government of Alberta. Retrieved from: http://engage.education.alberta.ca/inspiring-action/inspiring-action-oneducation-a-discussion-paper/
- Alboim, N., Finnie, R., & Meng, R. (2005). The Discounting of Immigrants' Skills in Canada: Evidence and Policy Recommendations. *Choices*, 11(1). ISSN 0711-0677.
- Andres, L. (2002a). Research Issues for Canadian Youth: Transition Experiences of Young Women. Retrieved from the Human Resources Development Canada website: http://www.rhdcc.gc.ca/eng/cs/sp/hrsd/prc/publications/ research/2002-000143/SP-555-11-02E.pdf.
- Andres, L., & Adamuti-Trache, M. (2008). Life Course Transitions, Social Class, and Gender: A Fifteen Year Perspective of the Lived Lives of Canadian Young Adults. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 11(2), 115-145.
- Andres, L., Adamuti-Trache, M., Yoon, E., Pidgeon, M., & Thomsen, J.P. (2007).
 Educational Expectations, Parental Social Class, Gender, and
 Postsecondary Attainment. *Youth & Society*, *39*(2): 135-163.
- Andres, L., & Krahn, H. (1999). Youth Pathways in Articulated Postsecondary Systems: Enrolment and Completion Patterns of Urban Young Women and Men. *The Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 29, 47-82.
- Andres, L., & Looker, E.D. (2001). Rurality and Capital: Educational Expectations and Attainments of Rural, Urban/Rural and Metropolitian Youth. *The Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, XXXI, 1-46.
- Anisef, P., Baichman, E., Axlerod, P., James, C., & Turrittin, T.(2000). Opportunity and Uncertainty, Life Course Experiences of the Class of 1973. Toronto: The University of Toronto Press.
- Anisef, P., & Kilbridge, K. (2004). Introduction. In P. Anisef & K. Kilbride (Eds.), *Managing two worlds: The experiences and concerns of*

immigrant youth in Ontario (pp. 1-36). Toronto, ON: Canadian Scholars' Press.

- Alexander, K. L., Entwisle, D. R., & Bedinger, S. D. (1994). When expectations work: Race and socioeconomic differences in school performance. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 57(4), 283-299.
- Aronowitz, S. (2004). Forward. In N. Dolby & G. Dimitriadis (Eds.), *Learning* to Labour in New Times (pp.ix-xiii). New York: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Aronowitz, S., & Giroux, H. (1985). *Education Under Seige: The Conservative, Liberal, and Radical Debate over Schooling.* South Hadley, Mass.: Bergin & Garvey.
- —. 1993. Education Still under Siege. (2nd ed). Toronto: OISE Press.
- Aschaffenburg, K., & Maase, I. (1997). Cultural and Educational Careers: The Dynamics of Social Reproduction. *American Sociological Review*, 62, 573-587.
- Astone, N.M., & McLanahan, S. (1991). Family Structure, Parental Practices and High School Completion. *American Sociological Review*, 56:309-320.
- Aurini, J., & Davies, S. (2005). Choice without Markets: Homeschooling in the Context of Private Education. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 26(4): 461-474.
- Ball, S.J. (2003). Class Strategies and the Education Market: The middle class and social advantage. London: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Banks, O. (1955). *Parity and prestige in English secondary education*. London: Batsford
- Barr-Telford, L., Cartwright, F., Prasil, S., & Shimmons, K. (2003). Access, Persistence and Financing: First Results from the Postsecondary Education Participation Survey (PEPS) (Report No. 81-595-MIE-No.7). Ottawa, Canada: Culture ,Tourism and the Center for Education Statistics Research Papers, Statistics Canada.
- Bedard, K. (2003). School Quality and the Distribution of Male Earnings in Canada. *Economics of Education Review*, 22, 395-407.

- Blau, P., & Duncan, O.D. (1967). *The American Occupational Structure*. New York: Wiley.
- Borjas, G. (1992). Ethnic Capital and Intergenerational Mobility. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *127*, 123-150.
- Bourdieu, P., & Passeron, J.C. (1977). *Reproduction in Education, Society, and Culture*. London: Sage.
- Bourdieu, P. (1977a). Cultural Reproduction and Social Reproduction. In J. Karabel & A.H. Halsey (Eds.), *Power and Ideology in Education* (p. 487-511). New York: Oxford University Press.
- —. 1977b. Outline of a Theory of Practice. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- —. 1984. *Distinction: A Social Critique of the Judgement of Taste*. London: Routledge.
- —. 1986. The Forms of Capital. In J.C. Richardson (Ed.), Handbook of Theory and Research in the Sociology of Education (p. 241-258). New York: Greenwood.
- —. 1987. What Makes a Social Class: On the Theoretical and Practical Existence of Groups. *Berkeley Journal of Sociology, XXXII*, 1-17.
- -. 1988. Homo Academicus. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- —. 1996. *The State Nobility*, (L. Clough, Trans.). Stanford: Standford University Press, 116-123.
- Bourdieu, P., & Wacquant, L. J.D. (1992). *An Invitation to Reflexive Sociology*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Bowlby, J. W., & McMullen, K. (2002). At a Crossroads: First Results for the 18 to 20-Year-old Cohort of the Youth in Transition Survey (Catalogue No. 81-591-XIE). Ottawa: Human Resources Development Canada, Statistics Canada.
- Bowles, S., & Gintis, H.(1976). *Schooling in Capitalist America*. New York: Basic Books.
- Boyd, M. (2002). Educational Attainments of Immigrant Offspring: Success or Segmented Assimilation. *The International Migration Review*, 36, 1037-1060.

- Breen, R., & Goldthrope, J. H. (1997). Explaining Educational Differentials: Towards a Formal Rational Action Theory, *Rationality and Society*, 9(3), 275-305.
- Brown, B., & Saks, D. (1975). The Production and Distribution of Cognitive Skills within Schools. *Journal of Political Economy*, *83*(3), 571-593.
- Butlin, G. (1999). Determinants of Postsecondary Participation. *Education Quarterly Review*, 5, 9-35.
- Card, D., & Kruegar, A.B. (1996). Labour Market Effects of School Quality: Theory and Evidence in G. Burtless (Ed.), *Does Money Matter? The Effect* of School Resources on Student Achievement and Adult Success (pp.27-31). Washington: Brookings Institute.
- Carmichael, L., & Finnie, R. (2008). Family Income, Access to Post-Secondary Education and Student Grants: Why Equal Access Requires More than Loans. In R. Finnie, R.E. Mueller, A. Sweetman, & A. Usher (Eds.), Who Goes? Who Stays? What Matters? Accessing and Persisting in Post-Secondary Education in Canada (p. 347-368). Montreal & Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Caspi, A., Wright, B., Moffitt, T., & Silva, P. (1998). Early Failure in the Labor Market: Childhood and Adolescent Predictors of Unemployment in the Transition to Adulthood. *American Sociological Review*, 63, 424-451.
- Cheung, S. (2007). Education Decisions of Canadian Youth: A Synthesis Report on Access to Postsecondary Education. The Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario. Retrieved from https://ospace.scholarsportal.info/bitstream/1873/9175/1/276409.pdf
- Chow, H. (2004). The Effects of Ethnic Capital and Family Background on School Performance: A Case Study of Chinese-Canadian Adolescents in Calgary. *The Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, 50, 321-326.
- Christofides, L. N., Hoy, M., & Yang, L. (2001). Family Income and Postsecondary Education in Canada. *The Canadian Journal of Higher Education, XXXI*, 177-208.
- Christofides, L.N., Hoy, M., Li,Z,J,, & Stengos, T. (2008). The Evolution of Aspirations for University Attendance. In R. Finnie, R.E. Mueller, A. Sweetman, & A. Usher (Eds.), Who Goes? Who Stays? What Matters? Accessing and Persisting in Post-Secondary Education in Canada (p. 109-134). Montreal & Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press.

- Clark, R., Anderson, N.B., Clark, V., & Williams, D.R. (1999). Racism as a Stressor for African Americans: A biopsychosocial model. *American Psychologist*, *54*, 805-816.
- Cohen, A. (1955). *Delinquent Boys: The Culture of the Gang.* New York: Free Press.
- Coleman, J.S., Campbell, E.Q., Hobson, C.J., McPartland, J., Mood, A.M., Weinfeld, F.D., & York, R.L. (1966). Equality of Educational Opportunity. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Washington, D.C.
- Davies, S. (1995). Leaps of Faith: Shifting Currents in Critical Sociology of Education. *The American Journal of Sociology, 100*(6), 1448-1478.
- Davies, S., & Guppy, N. (1998). Race and Canadian Education. In V. Satzewich (Ed.), *Racism and Social Inequality in Canada* (p. 131-155). Toronto, ON: Thompson Educational Publishing.
- —. 2006. *The Schooled Society: An Introduction to the Sociology of Education*. Ontario: Oxford University Press.
- Davies, S. & Quirke, L. (2006). Innovation in Educational Markets: An Organizational Analysis of Third Sector Private Schools in M.T. Hallinan (Ed.), School Sector and Student Outcomes (pp.39-72). Indiana: Notre Dame Press.
- Davies, S., Quirke, L. & Aurini, J. (2006). The New Institutionalism Goes to the Market: Comparing the Logics of Private Schooling, Tutoring and Homeschooling in H. Meyer and B. Rowan (Eds.), *The New Institutionalism in Education* (pp.103-121). Albany: SUNY Press.
- De Graff, P.M. (1986). The Impact of Financial and Cultural Resources on Educational Attainment in the Netherlands. *Sociology of Education*, 59, 237-246.
- De Graaf, N.D., De Graaf, P.M., & Kraaykaamp, G. (2000). Parental Cultural Capital and Educational attainment in the Netherlands: A Refinement of the Cultural Capital Perspective, *Sociology of Education*, *73*, 92-111.
- Dearden, L., Ferri, J., & Meghir, C. (2002). The Effect of School Quality on Educational Attainment and Wages. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 84(1), 1-20.

- Delamont, S.(2008). No Such Thing as a Consensus: Olive Banks and the Sociology of Education, *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 29(4), 391-402.
- Diallo, B., Trottier, C., & Doray, P. (2009). What Do We Know About the Pathways and Transitions of Canadian Students in Post-Secondary Education? Canadian Millennium Scholarship Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.cirst.uqam.ca/Portals/0/docs/projet_transitions/ TransitionsNote1-en-Final.pdf
- DiMaggio, P. (1982). Cultural Capital and School Success: The Impact of Status Culture Participation on the Grades of U.S. High School Students, *American Sociological Review*, 47(2), 189-201
- Dolby, N., Dimitriadis, G. (with P.Willis) (2004). *Learning to Labour in New Times*. New York: Routledge Falmer.
- Domina, T., Conley, A.M., & Farkas, G. (2011). The Link between Educational Expectations and Effort in the College-for-all Era. *Sociology of Education*, 84(2)" 93-112.
- Dumais, S.A. (2002). Cultural Capital, Gender, and School Success: The Role of Habitus. *Sociology of Education*, 75, 44-68.
- Dunk, T.W. (1991). It's a Working Man's Town. McGill-Queens University Press.
- Edgerton, J.D. (2010). *Habitus and 'Class' and Gender Disparities in Academic Achievement: A Structure-Disposition-Practice Model* (Doctoral thesis, University of Manitoba, Canada).
- Edgerton, J.D., Peter, T., & Roberts, L. (2008). Back to the Basics: Socio-Economic, Gender, and Regional Disparities in Canada's Educational System. *Canadian Journal of Education*, *31*(4): 861-888.
- Eide, E., & Showalter, M.H. (1998). The Effect of School Quality on Student Performance: A Quantile Regression Approach. *Economics Letters*, 58(3): 345-350.
- Elder, G. H. (1997). The Life Course and Human Development. In R.M. Lerner (Ed.), *Handbook of Child Psychology* (Vol. 1: Theoretical Models of Human Development), p. 939-991. New York: Wiley.
- Eitle, T.M., & Eitle, D. (2002). Race, Cultural Capital, and the Educational Effects of Participation in Sports. *Sociology of Education*, 72, 123-178.

- Empson-Warner, S., & Krahn, H. (1992). Unemployment and Occupational Aspirations: A Panel Study of High School Graduates. *Canadian Review* of Sociology and Anthropology, 29(1), 38-54.
- Entwisle, D.R., & Hayduk, L.A. (1988). Lasting Effects of Elementary School. Sociology of Education, 61, 147-159.
- Farkas, G. R. Grobe, D. S., & Shaun, Y. (1990). Cultural Resources and School Success: Gender, Ethnicity, and Poverty Groups Within an Urban District, American Sociological Review, 55, 127-142.
- Finnie, R., Mueller, R.E., Sweetman, A., & Usher, A. (Eds.). (2009). Who Goes? Who Stays? What Matters? Accessing and Persisting in Post-Secondary Education in Canada. Montreal & Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Finnie, R. & Mueller, R.E (2007a). *High School Student Characteristics and Access to Post-secondary Education: Evidence from the YITS*. Retrieved from http://people.uleth.ca/~richard.mueller/finne.mueller.oct.2007.pdf
- Finnie, R. & Mueller, R.E (2007b). The Effects of Family Income, Parental Education and Other Background Factors on Access to Post-Secondary Education in Canada: Evidence from YITS (MESA2008-2). Retrieved from http://www.mesa-project.org/pub/pdf/MESA Finnie Mueller.pdf
- Foley, K., Gallipoli, G, & Green, D.A. (2009) Ability, Parental Valuation of Education, and the High School Dropout Decision. Working Paper.
- Frenette, M. (2007a). Do Universities Benefit Local Youth? Evidence from University and College Participation, and Graduate Earnings Following the Creation of a New University (Catalogue No. 11F0019MIE2006283). Ottawa: Business and Labour Market Analysis, Statistics Canada.
- —. (2007b). Why Are Youth from Lower-income Families Less Likely to Attend University? Evidence from Academic Abilities, Parental Influences, and Familial Constraints (Catalogue No. 11F0019MWE). Ottawa: Business and Labour Market Analysis, Statistics Canada.
- —. (2008). Why are Lower-Income Students Less Likely to Attend University? Evidence from Academic Abilities, Parental Influences, and Financial Constraints. In R. Finnie, R.E. Mueller, A. Sweetman, & A. Usher (Eds.), Who Goes? Who Stays? What Matters? Accessing and Persisting in Post-Secondary Education in Canada (p. 279-298). Montreal & Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press.

- Frenette, M., & Zeman, K. (2007). Why Are Most University Students Women? Evidence Based on Academic Performance, Study Habits and Parental Influences (Catalogue No.11F0019MIE – Number 303). Ottawa: Analytical Studies Branch Research Paper Series, Statistics Canada.
- Frideres, J.S. (1998). *Aboriginal People's in Canada: Contemporary Conflicts*. Scarborough, ON: Prentice Hall Allyn and Bacon Canada.
- Garg, R., Melanson, S., & Levin, E. (2007). Educational Aspirations of Male and Female Adolescents from Single-Parent and Two Biological Parent Families: A Comparison of Influential Factors. *Journal of Youth Adolescence, 36*, 1010-1023.
- Giroux, H., & McLaren. P. (Eds). (1989). *Critical Pedagogy, the State, and Cultural Struggle*. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Glick, J.E., & White, M.J. (2004). Post-secondary School Participation of Immigrant and Native Youth: The Role of Familial Resources and Educational Expectations. *Social Science Research*, *33*, 272-299.
- Grayson, J. P. (1997). Academic Achievement of First-Generation Students in a Canadian University. *Research in Higher Education, 38*, 659-676.
- Grayson, J. P., & Grayson, K. (2003). *Research on Retention and Attrition*. Montreal, QC: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation.
- Haller, A.O., & Portes, A. (1973). Status Attainment Processes. *American* Sociological Association, 46(1), 51-91.
- Hampton, M., & Roy, J. (2002). Strategies for Facilitating Success of First Nations Students. *The Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, XXXII,1-28.
- Hango, D., & de Broucker, P. (2007). Education-to-Labour Market Pathways of Canadian Youth: Findings from the Youth in Transition Survey in *Pathways to Labour Market Series*, edited by CPRN. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.
- Hanushek, E.A. (1997). Assessing the Effects of School Resources on Student Performance: An Update. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 19(2): 141-164.
- Hanushek, E.A. (1986). The Economics of Schooling: Production and efficiency in public schools. *Journal of Economic Literature, XXIV*(September): 1141-1177.

- Hauser, R.M., Tsai, S.L., & Sewell, W.H. (1983). A Model of Stratification with Response Error in Social and Psychological Variables. *Sociology of Education*, 56(1), 20-46.
- Heinz, W.R. (2001). Work and the Life Course: A Cosmopolitan-Local Perspective. In V.W.Marshall, W.R.Heinz, H.Krüger, & A.Verma (Eds.), *Restructuring Work and the Life Course* (p.3-22). Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Hodkinson, P., & Sparkes, A.C. (1997). Careership: A Sociological Theory of Career Decision Making. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 18(1), 29-44.
- Hossler, D., Schmit, J., & Vesper, N. (1999). Going to College: How Social, Economic, and Educational Factors Influence the Decisions Students Make. Baltimore, MD: The John Hopkins University Press.
- Hyman, H. (1953). The value systems of different classes: A social Psychological Contribution to the analysis of stratification. In R. Bendix & S.M. Lipset (Eds.) *Class Status and Power* (p. 426-442). Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press.
- Jencks, C., Crouse, J., & Mueser, P. (1983). The Wisconsin Model of Status Attainment: A National Replication with Improved Measures of Ability and Aspiration. *Sociology of Education*, *56*(1), 3-19.
- Kamanzi, P.C., Doray, P., Murdoch, J., Moulin, S., Comoé, A., Leroy, C., & Dufresne, F. (2009). *The Influence of Social and Cultural Determinants on Post-Secondary Pathways and Transitions*. Centre interuniversitaire de recherche sur la science et la technologie (CIRST). Université du Québec à Montréal — Université de Montréal
- Kandel, D.B., & Lesser, G.S. (1968). Parental and Peer Influences on Educational Plans of Adolescents. *American Sociological Review*, 34(1), 214-223.
- Kao, G., & Tienda, M. (1998). Educational Aspirations of Minority Youth. American Journal of Education, 106 (May), 349-384.
- Kaplan, E.B. (1999). It's Going Good: Inner-city Black and Latino Adolescents' Perceptions about Achieving an Education, *Urban Education*, 34,181-213.
- Karabel, J., & Halsey, A.H. (Eds.)(1971). *Power and Ideology in Education*. New York: Oxford University Press.

- Kerckhoff, A.C. (1976). The Status Attainment Process: Socialization or Allocation. *Social Forces*, 55, 368-381.
- —. (1977). The Realism of Educational Ambitions in England and the United States. *American Sociological Review*, 42, 563-571.
- —. (1984). The Current State of Social Mobility Research. *Sociological Quarterly*, 25, 139-153.
- Knighton, T., & Mirza, S. (2002). Post-Secondary Participation: The Effects of Parents' Education and Household Income (Catalogue No. 81-003). Education Quarterly Review, 8(3).
- Krahn, H., & Hudson, J. (2006). Pathways of Alberta Youth through the Postsecondary System into the Labour Market, 1996-2003. Ottawa, Ontario, Canadian Policy Research Networks.
- Krahn, H., Lowe, G.S., & Hughes, K. (2011). Work, Industry and Canadian Society: Sixth Edition. Nelson Education Ltd., Toronto, Ontario.
- Krahn, H., Lowe, G.S., & Lehmann, W. (2002). Acquisition of Employability Skills by High School Students. *Canadian Public Policy*, XXVIII, 275-296.
- Krahn, H., & Taylor, A. (2005). Resilient Teenagers: Explaining the High Educational Aspirations of Visible-Minority Youth in Canada. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 6, 405-434.
- Lait, J., & Wallace, J.E. (2002). Stress at Work: A Study of Organizational-Professional Conflict and Unmet Expectations. *Industrial Relations*, 57(3), 463-490.
- Lakshmanan, A. (2004). A Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Educational Aspirations and Their Relationship to College Choice Using Hierarchical Linear Modeling and Group-Based Mixture Modeling (Doctoral thesis, The Department of Educational Leadership, Research and Counselling, Louisiana State University).
- Lamont, M., & Lareau, A. (1988). Cultural Capital: Allusions, Gaps and Glissandos in Recent Theoretical Developments. *Sociological Theory*, 6, 153-168.
- Lareau, A. (1987). Social Class Differences in Family School Relationships: The Importance of Cultural Capital. *Sociology of Education*, 60,73-85.

- Lareau, A., & Weininger, E.B. (2003). Cultural Capital in Educational Research: A Critical Assessment. *Theory and Society*, *32*(5/6), 567-606.
- Lefebvre, P., Merrigan, P., & Verstraete, M. (2008). The Effects of School Quality and Family Functioning on Youth Math Scores: A Canadian Longitudinal Analysis. Department of Economics, Université du Québec à Montréal and Inter-university Centre on Risk, Economic Policies and Employment.
- Lehmann, W. (2000). Is Germany's Dual System Still a Model for Canadian Youth Apprenticeship Initiatives? *Canadian Public Policy*, *26*, 225-240.
- —. (2003). Choosing to Labour: Reconceptualizing Structure and Agency in School-Work Transitions (Doctoral thesis, Department of Sociology, University of Alberta)
- —. (2004). 'For Some Reason, I Get a Little Scared': Structure, Agency, and Risk in School-Work Transitions. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 7, 379-396.
- —. (2005a). Choosing to Labour: Structure and Agency in School-Work Transitions. Canadian Journal of Sociology/Cahiers Canadiens de Sociologie, 30, 325-350.
- —. (2005b). 'I'm Still Scrubbing Floors': experiencing youth apprenticeships in Canada and Germany. *Work, Employment, and Society, 19*, 107-129.
- —. (2007). *Choosing to Labour? School-Work Transitions and Social Class.* Montreal & Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- —. (2009). University as Vocational Education: Working-class Students' Expectations for University. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, *30*(2): 137-149.
- Li, P.S. (2001b). The Market Worth of Immigrants' Educational Credentials. *Canadian Public Policy, XXVII*, 23-38.
- Little, J.K. (1958). A Statewide Inquiry into Decision of Youth About Education Beyond High school. Madison: University of Wisconsin, School of Education.
- Looker, D. (1993). Interconnected Transitions and their Costs: Gender and Urban-Rural Difference in the Transition to Work. In P. Anisef & P. Axelrod. *Transitions: Schooling in Employment in Canada*. Toronto: Thompson.

- —. 2001. *Human Capital of rural and urban youth in Canada: An overview for policy research.* Ottawa: Human Resources Development Canada.
- —. 2002. Why Don't They Go On? Factors Affecting the Decisions of Canadian Youth Not to Pursue Post-Secondary Education. Montreal: Canadian Millennium Scholarship Foundation. Retrieved from http://qspace.library.queensu.ca/bitstream/1974/5811/1/looker_en.pdf
- —. 2010. Bridging and Bonding Social Capital: Computer and Internet Use Among Youth in Relation to their Cultural Identities (with V. Thiessen). In E.D. Looker & T.D. Naylor (Eds.), *Digital Diversity: Youth, Equity,* and Information Technology (p. 59-86). Waterloo: Wilfred Laurier Press.
- Looker, D., & Dwyer, P. (1998). Education and Negotiated Reality: Complexities Facing Rural Youth in the 1990s. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *1*, 5-22.
- Looker, D., & Naylor, T. (2010). The Risk of Being Rural. Journal of Rural and Community Development, 4(2): 39-64.
- Looker, D., & Pineo, P.C. (1983). Social Psychological Variables and their Relevance to the Status Attainment of Teenagers. *The American Journal* of Sociology, 88, 1195-1219.
- Lowe, G.S., & Krahn, H. (2000). Work Aspirations and Attitudes in an Era of Labour Market Restructuring: A Comparison of Two Canadian Cohorts. *Work Employment and Society*, 14, 1-22.
- Lowe, G. S., Krahn, H., & Bowlby, J. (1997). 1996 Alberta High School Graduate Survey Report of Research Findings." Edmonton, Alberta: Population Research Laboratory, Department of Sociology, University of Alberta.
- MacLeod, J. (1995). Ain't No Makin' It: Aspirations and Attainment in a Low-Income Neighborhood. Boulder Colorado: Westview Press.
- Maxwell, J.D., & Maxwell, M.P. (1995). The Reproduction of Class in Canada's Elite Independent Schools. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, *16*(3): 309-326.
- McClelland, K. (1990). Cumulative Disadvantage among the highly ambitious. *Sociology of Education*, 63, 102-121.
- McDonough, P.M. (1997). *Choosing College: How Social Class and Schools Structure Opportunity*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

- Mickelson, R.A. (1990). The Attitude-Achievement Paradox Among Black Adolescents. *Sociology of Education*,6 (January), 44-61.
- Milan, A. & Tran, K. (Spring, 2004). Black in Canada: A long history (Catalogue No. 11-008). *Canadian Social Trends*.
- Miller, D. (2003). Pierre Bourdieu. In A. Elliott & L. Ray, *Key Contemporary* Social Theorists (p. 85-90). Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- Morrow, R. (1994). Bourdieu as a Theorist of Cultural Reproduction: Reconsidering the Relations Between the Fields of Education, Art, and the Mass Media. Paper session presented at the Annual Learned's Society Conference and the Canadian Sociology and Anthropology Association. Calgary, AB.
- Muller, C. (1993). Parent Involvement and Academic Achievement: An Analysis of Family Resources Available to the Child. In B. Schneider & J.S. Coleman, *Parents, Their Children, and Schools* (p. 77-114). Boulder, CO: Westview.
- Nash, R. (2003). Social Explanation and Socialization: On Bourdieu and the Structure, Disposition, Practice Scheme. *The Sociological Review*, 51(1), 43-62.
- Parcel, T.L., & Dufur, M.J. (2001). Capital at Home and at School: Effects on Student Achievement. *Social Forces*, 79, 881-912.
- Paulson, S.E., Marchant, G.J., & Rothlisberg, B.A. (1998). Early Adolescents' Perceptions of Patterns of Parenting, Teaching, and School Atmosphere: Implications for Achievement. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 18, 5-26.
- Picot, G., & Sweetman, A. (2005). The Deteriorating Economic Welfare of Immigrants and Possible Causes: Update 2005 (Catalogue No. 11F0019MIE2005262). Ottawa: Business and Labour Market Analysis Division, Statistics Canada.
- Powers, J.M., & Cookson Jr, P.W. (1999). The Politics of School Choice Research: Fact, Fiction, and Statistics. *Educational Policy*, 13(1): 104-122.
- Reitz, J.G. (2005). Tapping Immigrants' Skills: New Directions for Canadian Immigration Policy in the Knowledge Economy. *IRPP Choices*, 11, 18.
- Robinson, R.V., & Garnier, M.A. (1985). Class reproduction among men and women in France: reproduction theory on its home ground. *American Journal of Sociology*, 91, 250-280.

- Rosenbaum, J.E. (2001). Beyond College-for-all: Career Paths for the Forgotten Half. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Rosenbaum, J.E. (2011). The Complexities of College for All: Beyond Fairy Tale Dreams. *Sociology of Education*, 84(2): 113-117.
- Rouse, C. E. (1998). Schools and student achievement: More evidence from the Milwaukee Parental Choice Program. Working Paper No. 396, Industrial Relations Section, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ.
- Sewell, W.H. (1971). Inequality of Opportunity for Higher Education. *American Sociological Review, 36*(October), 793-809.
- Sewell, W.H., Haller, A.O. & Ohlendork, G.W. (1970). The Educational and Early Occupational Attainment Process: Replications and Revisions. *American Sociological Review*, 35(December), 1014-1027.
- Sewell, W.H., Haller, A.O., & Portes, A. (1969). The Educational and Early Occupational Attainment Process. *American Sociological Review*, 34(February), 82-92.
- Sewell, W.H., & Hauser, R. (1980). The Wisconsin Longitudinal Study of Social and Psychological Factors in Aspirations and Achievements. *Research in Sociology of Education and Socialization*, 1, 59-99.
- Shaienks, D. & Gluszynski, T. (2005). Participation in Postsecondary Education: Graduates, Continuers and Drop Outs, Results from YITS Cycle 4 (Cat. No. 81-595-MIE-No.059). Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-595-m/81-595-m2007059-eng.pdf
- Shaienks, D. & Gluszynski, T. (2009). Education and Labour Market Transitions in Young Adulthood (Cat. No. 81-595-M-No. 75). Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-595-m/81-595-m2009075-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. 2000. "Youth in Transition Survey: Project Overview". Applied Research Bran, Strategic Policy, Human Resources Development Canada, Ottawa, ON.
- Statistics Canada. (2001). Aboriginal Peoples in Canada (Catalogue No. 85F0033MIE). Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics Profile Series.
- Statistics Canada. 2005. "Youth in Transition Survey 2000 YITS Reading Cohort, Cycle 1, User Guide". Ottawa, ON.

- Statistics Canada. 2006. "Youth in Transition Survey (YITS) CohortA 19year-olds, Cycle 3, User Guide". Ottawa, ON.
- Statistics Canada (2008). University Enrolment. *The Daily, February* 7. Retrieved from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/dailyquotidien/080207/ dq080207a-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada (2007). Youth in Transition Survey: Participation in postsecondary education. *The Daily, November 20*. Retrieved from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/071120/dq071120b-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2007b). Labour Force Information (Catalogue No. 71-001-XIE). Ottawa: Labour Statistics Division, Labour Force Survey Program.
- Steffler, J. (2008). Hope or Heartbreak: Aboriginal Youth and Canada's Future. *Horizons Policy Initiative*, 10 (1), 13-20.
- Stinchcombe, A. (1964). *Rebellion in a High School*. Chicago: Quadrangle Books.
- Svalastoga, K. (1965). Social Mobility: The Western European Model. *Acta Sociologica*, 9 (Fas. 1-2), 175-182.
- Swartz, D. (1997). *Culture and Power : The Sociology of Pierre Bourdieu*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press
- Taylor, A. (2008). 'You Have to Have that in your Nature': Understanding the Trajectories of Youth Apprentices. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 11(4): 393-411.
- Taylor, A., & Krahn, H. (2009). Streaming In/For the New Economy. In C. Levine-Rasky, *Canadian Perspectives on the Sociology of Education*. Oxford University Press.
- Thiessen, V. (2009). The Pursuit of Postsecondary Education: A Comparison of First Nations, African, Asian, and European Canadian Youth. *Canadian Review of Sociology*, *46*(1): 5-37.
- Thiessen, V. & Looker, E.D. (1998). Investing in Youth: The Nova Scotia School to Work Transition Project (ISDN-0-662-27882-6). Human Resources Development Canada and Nova Scotia Department of Education and Culture, Halifax, N.S.

- Thiessen, V. & Looker, E.D. (2008). Cultural Centrality and Information and Communication Technology among Canadian Youth. *Canadian Journal of Sociology*, *33*(2): 311-336.
- Thrupp, M. (1999). *Schools Making a Difference: Let's be Realistic*. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Todd, P.E., & Wolpin, K.I. (2007). The Production of Cognitive Achievement in Children: Home, School, and Racial Test Score Gaps. *Journal of Human Capital*, 1(1), 91-136.
- Townsend, T., & Wernick, M. (2008). Hope or Heartbreak: Aboriginal Youth and Canada's Future, *Horizons Policy Initiative*, 10 (1), 4-6.
- Tran, K. (2004). Visible Minorities in the labour force: 20 years of change (Catalogue No. 11-008). *Canadian Social Trends, Summer* (3).
- Wanner, R.A. (1999). Expansion and Ascription: Trends in Educational Opportunity in Canada, 1920-1994. Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology, 36(3), 409-442.
- Webbink, D. (2005). Causal Effects in Education. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 19(4): 535-560.
- Wilkinson, L. (2002). Factors Influencing the Academic Success of Refugee Youth in Canada. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *5*, 173-193.
- Willis, P. (1977). Learning to Labor: How Working Class Kids Get Working Class Jobs. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Willis, P. (2004). *Shop Floor Culture, Masculinity, and the Wage Form*. Oxford University Press.
- Worswick, C. (2004). *Immigrants' Declining Earnings: Reasons and Remedies*. Toronto: C.D. Howe Institute.
- Zvoch, K. (1999). Family Type and Investment in Education: A Comparison of Genetic and Stepparent Families. *Evolution and Human Behavior*,20, 453-464.

Appendix A: Tests of Significance

Predictor Variables	Educational Aspirations @ age 15	Educational Attainment @, age 19
Household Income	-1.507	0.218
Gender	1.154	343
Visible-Minority Immigrant	0.111	-2.098
Atlantic	-2.110	0.389
Quebec	-3.309	0.838
Prairies	-1.429	0.260
Alberta	-3.752	0.161
British Columbia	-1.898	1.708
Rural	1.589	-0.517
Parental Educational Aspirations	1.473	-0.268
Educational Aspirations @ age 15		-1.253
Grade 12 Marks		0.341

 Table 1: T-ratios for models comparing schools with low and high levels

 of educational resources

Predictor Variables	Educational Aspirations @ age 15	Educational Attainment @ age 19
Household Income	1.121	2.404
Gender	0.428	-1.190
Visible-Minority Immigrant	0.745	3.513
Atlantic	217	1.214
Quebec	0.298	3.854
Prairies	0.407	2.184
Alberta	1.698	3.648
British Columbia	0.495	3.733
Rural	2.111	2.093
Parental Educational Aspirations	-2.397	-1.614
Educational Aspirations @ age 15		-1.086
Grade 12 Marks		5.806

 Table 2: T-ratios for models comparing public and private schools

	Educational Participation @ age 19	Educational Aspirations @ age 15	Gender	Visible- Minority Immigrant	Family Structure	First language of youth	University preparatory classes: Grade 12 English	University preparatory classes: Grade 12 Math	Grade 12 Marks	Parental Education	Parental Occupation	Household Income	Parental Educational Aspirations	Canadian Region	Rural
Educational Participation @ age 19	1	.364**	.131**	.113**	096**	.065**	.305**	.379**	.454**	.314**	144**	.168**	344**	.014	099**
Educational Aspirations @ age 15		1	.113**	.131**	053**	.072**	.297**	.377**	.323**	.241**	129**	.146**	464**	.005	108**
Gender			1	.021**	.030**	.014	.085**	.037**	.187**	006	.000	040**	098**	014	.022**
Visible-Minority Immigrant				1	036**	.502**	.106**	.078**	.039**	.118**	.025**	107**	164**	.136**	189**
Family Structure					1	078**	078**	101**	099**	088**	290**	363**	.046**	.000	033**
First language of youth						1	089**	.046**	.080**	.091**	.049**	124**	110**	044**	127**
University preparatory classes: Grade 12 English							1	.419**	.179**	.145**	081**	.117**	266**	.316**	046**
University preparatory classes: Grade 12 Math								1	.364**	.192**	095**	.105**	327**	.068**	041**
Grade 12 Marks									1	.225**	081**	.099**	304**	066**	025**
Parental Education										1	377**	.281**	267**	.029**	164**
Parental Occupation											1	109**	.141**	019 [*]	.108**
Household Income												1	161**	.046**	110**
Parental Educational Aspirations													1	.026**	.178**
Canadian Region														1	076**
Rural															1

Appendix B: Correlation Matrix for Table 4.14

Variable	Mean	Standard Deviation
Parental Education	1.480	.734
Gender	.490	.500
Visible-Minority Immigrant	.124	.329
Atlantic	.084	.278
Ouebec	.161	.367
Prairies	.080	.271
Alberta	.115	.319
British Columbia	.136	.343
Rural	.236	.425
Parental Educational Aspirations	2.726	.484
Educational Aspirations @ age 15	2.687	.565
Grade 12 Marks	2.230	.742
Educational Participation @ age 19	3.075	.949
Total N	10432	

Appendix C: Descriptive Statistics for Table 5.1

	Standard			
Variable	Mean	Deviation	Ν	
Instructional Resources	196	1.030	16568	
Student/Teacher Ratio	17.030	2.920	14714	
Total Instructional Hours	965.730	219.504	15479	
Public/Private School	.945	.229	16578	

Appendix D: Descriptive Statistics for Table 6.1
	Educational		Student/	Total		Educational		Visible-			Parental		
	Participation	Educational	Teacher	Instructional	Public/Private	Aspirations		Minority	Grade 12	Parental	Educational	Canadian	
	@ age 19	Resources	Ratio	Hours	School	@ age 15	Gender	Immigrant	Marks	Education	Aspirations	Region	Rural
Educational Participation @ age 19	1	003	.032**	006	058**	.364**	.131**	.113**	.454**	.314**	344**	.014	099**
Educational Resources		1	012	.039**	.142**	031**	002	041**	036**	051**	.030**	010	.097**
Student/Teacher Ratio			1	.062**	039**	.034**	.001	.011	011	.057**	039**	.154**	084**
Total Instructional Hours				1	.024**	023**	011	.043**	027**	023*	.006	.089**	.022**
Public/Private School					1	053**	.029**	007	084**	128**	.078**	.044**	.066**
Educational Aspirations @ age 15						1	.113**	.131**	.323**	.241**	464**	.005	108**
Gender							1	.021**	.187**	006	098**	014	.022**
Visible-Minority Immigrant								1	.039**	.118**	164**	.136**	189**
Grade 12 Marks									1	.225**	304**	066**	025**
Parental Education										1	267**	.029**	164**
Parental Educational Aspirations											1	.026**	.178**
Canadian Region												1	076**
Rural													1

Appendix E: Correlation Matrix for Table 6.2